
  
LEMOORE PLANNING COMMISSION 

Special Meeting 
AGENDA 

Lemoore Council Chamber 
429 ‘C’ Street 

 
April 24, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

 
 

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT – Public comment will be in accordance with the attached policy. This time is 
reserved for members of the audience to address the Planning Commission on items of interest that are not on 
the Agenda and are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission. It is recommended that speakers limit 
their comments to three (3) minutes each and it is requested that no comments be made during this period on 
items on the Agenda. The Commission is prohibited by law from taking any action on matters discussed that are 
not on the Agenda. Prior to addressing the Commission, any handouts for Commission will be provided to the 
Commission Secretary for distribution to the Commission and appropriate staff. The public will have an opportunity 
to comment on items on the agenda once the item has been called and the Chair opens the item to the public.  

4. PUBLIC HEARING – General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01, Zone Map Amendment 2023-
01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01: a request 
by Maverik (AWA Engineering) to change the General Plan land use designation and zoning 
from Mixed Use (MU) to Regional Commercial (RC) and Light Industrial (ML) and to approve 
a conditional use permit and major site plan for the construction of a fueling 
station/convenience store with RV disposal and drive through restaurant. The project site is 
located on the northeast corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue in the City of Lemoore (APNs 
023-310-012 and 023-310-011).  An Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) has 
been prepared in conformance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for the 
project identified herein. As mandated by State law, the minimum public review period for this 
document is 30 days. 

5. DISCUSSION – VMT /CEQA Process for the City of Lemoore 

6. DISCUSSION – Potential Ordinance Changes to Encourage Housing Development 

7. DIRECTOR’S REPORT  

8. COMMISSION REPORTS / REQUESTS  

9. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
Upcoming Meetings 
Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission, May 8, 2023 
 
 
Agendas for all City Council meetings are posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at the Council Chamber, 429 C 
Street and the Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive. Written communications from the public for the 
agenda must be received by the City Clerk’s Office no less than seven (7) days prior to the meeting date. The City of 
Lemoore complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA of 1990). The Council Chamber is accessible to the 



physically disabled. Should you need special assistance, please call (559) 924-6744, at least 4 business days prior to 
the meeting. 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATION OF POSTING 
 

I, Kristie Baley, Planning Commission Secretary for the City of Lemoore, do hereby declare that I 
posted the above Planning Commission Agenda for the Special Meeting of Monday, April 24, 
2023 at Council Chamber, 429 C Street and Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon 
Drive, Lemoore CA on April 21, 2023. 
 
  //s//  
 Kristie Baley, Commission Secretary  



CITY OF LEMOORE 
PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING  

April 24, 2023 @ 5:30 p.m. 
 

 
The meeting may also be viewed through the following options:  
 

 Join Zoom Meeting 
 Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
 https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83655394944?pwd=WTdIQzZPcXZGaVYwTUhxMFRBZk

5Bdz09 
 Meeting ID: 836 5539 4944 
 Passcode: 757942  
Phone: +1 669 900 6833 US 

 
The City will also provide links to streaming options on the City’s website. 

 
If you wish to make a general public comment or public comment on a particular item on the 
agenda, participants may do so via Zoom during the meeting or by submitting public 
comments by e-mail to: planning@lemoore.com.  In the subject line of the e-mail, please state 
your name and the item you are commenting on.  If you wish to submit a public comment on more 
than one agenda item, please send a separate e-email for each item you are commenting on.  Please 
be aware that written public comments, including your name, may become public information. 
Additional requirements for submitting public comments by e-mail are provided below.  
 
General Public Comments & Comments on Planning Commission Business Items 
  
For general public comments and comments regarding specific Planning Commission Business 
Items, public comments can be made via Zoom during the meeting or all public comments must 
be received by e-mail no later than 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments received by this 
time will be read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such 
comments may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion 
of your comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  
If a general public comment or comment on a business item is received after 5:00 p.m., efforts will 
be made to read your comment into the record.  However, staff cannot guarantee that written 
comments received after 5:00 p.m. will be read.  All written comments that are not read into the 
record will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comments are received prior 
to the end of the Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Public Hearings 
 
For public comment on a public hearing, all public comments must be received by the close of the 
public hearing period.  All comments received by the close of the public hearing period will be 
read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such comments 
may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion of your 
comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  If a 



comment on a public hearing item is received after the close of the public hearing, such comment 
will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comment is received prior to the end 
of the meeting.  
 
*PLEASE BE AWARE THAT ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED THAT DO NOT 
SPECIFY A PARTICULAR AGENDA ITEM WILL BE READ ALOUD DURING THE 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT PORTION OF THE AGENDA.* 
 
The City thanks you for your cooperation in advance. Our community’s health and safety is our 
highest priority. 
 



      
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 W. Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report
                 

To: Lemoore Planning Commission Item No. 4
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: April 12, 2023 Meeting Date: April 24, 2023 
Subject: General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01, Zoning Map Amendment No. 

2023-01, Conditional Use Permit 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 
2023-01: a request by Maverik (AWA Engineering) to change the General 
Plan land use designation and zoning from Mixed Use (MU) to Regional 
Commercial (RC) and Light Industrial (ML) and to approve a conditional use 
permit and major site plan for the construction of a fueling station/convenience 
store with RV disposal and drive through restaurant. The project site is located 
on the northeast corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue in the City of Lemoore 
(APNs 023-310-012 and 023-310-011).

Proposed Motion:

City staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt Resolution No. 2023-03 
recommending approval of General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01, Zoning Map Amendment 
No. 2023-01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01
in accordance with the findings and conditions in the resolution. 

Project Description:

The project site is a 20.5-acre property located on the northeast corner of 19th Avenue and 
Iona Avenue The project requests a Zone Change/General Plan Amendment from Mixed 
Use to Regional Commercial for an approximately 4.13-acre portion of the site and approval 
of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for the construction and development of a gas 
station/mini-mart. The first phase of the project would include an 8,952-square-foot building 
with fuel canopies for gas and diesel pumps, as well as service for RV disposal. Phase two 
would add a fast-food restaurant with a drive-through lane and an additional set of pumps on 
the western island. 

The 4.13-acre parcel for the development of the Maverik fueling station will be acquired from 
Kevin King, the current property owner. The remaining 16.37-acre eastern portion of the site 
will continue to be held by the property owner and is proposed to change from Mixed Use to 



Light Industrial, allowing for the future development of an industrial park that would 
accommodate future light industrial uses. The industrial parcel could be divided into as many 
as 23 separate lots with the approval of a commercial parcel map. The parcel map is not 
being proposed at this time. The size of the buildings on the sites are also undetermined, but 
based on size of the site, it can be assumed up to 100,000 square feet of building space 
could be developed. Additional improvements include a retention basin on the north end of 
the property for on-site stormwater collection and retention. 

Applicant Maverik (AWA Engineering) 
Location Northeast corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue 
Existing Land Use Vacant 
APN(s) 023-310-012 and 023-310-011 
Total Building Size 8,952 sq.ft. plus gas pump canopies 
Lot Size 20.5 acres 
Zoning Existing: Mixed-Use    Proposed: Regional Commercial/Light Industrial 
General Plan Existing: MU  Proposed: RC / ML 

Adjacent Land Use, Zone, and General Plan Designation  
 

Direction Current Use Zone General Plan 

North SR 198  
access ramp  none none 

South Lemoore Auto Wrecking 
and Aguilar’s Automotive  ML Light Industrial 

West Gas station, motel  RC Regional Commercial 

East Single-family residences  RLD and RMD Low and Medium 
Density Residential   

 
Previous Relevant Actions: 
 
No previous actions by the City have occurred on this site. The site is a remainder parcel 
from the development of the 19th Avenue and State Route 198 interchange. 
 
A lot line adjustment has been submitted to create the parcel line between the proposal 
Regional Commercial and Light Industrial zoning.  An administrative use permit has also 
been submitted to staff for approval of the drive-through lane. 
 



Zoning/General Plan: 
 
The site is currently planned and zoned Mixed-Use (MU). The proposal is to change the 
designation and zoning to Regional Commercial. This would be an appropriate change for 
the site, owing to the proximity and ease of access to major arterials 19th Avenue and State 
Route 198. Per the Lemoore Municipal Code, convenience stores and restaurants are 
allowed uses in the RC zone. The fuel pumps and on-site sale of alcohol at the convenience 
store are uses that the Planning Commission can approve through the Conditional Use 
Permit (CUP). City staff supports the general plan amendment and change of zone. The MU 
zone, while well intended when it was added to the Zoning Ordinance as a new zone in 2012 
has not resulted in any new development. Later this year, Staff will be proposing that all other 
MU zoned sites be rezoned to other zones. 

 
State law requires that the City not make changes to its General Plan or Zoning that would 
have the effect of reducing the amount of housing that can be constructed. The MU zone is 
assumed in the Housing Element to be able to provide an average of 9 units per acre.  
Changing land use designation and zoning from Mixed Use to Regional Commercial and 
Light Industrial would result in the loss of 173 potential housing units. However, this can be 
offset by the last General Plan Amendment for Lacey Ranch that added 751 housing units 
that were not previously in the General Plan a little less than one year ago.  So, there would 
still be a net increase in the number of potential housing units from the changes approved in 
the past year.  The tables below show this change, including the breakdown of the income 
type, whether low, moderate, or above moderate. 
 

Zone Zone Name 
Vacant 
Acres 

Housing 
Element 
Realistic 
Density 

HE 
Lower 

HE 
Mod 

HE 
Above 
Mod 

Total 
Housing 

 
 
Maverik and King       

MU Mixed Use -19.26 9.00 -86 -87 0 -173 
ML Light Industrial 15.13 0.00 0 0 0 0 
RC Regional Commercial 4.13 0.00 0 0 0 0 

 TOTALS 0.00  -86 -87 0 -173 
        
 Lacey Ranch       

 No land use designation -77.64 0.00 0 0 0 0 
RLD Low Density Residential -30.00 4.50 0 -67 -68 -135 
AG Agriculture -40.00 0.10 0 -4 0 -4 
PR Park 9.10 0.00 0 0 0 0 
MU Low Density Residential 126.40 4.50 84 390 73 547 
ML Medium Density Residential 4.88 12.00 29 30 0 59 
RC High Density Residential 7.26 20.00 162 0 0 145 

 TOTALS  0.00   275  349  5  612  
 COMBINED TOTALS   189 262 5 439 

 
 



Access and Right of Way: 
 
Access to the convenience store site would be through three separate entry points, all from 
Iona Avenue. The western entry drive is intended for cars and light duty vehicles with access 
to the gasoline pump island. The two entries to the east are intended and designed for larger 
semi-trucks and RV use. There would be no direct access to the site from 19th Avenue. 
Access to adjacent Light Industrial lots to the east would also be from Iona Avenue. No direct 
vehicular connection would exist between any of the industrial parcels and the convenience 
store parcel.  
 
Circulation Element: 
 
The project is designed to be developed in phases. The expected volume of traffic generated 
by Phase I is expected to be accommodated by existing road design. According to the traffic 
analysis prepared for the project, upon final ‘build-out’ and development of the Phase II 
additional gas pumps, drive-through restaurant, and the adjacent Light Industrial parcels, the 
volumes of traffic will require that a traffic signal be installed at the intersection of 19th Avenue 
and Iona Avenue.  
 
The developer will pay development impact fees in anticipation of the time when the City 
decides it is time to install a traffic signal at the intersection. The City will provide for the 
installation of the signal unless the developer chooses to install the signal ahead of the City, 
in which case the City will reimburse the developer for costs that are above the developer’s 
fair share costs. 

 
Parking / On-site Circulation: 
 
The site is developed in a way that attempts to create separation between the automobile 
gas fueling islands and the Truck / RV parking and circulation area. There are a total of 50 
parking spaces on the site, which is higher than the 35 spaces that are required by the Zoning 
Ordinance. Two of the existing spaces are ADA compliant and are located at the front entry 
of the convenience store. Bicycle parking will be required by the Green Building Code. 
 
Architectural and Site Design Standards: 
 
The proposed building elevations (attached) meet the Zoning Ordinance’s architectural and 
design standards for commercial buildings. These standards are found in Section 9-5C-4 and 
cover building design and placement. 

 
Alcohol Sales Compatibility: 
 
The applicant’s CUP request includes a request to sell alcohol. They will be requesting an 
ABC Type 21 license that would allow the sale of beer and wine for consumption off the 
premises. Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-2 states that establishments selling alcoholic 
beverages shall not be located within 500 feet of a park facility, school facility, or existing 
religious land uses. None of these uses are within 500 feet of the site. City staff believes that 
the on-site sale of alcoholic beverages at the convenience store is considered an acceptable 
use as long as all activities and operations are in accordance with Alcoholic Beverage Control 
(ABC) conditions and ABC requirements for use. Compliance with the requirements of ABC 



is recommended as a condition of the approval of this CUP. Staff has included conditions of 
approval to improve safety and security related to alcohol sales. 

 
Fueling Station Development Standards: 
 
Section 9-4D-6 contains design standards for fueling stations. The entry drive is to be no 
closer than 150 feet from the nearest street intersection. The site plan meets this standard. 
 
Administrative Use Permit: 
 
An application for Administrative Use Permit (ADU) was also submitted for Staff level review 
of the future drive through alignment and capacity. Section 9-4D-4 contains design standards 
for drive-through lanes. These standards specify certain design minimums, vehicle stacking 
lengths, distance from street intersections, location, and entrance and exit design. The 
proposed drive-through meets all the standards listed in Section 9-4D-4.The design of the 
drive-through meets City standards and will be approved by Staff if the GPA, ZMA, and CUP 
area approved. 
 
Landscaping: 
 
After the application was submitted, it was determined that most of the adjacent 19th Avenue 
right of way was relinquished back to the City by Caltrans. Therefore, the Major Site Plan 
Review comments require that the space between the 19th Avenue sidewalk and the property 
line be landscaped with the project. The applicant has agreed to this requirement.  
 
Future Industrial Park: 
 
The only approval requested at this time for the future industrial park is for the change of 
zone to Light Industrial. A parcel map and site plan review will be required in the future before 
development occurs. However, the CEQA document analyzed the future industrial uses and 
included a mitigation measure to mitigate potential land use conflicts between industrial uses 
and the adjacent residential neighborhood to the east. The mitigation measure states that 
“No materials related to an industrial operation shall be stored within the yard setback to a 
height of more than six feet within 25 feet of property lines adjacent to the residential zone 
district.”  This mitigation measure will be applied to any requested approvals for industrial 
development in the future. 
 
Environmental Assessment: 
 
As Lead Agency under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the City staff 
reviewed the project to determine whether it could have a significant effect on the 
environment because of its development. In accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 
15382, “[s]ignificant effect on the environment” means a substantial, or potentially 
substantial, adverse change in any of the physical conditions within the area affected by the 
project, including land, air, water, minerals, flora, fauna, ambient noise, and objects of historic 
or aesthetic significance. An Initial Study was prepared and found that although the proposed 
project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will not be a significant effect 
in this case because of revisions in the project in the form of mitigations have been made by 
or agreed to by the project proponent. A Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for the entire 



20.5-acre site and all its stated uses was prepared and is attached. The 30-day public review 
period began on April 7 and will end on May 8.  
 
Recommended Approval Findings: 
 
A Conditional Use Permit shall be granted only when the designated approving authority 
determines that the proposed use or activity complies with certain findings. City staff 
recommends that these findings be made based upon a review of the project as described 
in this Staff Report and with the recommended conditions of approval. 
 

1. The General Plan Amendment is in the public interest and that the general plan as 
amended will remain internally consistent.  

 
2. The Zoning Amendment is consistent with the general plan goals, policies, and 

implementation programs. 
  
3. The proposed uses are consistent with the general plan, any applicable specific plans, 

and all applicable provisions of this title. The proposed uses are either allowed or 
conditional uses in the Regional Commercial (RC) zone. 

 
4. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will not, under the 

circumstances of the particular case (location, size, design, and operating 
characteristics), be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general 
welfare of persons residing or working in the neighborhood of such use or to the general 
welfare of the City.  

 
5. The site of the proposed use is physically suitable for the type, density, and intensity 

of the use and related structures being proposed. The site is physically able to support 
the use. ABC may require the applicant to make physical changes to conform to their 
standards if needed. 

 
6. It will not be contrary to the specific intent clauses, development regulations, or 

performance standards established for the zoning district in which it is located. The 
proposed use and related structures are compatible with other land uses, 
transportation patterns, and service facilities in the vicinity. 

 
7.  The proposed project is consistent with the objectives of the general plan and complies 

with applicable zoning regulations, specific plan provisions, and improvement 
standards adopted by the City. 

 
8. The proposed architecture, site design, and landscape are suitable for the purposes of 

the building and the site and will enhance the character of the neighborhood and 
community. 

 
9. The architecture, character, and scale of the building and the site are compatible with 

the character of buildings on adjoining and nearby properties. 
 
10. The proposed project will not create conflicts with vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian 

transportation modes of circulation. 



 
11. 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue are both designated arterials and are capable of 

conveying existing traffic as well as some of the additional traffic generated by the 
proposed site uses. At some point when Phase II and the Light Industrial areas are 
built out it will become necessary to install a traffic signal at South 19th and Iona 
Avenues. Existing streets, shared parking, and a complete network of City sidewalks 
are generally effective in accommodating most of the vehicular and pedestrian traffic 
around the site. 

 
12. There are no residential uses, park facilities, school facilities, or existing religious land 

uses within 500 feet of the site that would immediately conflict with the sale of alcohol 
on the premises. The location of the use will not result in any adverse impacts on the 
listed facilities or nearby residential land uses. 

 
13. The traffic increases associated with the use will not result in potential hazards to 

existing pedestrian and/or vehicular traffic. The development conforms to all provisions 
of the Zoning Ordinance 

  
14. A CEQA Initial Study was prepared and found that although the proposed project could 

have a significant effect on the environment, there will not be a significant effect in this 
case because of revisions in the project in the form of mitigations have been made by 
or agreed to by the project proponent. A Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for the 
entire 20.5-acre site was prepared. 

 
Recommended Conditions of Approval: 
 
Staff recommends the following conditions be applied to the approval of the Conditional Use 
Permit: 

 
1. The site shall be developed consistent with the site plan, conceptual landscape plan, 

elevation exhibits, the City staff comments in Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01, and 
applicable City of Lemoore development standards, and as modified by the following 
conditions. 
 

2. The project applicant shall dedicate additional right of way or easement along Iona 
Avenue, in accordance with the Major Site Plan Review comments, and shall coordinate 
with the City regarding the location of any utilities or proposed traffic signals. 

 
3. The operation shall be conducted consistent with the Conditional Use Permit. Major 

deviations from the approvals shall first require approval of an amendment to the 
Conditional Use Permit. 

 
4. Drive-through lanes shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the site plan 

and with Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-4. 
 

5. The convenience store shall obtain and maintain a valid license from Alcoholic 
Beverage Control (ABC). A change to a license type that is deemed more intensive than 
a Type 21 license shall require an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit. 

 



6. The establishment shall comply with all federal and state laws regarding the sale of 
alcohol. 

 
7. Business hours and the sale of alcohol shall comply with State ABC regulations. 

 
8. All uses shall meet the requirements found in Section 9-5B-2 and 9-5B-4 of the City of 

Lemoore Zoning Ordinance related to noise, odor, vibration, lighting, and maintenance. 
 

9. The time limits and potential extensions and expiration of this Conditional Use Permit 
are established per Section 9-2A-9 of the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 

 
 

 
Attachments: 
 
Project Location Map 
Zoning Map Amendment – existing and proposed 
General Plan Amendment – existing and proposed 
Resolution 
Site Plan 
Conceptual Landscape Plan 
Building Elevations 
Major Site Plan Review Comments 
CEQA Mitigated Negative Declaration 
 
 
 
 

 
  



PROJECT LOCATION MAP
MSPR No. 2023-01



 
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

No.2023-01 
 

 

Existing: MU 
 
Proposed: RC and ML 



GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT 
No. 2023-01 

 

 

Existing: Mixed Use 
 
Proposed: Regional 
Commercial and Light 
Industrial 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 

RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT NO. 2023-01, ZONING MAP 
AMENDMENT NO. 2023-01, CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 2023-01 AND MAJOR SITE PLAN 

REVIEW NO. 2023-01 TO ALLOW A FUELING STATION/CONVENIENCE STORE WITH 
DRIVE-THROUGH RESTAURANT LOCATED ON THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 

19TH AVENUE AND IONA AVENUE IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
 

At a Special Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore duly called and held on 
April 24, 2023, at 5:30 p.m. on said day, it was moved by Commissioner ______________, 
seconded by Commissioner ____________ and carried that the following Resolution be adopted: 
 

WHEREAS, Maverik (AWA Engineering) has requested to change the General Plan land 
use designation and zoning from Mixed Use (MU) to Regional Commercial (RC) and Light 
Industrial (ML) and to approve a conditional use permit and major site plan for the construction of 
a fueling station/convenience store with RV disposal and drive through restaurant on a site located 
on the northeast corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue in the City of Lemoore (APNs 023-310-
012 and 023-310-011); and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed undeveloped site is 20.5 acres in size, and is currently 
designated and zoned Mixed Use (MU); and 
 

WHEREAS, the project proposes a General Plan Amendment and Zoning Map 
Amendment for the proposed site to change the existing land use designation from Mixed-Use 
(MU) to Regional Commercial and Light Industrial (ML); and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit includes approval to sell beer and wine 

for off-site consumption at the convenience store; and 
 
WHEREAS, as Lead Agency under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the 

City staff reviewed the project to determine whether it could have a significant effect on the 
environment because of its development. The Initial Study found that although the proposed 
project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will not be a significant effect in 
this case because revisions in the project in the form of mitigations have been made by or agreed 
to by the project proponent. A Mitigated Negative Declaration was prepared; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lemoore Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing at its 
April 24, 2023, meeting. 
 
 NOW BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore hereby 
makes the following findings regarding the proposed General Plan Amendment, Zoning Map 
Amendment, Conditional Use Permit and Major Site Plan Review:  
 
1. The General Plan Amendment is in the public interest and that the general plan as amended 

will remain internally consistent. 
 
2. The Zoning Amendment is consistent with the general plan goals, policies, and 

implementation programs. 
  
3. The proposed uses are consistent with the general plan, any applicable specific plans, and all 

applicable provisions of this title. The proposed uses are either allowed or conditional uses in 
the Regional Commercial (RC) zone. 

 



4. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will not, under the 
circumstances of the particular case (location, size, design, and operating characteristics), be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare of persons 
residing or working in the neighborhood of such use or to the general welfare of the City.  

 
5. The site of the proposed use is physically suitable for the type, density, and intensity of the 

use and related structures being proposed. The site is physically able to support the use. ABC 
may require the applicant to make physical changes to conform to their standards if needed. 

 
6. It will not be contrary to the specific intent clauses, development regulations, or performance 

standards established for the zoning district in which it is located. The proposed use and 
related structures are compatible with other land uses, transportation patterns, and service 
facilities in the vicinity. 

 
7. The proposed project is consistent with the objectives of the general plan and complies with 

applicable zoning regulations, specific plan provisions, and improvement standards adopted 
by the City. 

 
8. The proposed architecture, site design, and landscape are suitable for the purposes of the 

building and the site and will enhance the character of the neighborhood and community. 
 
9. The architecture, character, and scale of the building and the site are compatible with the 

character of buildings on adjoining and nearby properties. 
 
10. The proposed project will not create conflicts with vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian 

transportation modes of circulation. 
 
11. 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue are both designated arterials and are capable of conveying 

existing traffic as well as some of the additional traffic generated by the proposed site uses. 
At some point when Phase II and the Light Industrial areas are built out it will become 
necessary to install a traffic signal at South 19th and Iona Avenues. Existing streets, shared 
parking, and a complete network of City sidewalks are generally effective in accommodating 
most of the vehicular and pedestrian traffic around the site. 

 
12. There are no residential uses, park facilities, school facilities, or existing religious land uses 

within 500 feet of the site that would immediately conflict with the sale of alcohol on the 
premises. The location of the use will not result in any adverse impacts on the listed facilities 
or nearby residential land uses. 

 
13. The traffic increases associated with the use will not result in potential hazards to existing 

pedestrian and/or vehicular traffic. The development conforms to all provisions of the Zoning 
Ordinance 

  
14. An CEQA Initial Study was prepared and found that although the proposed project could have 

a significant effect on the environment, there will not be a significant effect in this case 
because of revisions in the project in the form of mitigations have been made by or agreed to 
by the project proponent. A Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for the entire 20.5-acre site 
was prepared. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore 

recommends approval to the Lemoore City Council of General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01, 
Zone Change No. 2023-01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 
2023-01, based on the evidence presented, with the Conditional Use Permit subject to the 
following conditions: 



 
1. The site shall be developed consistent with the site plan, conceptual landscape plan, elevation 

exhibits, the City staff comments in Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01, and applicable City 
of Lemoore development standards, and as modified by the following conditions. 

 
2. The project applicant shall dedicate additional right of way or easement along Iona Avenue, 

in accordance with the Major Site Plan Review comments, and shall coordinate with the City 
regarding the location of any utilities or proposed traffic signals. 

 
3. The operation shall be conducted consistent with the Conditional Use Permit. Major deviations 

from the approvals shall first require approval of an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit. 
 
4. Drive-through lanes shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the site plan and 

with Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-4. 
 
5. The convenience store shall obtain and maintain a valid license from Alcoholic Beverage 

Control (ABC). A change to a license type that is deemed more intensive than a Type 21 
license shall require an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit. 

 
6. The establishment shall comply with all federal and state laws regarding the sale of alcohol. 
 
7. Business hours and the sale of alcohol shall comply with State ABC regulations. 
 
8. All uses shall meet the requirements found in Section 9-5B-2 and 9-5B-4 of the City of 

Lemoore Zoning Ordinance related to noise, odor, vibration, lighting, and maintenance. 
 
9. The time limits and potential extensions and expiration of this Conditional Use Permit are 

established per Section 9-2A-9 of the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Passed and adopted at a Special Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore 
held on April 24, 2023, by the following votes: 
 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAINING: 
ABSENT: 

APPROVED: 
 
 

      
Greg Franklin, Chairperson 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Kristie Baley, Planning Commission Secretary 
 
 



M
av

er
ikk

 A
re

a

R
em

ai
nd

err
 P

ar
ce

ll A
re

a

R
oa

dd 
D

ed
ic

at
io

nn 
A

re
a



NO PARKING

NO PARKING



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's

R

W:\22-199 Maverik - Lemoore\dwgs\22-199 LS.dwg, 3/31/2023 8:17:31 AM, 1:1



Pr
ot

ot
yp

e 
V

er
sio

n:
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

Sq
ua

re
 F

oo
ta

ge
: 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Ty

pe
/O

cc
up

an
cy

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n:
 

M
A

V
ER

IK
 C

-S
TO

RE
60

_L
_R

R_
22

01

A
-3

PE
RS

PE
C

TIV
E 

V
IE

W
S

5,
98

2 
SF

V
-B

 /
 M



Pr
ot

ot
yp

e 
V

er
sio

n:
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

Sq
ua

re
 F

oo
ta

ge
: 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Ty

pe
/O

cc
up

an
cy

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n:
 

M
A

V
ER

IK
 C

-S
TO

RE
60

_L
_R

R_
22

01

A
-4

EX
TE

RI
O

R 
EL

EV
A

TIO
N

S

5,
98

2 
SF

V
-B

 /
 M



Pr
ot

ot
yp

e 
V

er
sio

n:
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

Sq
ua

re
 F

oo
ta

ge
: 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Ty

pe
/O

cc
up

an
cy

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n:
 

M
A

V
ER

IK
 C

-S
TO

RE
60

_L
_R

R_
22

01

A
-5

EX
TE

RI
O

R 
EL

EV
A

TIO
N

S

5,
98

2 
SF

V
-B

 /
 M



Pr
ot

ot
yp

e 
V

er
sio

n:
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

Sq
ua

re
 F

oo
ta

ge
: 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Ty

pe
/O

cc
up

an
cy

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n:
 

M
A

V
ER

IK
 C

-S
TO

RE
60

_L
_R

R_
22

01

A
-6

C
A

N
O

PY
 E

LE
V

A
TIO

N
S

5,
98

2 
SF

V
-B

 /
 M



Pr
ot

ot
yp

e 
V

er
sio

n:
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

Sq
ua

re
 F

oo
ta

ge
: 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Ty

pe
/O

cc
up

an
cy

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n:
 

M
A

V
ER

IK
 C

-S
TO

RE
60

_L
_R

R_
22

01

A
-7

EX
TE

RI
O

R 
M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
 B

O
A

RD

5,
98

2 
SF

V
-B

 /
 M



City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 W. Cinnamon Drive -6744 
Community Development Department

Site Plan Review

To: Grayson Smith c/o AWA Engineering
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: April 12, 2023 
Subject: Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01: 

- -

:

-
an : Planning Commission and City Council

Zoning/General Plan:

Environmental Review:

Attached Comments:



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 1 of 5 

PLANNING SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked. Comments in italics are specific to 
the project. 

Project Information 

 General Plan Land Use Element land use designation(s): Mixed-Use 

 General Plan Circulation Element adjacent street(s): 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue are Arterial streets 

 Zoning designation: Mixed-Use 

 Proposed land use: Truck stop/convenience store with GPA and rezone to Regional Commercial (RC). Future 
site for rezone to Light Industrial not reviewed at site plan level at this time. 

    Allowed use       Not allowed use    Requires a conditional use permit 

 

Site Plan Comments 

Standards are for the proposed Regional Commercial zone 

Site Area Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Site area per dwelling 
units (minimum)     

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (minimum)  None- 4.2 ac 182,882 sf 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (maximum)  None 4.2 ac 182,882 sf 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width (minimum)  0’ 473.3’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width (maximum) 0’ 473.3’  

 

Building Setback, Height, and 
Coverage Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Front Building Setback 
(minimum) 0’ 102.5’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Interior Side Building 
Setback (minimum) 

0’ 200.8’  



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 2 of 5 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Street Side Building 
Setback (minimum) 

10’ 71’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Rear Building Setback 
(minimum) 0’ Approx. 

120’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Separation Between 
Buildings (minimum)  10’ 18’  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Height (maximum) None 29’ – 0” To peak of entry gable. Avg. 20’ 
for rest of structure. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(minimum)  .10 .10 18,088 / 182882 = .099 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(maximum) .60 .10 18,088 / 182882 = .099 

 

Architectural and Site Design 
Standards (Chapter 9-5C) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Concepts   Meet Standards from 
Section 9-5C-2 

 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards for 
Residential Projects 

  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards for 
Commercial and 
Industrial Projects 

Meet Standards from Section 
9-5C-4  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards for 
Big Box Stores    

 

Parking and Loading Standards 
(Chapter 9-5E) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Number of off-street 
Parking Spaces  

35 total 
spaces (see 
notes for 
calc) 

50 spaces 

3.5 spaces per 1000sf of 
structure.  

Phase 1 (5982/1000 = 5.9*3.5 = 
21) 



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 3 of 5 

Phase 2 (2870/1000 = 2.8*5.0 = 
14) 

Total build out (21+14 =35) 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

 
 

Parking Design 
Standards 

Meet 
requirements 
of 9-5E-5 

 
See additional comments at 
bottom of page for parking 
design additions. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Loading Design 
Standards  

   

 

  Downtown Standards (Chapter 9-6) 

  Mixed Use Standards (Chapter 9-7) 

  Overlay Zones (Chapter 9-9) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

  
 

 

Entitlements Required 

 Major Site Plan Review is required for this project. 

 Conditional Use Permit is required for this project.   

 Zone Variance is required for this project.   

 Tentative Subdivision Map is required for this project.   

 Tentative Parcel Map is required for this project.   

 Lot Line Adjustment is required for this project. 

 Zone Change is required for this project.   

 General Plan Amendment is required for this project.   

 Other discretionary action required for this project:   

 

CEQA Document Required (This is a preliminary determination that will be finalized when the project 
application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Exempt from CEQA - Ministerial Exemption: Section 21080(b)(1); 15268. 

 Exempt from CEQA - Categorical Exemption Section 15332 (Infill Development Exemption). 

 Exempt from CEQA - Statutory Exemption Section _____________________________________. 

 Negative Declaration or Mitigated Negative Declaration. 



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 4 of 5 

 Environmental Impact Report. 

 

Environmental Technical Documents required to back up CEQA document (This is a preliminary 
determination that will be finalized when the project application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Air Impact Analysis. 

 Acoustical Analysis. 

 Biological Report.   

 Cultural Records Search. 

 Traffic Impact Assessment. 

 Vehicle Trip Generation Estimates. 

 Covenant.  

 Other:   

 

General Requirements from Zoning Ordinance that apply to the project when checked. 

 Meet all Noise, Odor, and Vibration Performance Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-2. 

 Make all required Property and Utility Improvements described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-3. 

 Meet all Outdoor Lighting Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-4. 

 Meet all applicable Fence and Wall Standards described in Zoning Ordinance 9-5B-5. 

 Meet all MWELO requirements for landscape and irrigation plans. 

 Street Trees shall be selected from the approved Street Tree list in Table 9-5D-5-A1. 

  Landscape and Irrigation Plans required at Building Permit submittal. Landscape Plans will be checked for 
compliance with MWELO, including but not limited to the following conditions: 

 Plan shall include square footages of landscaped area shown, water use calculations, and the material to be utilized. 
 Water use classifications shall be based on WUCOLS IV. 
 All required landscape areas shall be included in the Plan. 
 Landscaping shall meet all other applicable requirements of Title 9, Article D1 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Other Requirements 

 Additional comments:   

 All Landscape and Irrigation Plans shall be approved, stamped and signed by a California licensed 
Landscape Architect or State of California, qualified contractor. 

 
 Signature of licensed Landscape Architect or a State of California, qualified contractor shall be affixed 

to seal and within the Landscape / Certification Statement boxes located on Planting and Irrigation 
plans.  

 



 DATE:   March 31, 2023  2nd submittal 
 SITE PLAN NO.:  2023-01 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 DESCRIPTION: Maverik GPA, Zone Change, CUP and MSRP  
 APPLICANT: Grayson Smith c\o AWA Engineering  
 PROPERTY OWNER: N/A 
 LOCATION:   NEC 19th Ave. and Iona Avenue.  
 APN(S):  023-310-012 

 

Community Development / Planning, Page 5 of 5 

 Irrigation Plans must provide the appropriate system pressure calculations, identification of hydrozones, 
and MAWA calculations. 

 
 Address attached comments from Building Department regarding backflow installation and location per 

City Standards. 
 

  Address attached comments from Building Department regarding relocation of light pole in future drive 
through route. 

 
 Address attached comments from Building Department regarding trash dumpster area design 

recommendations. 
 

 All plant material selections and final Landscape and Irrigation plans to be approved when submitted 
for building permit.  

 
 The area sloping down from 19th Avenue to the west boundary of the proposed site is land, previously 

claimed by Cal-Trans, that has been ceded back to the City and is subject to inclusion in any Landscape 
and Irrigation plans for the site. Please revise Landscape and Irrigation plans to reflect and incorporate 
modified City owned R.O.W. (See notes on attached Landscape plan markup for clarification) 

 
Suggested Recommendations for plant substitutions: 
 

 Replace Ceanothus cuneatus with acceptable alternate for commercial application. (maintain 5’ minimum height) 
 Replace Baccharis x ‘Centennial’ with acceptable alternate for commercial application. 
 Replace Russelia equisetiformis with acceptable alternate for commercial application. 
 Replace Rosa x ‘Noare’ with acceptable alternate for commercial application. (Carefree bush form is more 

hardy). 
 Replace Xylosma congestum with acceptable alternate groundcover from existing plan selections. 

 
 
 

Steve Brandt     April 12, 2023 
                            
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Steve Brandt, AICP, City Planner              
Printed name 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

10
" C

UR
B 

AR
O

UN
D 

EN
TI

RE
 IN

SI
DE

 O
F 

PE
RI

M
ET

ER
 O

F 
BL

O
CK

 W
AL

L.
 T

O
O

 M
AN

Y 
DO

O
RS

, T
HR

EE
 D

O
O

RS
 T

O
TA

L.
. N

O
 

BO
LL

AR
DS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D.

EN
TE

R 
O

NL
Y 

SI
GN

EX
IT

 O
NL

Y 
SI

GN
. B

O
TH

 S
ID

ES

W
HA

TS
 G

O
IN

G 
O

N 
IN

 T
HI

S 
AR

EA
? 

IS
 T

HI
S 

AR
EA

 T
W

O
 W

AY
 T

RA
FF

FI
C?

LI
GH

T 
IN

 T
HE

  W
AY

 O
F 

FU
TU

RE
 D

RI
VE

 
TH

RU

NO
 P

AR
KI

NG
 S

IG
NS

 
AL

O
NG

 E
NT

IR
E 

PR
O

JE
CT

 F
RO

NT
AG

E

NO
 P

AR
KI

NG
 S

IG
NS

 



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's

R

W:\22-199 Maverik - Lemoore\dwgs\22-199 LS.dwg, 3/31/2023 8:17:31 AM, 1:1

DO
M

ES
TI

C 
AN

D 
LA

ND
SC

AP
IN

G 
W

AT
ER

 
SU

PP
LI

ES
 R

EQ
UI

RE
 M

ET
ER

S 
AN

D 
BA

CK
FL

O
W

 D
EV

IC
ES

 P
ER

 LE
M

O
O

RE
 

ST
AN

DA
RD

S.





12'-8 1/4"

BO
LL

AR
DS

 N
O

T 
RE

Q
UI

RE
D.

 IN
CL

UD
E 

10
" 

W
ID

E 
X 

10
' H

IG
H 

CU
RB

 P
ER

 M
-7

PL
AC

E 
PO

ST
 O

N 
BO

TH
 E

ND
S 

SO
 T

HA
TS

 
TH

EY
 A

RE
 F

LU
SH

 W
IT

H 
EN

D 
O

F 
BL

O
CK

 
W

AL
L.

 

RA
DI

US
 O

UT
SI

DE
 E

ND
S 

O
F 

CU
RB

S.



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01  
 DESCRIPTION:   New Construction 5,950 sq. ft. Convenience Store, 

Fuel Station / RV Waste Disposal, Alcohol Sales and 
Drive Through Services (LLA, CUP, AUP, ZMA, GPA)  

 LOCATION:   4.130-acres: NEC Iona and 19th Avenues (Vacant Lot) 
 APN(S):   023-310-001 
 APPLICANT: TKC Projects, LLC 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Kevin King 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 1 of 3 

ENGINEERING – Multi-Family/Commercial/Industrial (2nd Submittal) 
Recommended action: 

 Acceptable as submitted. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Revise per comments below. Resubmittal not required. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Resubmit with additional information. See comments below. 

 Redesign required. See comments below. 
===================================================================================== 

The following items are required to be shown on the Site Plan or provided with the Site Plan: 

 Show entire property boundary with dimensions.  

 Show all adjacent streets including existing and proposed improvements, such as curb, gutter, drive approaches, 
sidewalk, transit/bus stops, etc.:  Show sidewalk: 5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide parkway on  Iona Ave.;  Show 
locations of all drive approaches per City Standards;  __________________________  

 Show existing on-site structures and improvements on the site, such as buildings, wells, septic tanks, fences, 
driveways, etc., and note if they are to remain, removed, relocated or demolished.   

 Show existing structures and improvements adjacent to the site.   

 Show all proposed on-site improvements including buildings with entry and loading access location, parking lot 
layout, landscape areas, pedestrian access/pathways, trash/refuse enclosure, mailbox/postal unit, etc. per City 
Standards and Building Code requirements. Include vehicle/truck path of travel for drive thru aisles, loading areas 
and trash/refuse enclosure. ____________________________________________________________________ 

 Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the project per City 
Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: ___” in ______________________; 
Sewer: _____” in ____________________. 

 Show proposed on-site fire hydrants per Fire Department requirements.   

 Show temporary fire and emergency access.   Provide all-weather fire and emergency access road. 

 Show proposed disposal of storm runoff:  On-site basin required per City Standards,  Surface drain to street, 
 Connect to City storm drain system: ___________________________________________________________. 

 Caltrans comments required prior to approval of project. 

 Written comments required from ditch company.   

 Additional comments:  

1. As discussed, construct 5’ sidewalk adjacent to the curb from the curb return at the NEC of Iona/19th 
intersection to the first drive approach; the remainder will be as shown.    

 

The following are required with permit application: 

 Submit on-site grading and improvement plans and off-site improvement plans detailing all proposed work. On-site 
and off-site improvement plans to be prepared and signed by registered civil engineer. Project architect may 
prepare and sign on-site improvement plans. 

 City encroachment permit required which shall include an approved traffic control plan. 

 Caltrans encroachment permit required. (May be required if entering State RW) 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01  
 DESCRIPTION:   New Construction 5,950 sq. ft. Convenience Store, 

Fuel Station / RV Waste Disposal, Alcohol Sales and 
Drive Through Services (LLA, CUP, AUP, ZMA, GPA)  

 LOCATION:   4.130-acres: NEC Iona and 19th Avenues (Vacant Lot) 
 APN(S):   023-310-001 
 APPLICANT: TKC Projects, LLC 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Kevin King 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 2 of 3 

 Caltrans comments required prior to approval of project. 

 Written comments required from ditch company.   

 All public streets within project limits and across project frontage shall be improved to their full width, 
subject to available right-of-way, in accordance with City policies, standards and specifications. (Existing 
pavement along Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed truck loads (T.I.=11.0 or other T.I.  
level approved by the City Engineer) 

 Dedicate 17 ft. additional right-of-way along Iona Avenue to provide 42’ min from CL. Right-of-way 
dedication required by grant deed. A title report is required for verification of ownership. 

 Install street striping as required by the City Engineer. 

 Install sidewalk:  5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide min. parkway on Iona Ave. Install 5 ft. wide adjacent to curb from 
the curb return at Iona/19th to first drive approach. 

 Show locations of all drive approaches and construct to City Standards. Use City Std. C-8A. 

 Install streetlights along Iona Avenue to City Standards ST-10B and ST-11. 

 Install fire hydrants along Iona Avenue per City Standard. Use City Std. W-6.  

 Cluster mailbox supports required (1 for 2 residential units) or use postal unit.  
 Landscape and irrigation improvement plans to be submitted for the entire project.  Landscape plans will need to 

comply with the City of Lemoore’s street tree ordinance and the State MWELO requirements.   

 Potable water and fire protection master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for approval prior 
to approval of any phase of the development.  The water system will need to be extended to the boundaries of 
the development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The water system will need to be 
sized to serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system. 

 Sanitary Sewer master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for approval prior to approval of 
any phase of the development.  The sewer system will need to be extended to the boundaries of the 
development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The sewer system will need to be sized to 
serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system.  

 Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the project per City 
Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: 12” in Iona Ave.; Sewer: 8” in 19th St. 

 Grading and drainage plan required.  If the project is phased, then a master plan is required for the entire 
project area that shall include pipe network sizing and grades and street grades. 

 Prepared by a registered civil engineer or project architect.   
 All elevations shall be based on the City’s benchmark network.   

Storm run-off from the project shall be handled as follows: 
  Iona Ave. storm runoff shall be directed to the City’s existing storm drainage system; (Existing catch 

basin on Iona Ave.) 
  All On-Site storm runoff shall be directed to a permanent on-site basin per City Standards 

 Directed to a temporary on-site basin which is required until a connection with adequate capacity is 
available to the City’s storm drainage system.  On-site basin shall be constructed in accordance with City 
Standards. 

 Protect Oak trees during construction. 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01  
 DESCRIPTION:   New Construction 5,950 sq. ft. Convenience Store, 

Fuel Station / RV Waste Disposal, Alcohol Sales and 
Drive Through Services (LLA, CUP, AUP, ZMA, GPA)  

 LOCATION:   4.130-acres: NEC Iona and 19th Avenues (Vacant Lot) 
 APN(S):   023-310-001 
 APPLICANT: TKC Projects, LLC 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Kevin King 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 3 of 3 

 Show adjacent property grade elevations on improvement plans. A retaining wall will be required for grade 
differences greater than 0.5 feet at the property line. 

 Relocate existing utility poles and/or facilities. Along Iona Ave to facilitate street improvements 

 Underground all existing overhead utilities within the project limits. Existing overhead electrical lines 
over 50kV shall be exempt from undergrounding. 

 Provide R-value tests; minimum of 1 on Iona and 1 on-site. 

 Traffic indexes per City standards: On-site refuse truck travel=5.5; Iona Ave.=11.0 

 Subject to existing reimbursement agreement to reimburse prior developer. 

 Construct City Std. Refuse Enclosure – M-6 or M-7 (M-7 with grease interceptor if kitchen facility or 
restaurant is included.) 

 Abandon existing wells per Code; a building permit is required. (If applicable) 

 Remove existing irrigation lines and dispose off-site. (If applicable.) 

 Remove existing leach fields and septic tanks. (If applicable.) 

 Fugitive dust will be controlled in accordance with the applicable rules of San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution 
Control District’s Regulation VIII. Copies of any required permits will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 The project it may be subject to the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District’s Rule 9510 Indirect 
Source Review per the rule’s applicability criteria. A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided 
to the City of Lemoore. 

 If the project meets the one acre of disturbance criteria of the State’s Storm Water Program, then coverage 
under General Permit Order 2009-0009-DWQ is required and a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) is needed.  A copy of the approved permit will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 
Additional comments:    A Lot Line Adjustment (LLA) or Parcel Map (PM) is required to create the property line 

shown on the site plan and must be processed prior to issuance of a building permit.; Construct all street frontage 
improvements (curb, gutter, sidewalk, drive approaches, accessible ramps, and pavement) as well as any extensions 
of City mains (sewer, water or storm drain) and services (sewer laterals, water services) to City Standards.; 
Existing pavement on Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed truck traffic use T.I.=11.0 or other 
T.I. approved by the City Engineer). 

 

 
                   4-14-23    
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Jeff Cowart, PE   City Engineer        
Printed name
 



Community Development Department
Lemoore, California 

March 31, 2023
Project Name: Maverik - Lemoore California 
Project Address: NE corner of 19th Ave. and Iona Ave. 

This letter is submitted in response to Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01 for the Maverik in 
Lemoore California, given March 14, 2023. The comments have been individually addressed as follows:

City Planner Comments 

Comment: Site Plan requires changes that are described in the Department comments, mark-ups, and/or 
checklists. The Site Plan does not need to be reviewed again by City staff. Make described changes and 
resubmit for: Planning Commission review of Site Plan, General Plan Amendment, Zone Change, AUP, 
and CUP.
Response: See Site Plan and Landscape Plan for changes made according to the Department comments, 
mark-ups, and checklists.

Comment: Entitlements Required: 
Major Site Plan Review 
Conditional Use Permit 
Lot Line Adjustment 
Zone Change,
General Plan Amendment
Administrative Use Permit  

Response: All the above applications have been submitted except for the Lot Line Adjustment. The Lot 
Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way dedication is approved. 

Comment: CEQA document required (This is a preliminary determination that will be finalized when the 
project application is fully submitted and deemed complete.): 

Negative Declaration or Mitigated Negative Declaration. 
Response: Mitigated Negative Declaration is being done by Quad Knopf and is being coordinated 
through the City of Lemoore. 

City Engineer Review
JSC
4/14/23



Comment: Environmental Technical Documents required to back up CEQA document (This is a 
preliminary determination that will be finalized when the project application is fully submitted and 
deemed complete.): 

Air impact analysis, 
Biological report, 
Cultural records search, 
Traffic impact assessment. 

Response: Environmental Technical Documents are being prepared by Quad Knopf. 

Comment: General requirements from zoning ordinance that apply to the project: 
Meet all noise, odor, and vibration performance standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 
9-5B-2. 
Make all required property and utility improvements described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-
3. 
Meet all outdoor lighting standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-4.
Meet all applicable fence and wall standards described in Zoning Ordinance 9-5B-5.
Meet all MWELO requirements for landscape and irrigation plans.
Street trees shall be selected from the approved Street Tree list in Table 9-5D-5-A1.
Landscape and irrigation plans required at building permit submittal. Landscape plans will be 
checked for compliance with MWELO, including but not limited to the following conditions:

o Plan shall include square footages of landscaped area shown, water use calculations, 
and the material to be utilized.

o Water use classifications shall be based on WUCOLS IV.
o All required landscape areas shall be included in the Plan. 
o Landscaping shall meet all other applicable requirements of Title 9, Article D1 of the 

Zoning Ordinance.
Response: Noted, the submitted site plan conforms to the zoning ordinances above. 

Comment: A 15-foot landscape buffer is required along arterial and collector streets in addition to 
minimum building setback. This would apply to the West and South sides of the site adjacent to 19th

Avenue and Iona Avenue. These 2 standards are not cumulative and may overlap. The proposed 
landscaped area is less than 15 feet in some areas and much more than 15 feet in others. City staff can 
accept the proposed layout, as it more than meets a proposed average of 15 feet.
Response: Noted.

Comment: 9-5C-4-A1. If a separation is provided between the public street and building (e.g., for parking 
or a drive aisle), the area shall include significant pedestrian features to create a strong connection 
between the public sidewalk and primary building entry, such as:

A. Landscaped plaza;
B. Bicycle parking area;
C. Landscaped promenade;
D. Continuous trellis feature;
E. Other amenities.

To meet this requirement, provide enhanced landscaping and/or special paving in the red circled areas 
on the attached landscape plan. 
Response: The landscape plan now shows areas of enhanced landscaping in the areas noted above. 



Comment: Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of Southernmost set of parking 
spaces along Iona Avenue. Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of the 
Northernmost set of parking spaces. Landscape the tree planter with one tree and ground cover.  
Response: The Site Plan now shows the landscape islands referenced above. Refer to the Landscape 
Plan for tree and ground cover details. 

Comment: Adjacent to side or rear property lines: Parking areas for nonresidential uses shall provide a 
perimeter landscape strip at least eight feet (8’) wide (inside dimension) where the parking area adjoins 
a side or rear property line. Widen planter along Eastern edge of site to full 8’. 9-5D1-2. 
Response: The perimeter landscape strip on the East side of the property has been widened to 8.0’, see 
Site Plan and Landscape Plan. 

Comment: Trees in buffer areas shall be provided at the rate of one for each twenty-five (25) linear feet 
of landscaped area. In lieu of trees along the east property line where large trucks will be driving, the 
developer may provide 5 gal. plant material that will create a ‘hedge’. Plant material should be a species 
that will eventually grow to around 5’ in height. 9-5D1-2.
Response: The Landscape Plan now calls out a hedge along the eastern border of the site. 

Comment: SW corner marked #9 on the Landscape Plan shall be planted in accordance with code 
regulations. Suggested planting of three large shade trees from the City Planting List. Ground cover can 
be bark mulch, gravel mulch, ground cover plants or small shrubs.  
Response: Three large shade trees from the City Planting List along with ground cover has been added 
to the landscaping in the southwest corner of the site. 

Comment: We illustrated the above comments on the landscape plan but would like you to make the 
changes on the site plan and landscape plan so we can show them at the Planning Commission meeting. 
Please resubmit by March 31 at the very latest.  
Response: The aforementioned comments will be shown on the Landscape Plan and Site Plan.

City Engineer Comments 

Comment: Show all adjacent streets including existing and proposed improvements, such as curb, gutter, 
drive approaches, sidewalk, transit/bus stops etc.: 
Show sidewalk: 5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide parkway on Iona Ave.  
Response: Site Plan shows proposed sidewalk and parkway along Iona Ave. as well as existing 
improvements along 19th Ave and Iona Ave.

Comment: Submit on-site grading and improvement plans and off-site improvement plans detailing all 
proposed work. On-site and off-site improvement plans to be prepared and signed by registered Civil 
Engineer. Project architect may prepare and sign on-site improvement plans.  
Response: On-site grading and improvement plans as well as offsite improvement plans will be prepared 
and signed by Civil Engineer for civil permits.

Comment: City encroachment permit required which shall include an approved traffic control plan.
Response: Lemoore City encroachment permit with an approved traffic control plan will be obtained 
prior to any work in Lemoore City Right-of-way. 

Response: Site Plan shows proposed sidewalk and parkway along Iona Ave. as well as existing 
improvements along 199thh Ave and Iona Ave.

Response: On-site grading and improvement plans as well as offsite improvement plans will be prepared
and signed by Civil Engineer for civil permits.

Response: Lemoore City encroachment permit with an approved traffic control plan will be obtained 
prior to any work in Lemoore City Right-of-way. 



Comment: Caltrans encroachment permit required. (May be required if entering State RW)
Response: Per Caltrans Right-of-Way map, no encroachment permit is required for the proposed 
improvements.

Comment: All public streets within project limits and across project frontage shall be improved to their 
full width, subject to available right-of-way, in accordance with City policies, standards and 
specifications. (Existing pavement along Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed truck 
loads (T.I.=11.0 or other T.I. level approved by the City Engineer)
Response: Iona Ave. will be improved along the Maverik project frontage per Lemoore City 
requirements. Iona Ave. asphalt paving will be designed with T.I. = 11.0.

Comment: Dedicate 17 ft. additional right-of-way along Iona Avenue to provide 42’ min from CL. Right-
of-way dedication required by grant deed. A title report is required for verification of ownership.
Response: A Right-of-Way dedication by Irrevocable Grant Deed is being prepared by the surveyor and 
is anticipated to be submitted to the City of Lemoore next week. 

Comment: Install street striping as required by the City Engineer.
Response: Per coordination with the Lemoore City Engineer, Iona will be striped per CA MUTCD 
standards for two (2) – 12’ lanes and one (1) – 6’ bike lane. 

Comment: Install sidewalk:  5 ft. wide, with 5 ft. wide min. parkway on Iona Ave.
Response: A 5’ wide sidewalk and a 5’ wide parkway are now shown along Iona Ave. See the Site Plan 
for location and dimensions. 

Comment: Show locations of all drive approaches and construct to City Standards. Use City Std. C-8A.  
Response: Per coordination with the City, drive approaches are now shown per detail C-8A with a 
detached sidewalk. A small portion of the sidewalk to the west of the driveway that is closest to the 
intersection of Iona Ave. and 19th Ave. will be attached to the curb in order to avoid a utility conflict. 

Comment: Install streetlights along Iona Avenue to City Standards ST-10B and ST-11.
Response: A new streetlight is now shown on the Site Plan approximately 260’ from the existing 
streetlight located at the Northeast corner of Iona Ave. and 19th Ave. Refer to the Site Plan for Lemoore 
City detail references (keynote 50). 

Comment: Install fire hydrants along Iona Avenue per City Standard. Use City Std. W-6.
Response: Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. on the Site Plan, keynote 51 references 
Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Comment: Landscape and irrigation improvement plans to be submitted for the entire project.  
Landscape plans will need to comply with the City of Lemoore’s street tree ordinance and the State 
MWELO requirements.
Response: A landscape and irrigation plan shall be provided with civil plan submittal. The landscape plan 
shall comply with the City’s street tree ordinance and the MWELO requirements.

Response:p Per Caltrans Right-of-Way map, no encroachment permit is required for the proposedg y p p q p p
improvements.

Response: Iona Ave. will be improved along the Maverik project frontage per Lemoore City 
requirements. Iona Ave. asphalt paving will be designed with T.I. = 11.0..

Response: A Right-of-Way dedication by Irrevocable Grant Deed is being prepared by the surveyor and 
is anticipated to be submitted to the City of Lemoore next week. 

Response: Per coordination with the Lemoore City Engineer, Iona will be striped per CA MUTCD 
standards for two (2) – 12’ lanes and one (1) – 6’ bike lane. This is the ultimate layout. City will work with

Maverik to determine interim striping.

Response: A 5’ wide sidewalk and a 5’ wide parkway are now shown along Iona Ave. See the Site Plan 
for location and dimensions. Install 5' sidewalk adjacent to curb from NEC

Iona/19th to first drive approach.

Response: Per coordination with the City, drive approaches are now shown per detail C-8A with a
detached sidewalk. A small portion of the sidewalk to the west of the driveway that is closest to the
intersection of Iona Ave. and 199thh Ave. will be attached to the curb in order to avoid a utility conflict. 

Response: A new streetlight is now shown on the Site Plan approximately 260’ from the existing 
streetlight located at the Northeast corner of Iona Ave. and 199thh Ave. Refer to the Site Plan for Lemoore 
City detail references (keynote 50). 

Response: Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. on the Site Plan, keynote 51 references
Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Response: A landscape and irrigation plan shall be provided with civil plan submittal. The landscape plan 
shall comply with the City’s street tree ordinance and the MWELO requirements.



Comment: Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the 
project per City Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: 12” in Iona 
Ave.; Sewer: 8” in 19th St.
Response: A full set of civil drawings will be submitted for approval for onsite and offsite permits. 
Drawings will show connections to Lemoore City utilities referenced above. Coordination is ongoing with 
the city to determine the invert elevation of the 8” sewer lateral located near the intersection of Iona 
and 19th Ave.

Comment: Grading and drainage plan required.  If the project is phased, then a master plan is required 
for the entire project area that shall include pipe network sizing and grades and street grades.

Prepared by a registered civil engineer or project architect.
All elevations shall be based on the City’s benchmark network.  
Storm run-off from the project shall be handled as follows:
Iona Ave. storm runoff shall be directed to the City’s existing storm drainage system; (Existing 
catch 
basin on Iona Ave.)
All On-Site storm runoff shall be directed to a permanent on-site basin per City Standards

Response: A Grading and Drainage Plan prepared by a licensed Engineer will be submitted with onsite 
civil drawings. Onsite stormwater will be fully retained partially onsite and partially on the neighboring 
parcel. An easement will accompany the offsite retention basin allowing Maverik to store and convey 
stormwater. A conversion will be provided on the civil plans that bases the surveyed elevations on the 
City’s benchmark network. A discrepancy in the City’s benchmark list has been brought to the City’s 
attention. 

Comment: Show adjacent property grade elevations on improvement plans. A retaining wall will be 
required for grade differences greater than 0.5 feet at the property line.
Response: Existing grade elevations will be shown on Improvement Plans. A retaining wall is not 
anticipated. A grading plan will portray how onsite grading ties into the adjacent properties. 

Comment: Relocate existing utility poles and/or facilities. Along Iona Ave to facilitate street 
improvements
Response: All existing utility poles, facilities, signage, etc. will be replaced or relocated and depicted on 
civil plans. 

Comment: Provide R-value tests; minimum of 1 on Iona and 2 on-site.
Response: R-value test location and results have been sent to Lemoore City for to determine if more 
testing is required. 

Comment: Traffic indexes per City standards: On-site refuse truck travel=5.5; Iona Ave.=11.0
Response: Onsite pavement design for Heavy Duty uses T.I. = 9, Standard Duty uses T.I. = 5.5.

Response: A full set of civil drawings will be submitted for approval for onsite and offsite permits. 
Drawings will show connections to Lemoore City utilities referenced above. Coordination is ongoing with 
the city to determine the invert elevation of the 8” sewer lateral located near the intersection of Iona 
and 199thh Ave.

Response: A Grading and Drainage Plan prepared by a licensed Engineer will be submitted with onsite
civil drawings. Onsite stormwater will be fully retained partially onsite and partially on the neighboring 
parcel. An easement will accompany the offsite retention basin allowing Maverik to store and convey 
stormwater. A conversion will be provided on the civil plans that bases the surveyed elevations on the 
City’s benchmark network. A discrepancy in the City’s benchmark list has been brought to the City’s
attention. 

Response: Existing grade elevations will be shown on Improvement Plans. A retaining wall is not
anticipated. A grading plan will portray how onsite grading ties into the adjacent properties. 

Response: All existing utility poles, facilities, signage, etc. will be replaced or relocated and depicted on 
civil plans. 

Response: R-value test location and results have been sent to Lemoore City for to determine if more
testing is required. 

Response: Onsite pavement design for Heavy Duty uses T.I. = 9, Standard Duty uses T.I. = 5.5.



Comment: Construct City Std. Refuse Enclosure – M-6 or M-7 (M-7 with grease interceptor if kitchen 
facility or restaurant is included.)
Response: Per coordination with Lemoore City, the standard Maverik dumpster enclosure will be 
constructed with the Maverik. A sewer line for the QSR will be stubbed at the time the Maverik is 
constructed to a future dumpster enclosure (per detail M-7).  The Maverik convenience store does not 
cook with grease nor store any grease onsite. Therefore, a grease line to the dumpster enclosure is not 
necessary until the QSR is constructed. 

Comment: Abandon existing wells per Code; a building permit is required. (If applicable)
Response: No known wells within project limits. 

Comment: Remove existing irrigation lines and dispose of off-site. (If applicable.)
Response: No known Irrigation lines within project limits. 

Comment: Remove existing leach fields and septic tanks. (If applicable.)
Response: No known leach fields or septic tanks within project limits.

Comment: Fugitive dust will be controlled in accordance with the applicable rules of San Joaquin Valley 
Air Pollution Control District’s Regulation VIII. Copies of any required permits will be provided to the City 
of Lemoore.
Response: A copy of the fugitive dust control permit along with any others required by San Joaquin 
Valley Air Pollution Control District will be provided to Lemoore City prior to permit issuance.

Comment: The project it may be subject to the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District’s Rule 
9510 Indirect Source Review per the rule’s applicability criteria. A copy of the approved AIA application 
will be provided to the City of Lemoore.
Response: A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided to the City of Lemoore prior to 
permit issuance.

Comment: If the project meets the one acre of disturbance criteria of the State’s Storm Water Program, 
then coverage under General Permit Order 2009-0009-DWQ is required and a Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) is needed.  A copy of the approved permit will be provided to the City of 
Lemoore.
Response: A SWPPP will be prepared with the project and a copy of approved permit will be provided to 
Lemoore City prior to permit issuance. 

Comment: A Lot Line Adjustment (LLA) or Parcel Map (PM) is required to create the property line 
shown on the site plan and must be processed prior to issuance of a building permit.; Construct all street 
frontage improvements (curb, gutter, sidewalk, drive approaches, accessible ramps, and pavement) as 
well as any extensions of City mains (sewer, water or storm drain) and services (sewer laterals, water 
services) to City Standards.; Existing pavement on Iona Ave will need to be improved to handle proposed 
truck traffic use T.I.=11.0 or other T.I. approved by the City Engineer).
Response: A Lot Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way 
dedication along Iona Ave. is approved. The ROW dedication is anticipated to be submitted early next 
week. Street improvements will be constructed along the Maverik frontage for the full width of Iona. 
Pavement design will utilize T.I. = 11. Sewer, Water and Storm Drain will be extended to the eastern 
edge of the Maverik property line. 

Response:p Per coordination with Lemoore City, the standard Maverik dumpster enclosure will be y p
constructed with the Maverik. A sewer line for the QSR will be stubbed at the time the Maverik is
constructed to a future dumpster enclosure (per detail M-7).  The Maverik convenience store does not 
cook with grease nor store any grease onsite. Therefore, a grease line to the dumpster enclosure is not
necessary until the QSR is constructed. 

Response: No known wells within project limits. 

Response: No known Irrigation lines within project limits. 

Response: No known leach fields or septic tanks within project limits.

Response: A copy of the fugitive dust control permit along with any others required by San Joaquin 
Valley Air Pollution Control District will be provided to Lemoore City prior to permit issuance.

Response: A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided to the City of Lemoore prior to 
permit issuance.

Response: A SWPPP will be prepared with the project and a copy of approved permit will be provided to 
Lemoore City prior to permit issuance. 

Response: A Lot Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way 
dedication along Iona Ave. is approved. The ROW dedication is anticipated to be submitted early next 
week. Street improvements will be constructed along the Maverik frontage for the full width of Iona. 
Pavement design will utilize T.I. = 11. Sewer, Water and Storm Drain will be extended to the eastern 
edge of the Maverik property line. 



Fire Department Comments 

Comment: There are 2 fire hydrants required for this project. One hydrant shall be installed every 300ft. 
(see marked plans for fire hydrant locations).
Response: Two Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. refer to the Site Plan and keynote 51 that 
references Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Comment: An access road is required and shall be a minimum of 20 feet wide. The road shall be an all-
weather driving surface accessible prior to and during construction.
Response: A 20’ minimum all weather driving surface access road will be provided. 

California Department of Transportation Comments

Comment: According to the Kings County Association of Governments’ (KCAG) Regional Active 
Transportation Plan, Iona Avenue and 19th Avenue are proposed to as future bikeways (Page 128, Figure 
6.5.1) which will allow the project to be connected to the residential communities north of the project 
site.  These provide opportunities for the project proponents to implement multimodal strategies, such as 
active transportation facilities as well as transit-oriented development to help reduce project related 
trips.  It is recommended that the project proponents coordinate multimodal facilities with the City to 
connect to the future city-wide network.
Response: Iona Ave. roadway improvements along the Maverik frontage now show a 6’ bike lane that 
will connect to the future Lemoore City-wide network. Additionally, a bike rack will be constructed 
onsite to promote multi-modal strategies and reduce project-related automobile trips. 

Comment: Caltrans recommends the City consider creating a VMT Mitigation Impact Fee to help reduce 
potential impacts on the State Highway System.
Response: AWA will Coordinate with the City on any impact fees.

Comment: Alternative transportation policies should be applied to the development.  An assessment of 
multimodal facilities should be conducted to develop an integrated multimodal transportation system to 
serve and help alleviate traffic congestion resulting from the project and related development in the area 
of the City.  The assessment should include the following:

a. Pedestrian walkways should not only be limited to the project’s internal connectivity but be 
connected to existing walkways and transit facilities outside the project area.

b. The project should consider coordinating connections to local and regional bicycle pathways to 
encourage the use of bicycles for commuter and recreational purposes.

c. If transit is not available within 1/4-mile of the project area, transit should be extended to 
provide services to high activity centers of the project.

Response: 
 a. On-site pedestrian walkways are connected to offsite sidewalk. 
 b. Bike Lane striping is now shown on the Site Plan.
 c. Maverik will coordinate with Lemoore City on transit availability and access. 

Response: Iona Ave. roadway improvements along the Maverik frontage now show a 6’ bike lane that 
will connect to the future Lemoore City-wide network. Additionally, a bike rack will be constructed 
onsite to promote multi-modal strategies and reduce project-related automobile trips. 

Response: AWA will Coordinate with the City on any impact fees.

Response: 
 a. On-site pedestrian walkways are connected to offsite sidewalk. 
 b. Bike Lane striping is now shown on the Site Plan.
 c. Maverik will coordinate with Lemoore City on transit availability and access. 



Comment: As part of the statewide effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, Caltrans recommends the 
project proponents consider the installation of public Level 2 Electric Vehicle (EV) and DC Fast charging 
EV charging stations.
Response: AWA will coordinate with the City on any EV requirements, and conform to California Green 
Code requirements. 

Santa Rosa Rancheria Tachi-Yokut Tribe Comments

Comment: SLF search and to have the results sent to us
Response: A letter to California Native American Heritage Commission has been sent by Quad Knopf. 
The letter asked California Native American Heritage Commission to search their Sacred Land file and 
send results to Quad Knopf. At the time of this letter, no response from the Tribe has been received.

Comment: Archaeological record search and to the have results sent to us
Response: This has been done as part of the CEQA process with no discoveries for this site. Quad Knopf 
will send results when the CEQA document is circulated publicly. 

Comment: A tribal monitor on site for all ground disturbance related to the project to be retained for a 
Cultural Presentation for all construction staff
Response: Coordination with the tribe is ongoing to provide a tribal monitor. 

Comment: A Burial Treatment Plan to be put in place
Response: Ongoing coordination with the tribe is underway. A burial treatment plan will be put in place 
prior to any grading taking place. 

Comment: A Curation Agreement to be put in place
Response: A curation agreement will be in place prior to any grading. 

Comment: archaeological survey be completed and to have the results sent to us.
Response: Per coordination with Quad Knopf, an archeological survey has been added to the CEQA 
scope of work and will be performed before the CEQA document is ready to be released publicly. 

Site Plan Comments (C1.0-C1.2)

Comment: A LLA is required to create the proposed property line shown; process LLA as part of this 
development
Response: The Lot Line Adjustment application will be submitted immediately after Right of Way 
dedication is approved. ROW documents are anticipated to be submitted early next week.

Comment: Provide reciprocal storm drain easement if Maverik will be using this basin also (Proposed 
retention basin in remainder parcel). 
Response: An easement will accompany the offsite retention basin allowing Maverik to store and 
convey stormwater.

Response: AWA will coordinate with the City on any EV requirements, and conform to California Green 
Code requirements. 



Comment: On-site retention of storm water required per City standards
Response: The project retention basins will be constructed per City standards.

Comment: Construct trash enclosure per City Standard M-6 or M-7 (M-7 with grease interceptor if 
kitchen facilities are included in project)
Response: Per coordination with Lemoore City, the standard Maverik dumpster enclosure will be 
constructed with the Maverik. A sewer line for the QSR will be stubbed at the time the Maverik is 
constructed to a future dumpster enclosure (per detail M-7).  The Maverik convenience store does not 
cook with grease nor store any grease onsite. Therefore, a grease line to the dumpster enclosure is not 
necessary until the QSR is constructed.

Comment: Connect Water to 12”W line on Iona Ave.
Response: A full set of Civil drawings will be submitted for approval for onsite and offsite permits. 
Drawings will show connections to Lemoore City utilities referenced above.

Comment: Connect to 8”SS on 19th Ave.
Response: The onsite sewer system will connect to the 8” sewer lateral in 19th Ave. Coordination with 
the City is ongoing to determine the invert elevation of our connection point. 

Comment: Provide 5’ sidewalk with 5’ parkway pattern.
Response: A 5’ wide sidewalk and a 5’ wide parkway are now shown along Iona Ave. See the Site Plan 
for location and dimensions. 

Comment: Complete all frontage improvements per City Stds (curb, gutter, sidewalk, pavement). 
Response: Frontage improvements are shown on the Site Plan with detail references to the City 
standards for curb, gutter, and sidewalk. Pavement will be designed with a T.I. of 11.

Comment: Maintain street runoff in City SD system; not on-site basin
Response: Street runoff will be captured by the existing drop inlet on Iona Ave close to the intersection 
of 19th Ave. No offsite stormwater will be stored in the on-site basin.

Comment: Install streetlights along Iona Ave per City Stds ST-10B & ST-11 at 260’-300’ spacing
Response: A streetlight is now shown on the Site Plan approximately 260’ from the existing streetlight at 
the Northeast corner of Iona Ave. and 19th Ave. Refer to Site Plan for Lemoore City detail reference 
(keynote 50).

Comment: Install fire hydrants along Iona Ave frontage ROW per City Std W-6
Response: Fire Hydrants are now shown along Iona Ave. on the Site Plan. Keynote 51 references 
Lemoore City Standard W-6.

Comment: 42’ roadway dedication required
Response: A Right-of-Way dedication by Irrevocable Grant Deed is being prepared by the surveyor and 
is anticipated to be submitted to the City of Lemoore next week. 

Comment: Pavement on Iona Ave will need to be improved.
Response: Iona Ave. will be improved along project frontage per Lemoore City requirements. Iona Ave. 
asphalt paving will be designed with a T.I. = 11.0.



Comment: Correct scale at top of sheet
Response: Corrected.

Comment: Modify all three drive approaches per City Std no. C-8A.
Response: Per coordination with Lemoore City, drive approaches are now shown per detail C-8A with a 
detached sidewalk.

Landscape Plan Comments (L1.1)

Comment: Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of Southernmost set of parking 
spaces along Iona Avenue.
Response: One parking stall was eliminated and 1 tree planter added with understory shrubs.

Comment: Replace one parking space with 1 tree planter in the center of the Northernmost set of 
parking spaces.
Response: One parking stall was eliminated and 1 tree planter added with understory shrubs.

Comment: Enhance landscape planting and/or provide special paving in red circled areas (planters on S 
end of building and ends of South Planter.  
Response: Enhanced landscape plantings were added where indicated on city redline plan. Enhanced 
landscape plantings consist of a tree with thick understory shrubbery.

Comment: Add trees to South West corner or property.
Response: Three shade trees were added at the southwest corner of the site. Shade trees were selected 
from the City’s street tree list.

Comment: Add trees to North East Property line.
Response: Five trees were added at the northeast property line in the buffer at a spacing of 25’. The 
remainder of the buffer shall consist of a shrub hedge that will get a minimum of 5’ high at maturity.

Comment: 8’ minimum spacing between curb and fence on East side of property. 
Response: Shrub planter was widened to 8’ between the curb and property line on the east side in the 
buffer.

Comment: Hedge is okay instead of trees on East property line.
Response: A hedge was added where indicated on plan in the buffer. Plant material shall grow to a 
minimum height of 5’ at maturity and be 5 gallon in size at planting.



M
av

er
ikk

 A
re

a

R
em

ai
nd

err
 P

ar
ce

ll A
re

a

R
oa

dd 
D

ed
ic

at
io

nn 
A

re
a

C
ity

 E
ng

in
ee

r R
ev

ie
w

Se
e 

w
rit

te
n 

co
m

m
en

ts
 a

ls
o

JS
C

4/
14

/2
3

Lo
t L

in
e 

Ad
ju

st
m

en
t o

r P
ar

ce
l

M
ap

 re
qu

ire
d 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 th

is 
PL



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

22

C
ity

 E
ng

in
ee

r R
ev

ie
w

Se
e 

w
rit

te
n 

co
m

m
en

ts
 a

ls
o

JS
C

4/
14

/2
3



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's

R

W:\22-199 Maverik - Lemoore\dwgs\22-199 LS.dwg, 3/31/2023 8:17:31 AM, 1:1



INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION

MMAVERIK GAS STATION AND
INDUSTRIALL PARKK PROJECT

Prepared for:



  

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND INTENT TO ADOPT A MITIGATED NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION 

Project Name 

Project Location 

Project Description 



  

 



  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project  April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project  April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page ii 

 

 

 
 

 

List of Figures 

 
 
 
 
 

List of Tables 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

List of Appendices 



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 1 

MMITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

Project Name 

Project Location 

Project Description 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 2 

 
 
 

EEntitlements 

 

 
 
 

Mailing Address and Phone Number of Contact Person 

 

Findings 

Mitigation Measures Included in the Project to Avoid Potentially Significant 
Effects 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3 

 

 

 

 

 



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4 

 

 

 

 

 

k.  



  MMitigated Neggative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 5 

 
 
 



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 6 

 

 

 



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 7 

 
 



  MMitigated Negative Declaration  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 8 

 
 
 

 

 

 



  MMitigated Negative Declaratioon  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 9 

 



  IIntroduction  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 1-1 

SSECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION  

1.1 - Overview 

1.2 - CEQA Requirements 

1.3 - Impact Terminology 

 

 

 

 



  IIntroduction  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 1-2 

11.4 - Document Organization and Contents 

 

 

 

 

 
 

1.5 - Incorporated by Reference 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  PProject Description  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 2-1 

SSECTION 2 - PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

2.1 - Project Location 

2.2 - Surrounding Land Uses 

2.3 - Project Environment 

2.4 - Proposed Project 



  PProject Description  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 2-2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 PProjectt Description 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 2-3



 PProjectt Description 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 2-4



 
PP

ro
je

ctt
 D

es
cr

ip
tio

n 

M
av

er
ik

 G
as

 S
ta

tio
n 

an
d 

In
du

st
ria

l P
ar

k 
Pr

oj
ec

t
Ap

ril
 2

02
3

Ci
ty

 o
f L

em
oo

re
Pa

ge
 2

-5



 PProjectt Description 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 2-6



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-1 

SSECTION 3 - EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

3.1 - Environmental Checklist and Discussion 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-2 

 

 
 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-3 

3.2 - Environmental Factors Potentially Affected: 

3.3 - Determination 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-4 

 Nathan Olson                     April 7, 2023 

  
  



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-5 

33.4 - Evaluation of Environmental Impacts 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-6 

 

 

 

 
 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-7 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

3.4.1 - AESTHETICS 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-8 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-9 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

CONSTRUCTION 

OPERATION 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-10 

DDiscussion  

3.4.2 - AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY RESOURCES 



  EEvaluation oof Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-11 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-12 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-13 

DDiscussion 

3.4.3 - AIR QUALITY 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-14 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-15 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-16 

 

 

o 

o 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-17 

o 

o 

 
 
 
 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impactts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-18 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-19 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-20 

 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-21 

3.4.4 - BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 

 

Discussion 



  EEvaluationn of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-22 

GGeneral Site Conditions 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-23 

Impact Analysis 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-24 

SSpecial-Status Species 

SPECIAL-STATUS PLANT SPECIES 

SENSITIVE WILDLIFE SPECIES 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-25 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-26 

CONCLUSION 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-27 

 

 

 

 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-28 

 

 

 

 

 

k.  



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impaacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-29 

 
 
 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-30 

 

 

 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-31 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-32 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluatiion of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-33 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-34 

3.4.5 - CULTURAL RESOURCES 

Discussion 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-35 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-36 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-37 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-38 

DDiscussion 

3.4.6 - ENERGY 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-39 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Immpacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-40 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-41 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-42 

3.4.7 - GEOLOGY AND SOILS 

 

 

 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-43 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE



  EEvaluaation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-44 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-45 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-46 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

 
 
 
 
 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-47 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-48 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-49 

3.4.8 - GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 

Discussion 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-50 



  EEvaluation of Environmental  IImpacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-51 

 

 

 

 

 
 

MITIGATION MEASURES

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-52 

MITIGATION MEASURES

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-53 

3.4.9 - HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS 
MATERIALS 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-54 

DDiscussion 

Construction 



  EEvalluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-55 

OOperation 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-56 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-57 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S)

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-58 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-59 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-60 

3.4.10 - HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY 

 

 

 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-61 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmentaal Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-62 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-63 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-64 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-65 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-66 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



 EEvaluationn off Environmentall Impacts 

Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023
City of Lemoore Page 3-67



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-68 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

3.4.11 - LAND USE AND PLANNING 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-69 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-70 

DDiscussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

3.4.12 - MINERAL RESOURCES 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-71 

MITIGATION MEASURES 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-72 

DDiscussion 

3.4.13 - NOISE 



  EEvaluation of Environmenntal Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-73 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-74 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE 

 

 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-75 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-76 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-77 

MITIGATION MEASURES 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE  



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-78 

3.4.14 - POPULATION AND HOUSING 

Discussion  

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-79 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-80 

3.4.15 - PUBLIC SERVICES 

 

 

 

 

 

DDiscussion 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-81 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-82 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-83 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-84 

3.4.16 - RECREATION 

Discussion 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-85 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-86 

DDiscussion 

Transit 

3.4.17 - TRANSPORTATION AND TRAFFIC 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-87 

BBike 

Roadways 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-88 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-89 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-90 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-91 

3.4.18 - TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES 

 

 

Discussion 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-92 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-93 

3.4.19 - UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS    

Discussion: 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-94 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Enviroonmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-95 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-96 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-97 

3.4.20 - WILDFIRE 

Discussion: 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-98 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-99 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-100 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-101 

DDiscussion: 

3.4.21 - MANDATORY FINDINGS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-102 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  EEvaluation of Environmental Impacts  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 3-103 

MITIGATION MEASURE(S) 

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE 



  RReferences  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4-1 

SSECTION 4 - REFERENCES 



  RReferences  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4-2 



  RReferences  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 4-3 



  LList of Preparers  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 5-1 

SSECTION 5 - LIST OF PREPARERS 

5.1 - Lead Agency 

 
 

5.2 - Technical Assistance 

 
 

 



  MMitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program  

 
Maverik Gas Station and Industrial Park Project April 2023 
City of Lemoore Page 6-2 

SSECTION 6 - MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM 

 



  

 

APPENDIX A 

AIR QUALITY IMPACT ANALYSIS  



  

 

APPENDIX B 

CULTURAL RESOURCE RECORDS SEARCH 

 



  

 

APPENDIX C 

PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT 



  

 

APPENDIX D 

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 

 



  
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 W. Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744

Staff Report
         

To: Lemoore Planning Commission Item No. 5
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: April 14, 2023 Meeting Date: April 24, 2023
Subject: Discussion of Proposed Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) Thresholds and 

Implementation Guidelines for use in preparing future CEQA documents 
for the City of Lemoore.

Proposed Motion:

No action is required.  This is an information item to discuss this proposed CEQA 
implementation procedure.  The VMT Thresholds and Implementation Guidelines are 
scheduled to be taken to the City Council for them to adopt on May 16, 2023.

Description:

The State adopted a new law (SB 743) that changed the way that the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) quantified environmental impacts from vehicle traffic.  
Previously, traffic was evaluated by measuring the Level of Service (LOS) of major 
intersections near a proposed project to see if the new traffic from the proposed project would 
increase traffic congestion to an unacceptable level.  LOS was graded A through F, with A 
be totally unhindered traffic flow and F being complete traffic gridlock. The City has a 
threshold of D set in the General Plan.

However, with the new law, environmental impacts from traffic are now to be measured using 
a Vehicle Miles Traveled metric, or VMT. A project is considered to have an environmental 
effect if its estimated VMT is higher than the average VMT of all the other uses in the vicinity. 
This changes the nature of the impact analysis from looking at intersection congestion to 
looking at reducing individual vehicle trips and their associated air pollution and greenhouse 
gas emissions. Uses that produce lower VMT are going to have less of an impact.

Since most individual vehicle trips are local, the location of the proposed development in 
relation to the rest of the city will have an effect on VMT. For example, a new development 
in the middle of Lemoore is going to have a lower VMT than a development on the outskirts 
of the city.  The EIR for the Lacey Ranch development determined that VMT from that 



development was clearly a significant environmental effect. However, just where the 
threshold is between not significant and significant was not known. It can be different for each 
city. This VMT Thresholds study determines where the threshold can be reasonably set for 
Lemoore so that future CEQA documents can use that threshold when they evaluate 
projects. 

The document describes the methodology used to determine the threshold, and then set the 
procedures for conducting the evaluation. Some smaller projects will be able to be “screened 
out” of having to conduct a more detailed study.  This document can be used by City staff to 
determine which projects can be screened out and which ones will need a more detailed 
analysis. 

The study was prepared by LSA, within funding from the City’s LEAP grant that it received.  
Staff has been meeting with LSA on video conferences for about 4 months to assist in the 
preparation of the study.  

 
Environmental Assessment: 
 
Section 15064.7 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines encourages 
cities to adopt thresholds of significance that can be used to determine the level of 
significance of an environmental effect as part of its environmental review. They should be 
adopted by ordinance or resolution. The City Council will be asked to adopt the VMT 
Thresholds and Implementation Guidelines by resolution at a future City Council meeting.  

 
Attachments: 
 
VMT Thresholds and Implementation Guidelines 

 



 

 

April 2023 

V M T  T H R E S H O L D S  A N D  I M P L E M E N T A T I O N  
G U I D E L I N E S  

 



This page intentionally left blank 



 

 

April 2023 

 

V M T  T H R E S H O L D S  A N D  I M P L E M E N T A T I O N  
G U I D E L I N E S  

 

 

 

Prepared for: 

City of Lemoore 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive 

Lemoore, California 93245 

Prepared by: 

LSA Associates, Inc. 
1500 Iowa Avenue, Suite 200 

Riverside, California 92507 
(951) 781-9310 

Project No. LMR2201 



This page intentionally left blank 



 

i 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Senate Bill (SB) 743, which became effective July 1, 2020, changes the way transportation impacts are 
determined in California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) documents. SB 743 replaces the metric for 
determining transportation impacts using motor vehicle delay and Level of Service (LOS) to Vehicle 
Miles Traveled (VMT) in CEQA traffic impact studies. As a result of the SB 743 final rulemaking, the 
City of Lemoore (City) is adopting a set of VMT thresholds to support the shift from a delay-based 
analysis to VMT. This document provides a detailed discussion on implementing the CEQA VMT metric 
as applicable to the City of Lemoore. Substantial evidence and explanation on establishing the 
“Region,” VMT screening criteria, and VMT analysis thresholds are also described.  

The following is a brief summary of the City’s VMT guidelines as adopted by the City. Each topic is 
discussed in more detail in this report. 

 Definition of ‘Region’: Based on Kings County Association of Governments (KCAG) Travel Demand 
Model (TDM), 95% of trips that start or end in the City of Lemoore are contained within Kings 
County. Therefore, Kings County has been established as the region for VMT analysis purposes. 

 Standardized Screening Methods: The guidelines provide multiple screening criteria for both land 
use and transportation projects. Screening criteria for land use projects include: 

o Local-serving retail projects up to 50,000 square feet (sf). 

o Projects that are consistent with the City’s General Plan and generate fewer than 1,000 daily 
trips or projects that are not consistent with the City’s General Plan but generate fewer than 
500 daily trips. 

o Residential, Office, Industrial, or mixed-use projects within low-VMT generating areas, and 

o Projects with 100 percent affordable housing units. 

Detailed description about the screening criteria for development projects and transportation 
projects are described in detail in the guidelines. 

 Appropriate VMT Significance Thresholds for Development Projects, and Community/General 
Plans: For all projects (except retail), a significance threshold of 87 percent of the existing regional 
average of the respective VMT metric will be the threshold. Therefore, 

o For residential projects, 87% of Kings County baseline VMT per capita will be the threshold. 

o For non-residential projects (except retail), 87% of Kings County baseline VMT per employee 
will be the threshold. 

o For retail projects, a significance threshold of no net increase in VMT will be the metric.  

o For mixed use projects, the VMT thresholds are based on the respective thresholds for the 
various land use components.  

o Finally, for land use plans, the existing Kings County average baseline VMT per capita, VMT 
per employee, and VMT per service population will be the thresholds of significance.  



 

ii 

 VMT Mitigation Strategies: A list of VMT mitigation measures, in the context of the City of 
Lemoore, have been provided that are applicable to development projects and land use plans that 
would have a significant VMT impact. Additionally, implementation of a future VMT mitigation 
bank, VMT mitigation exchange, and/or VMT impact fee are discussed as potential future regional 
VMT mitigation mechanisms.  

The City recommends using the KCAG TDM for VMT analysis purposes for most projects. The KCAG 
TDM is the regional travel demand model applicable to jurisdictions within Kings County including the 
City for evaluating project VMT. The appropriate use of the KCAG TDM for VMT calculations is further 
elaborated in subsequent chapters of this document. However, certain unique land uses may not be 
able to use KCAG TDM for evaluating a project’s VMT impact. For those project’s relevant empirical 
data from other sources should be utilized to evaluate the project VMT. The methodology for 
evaluating project’s VMT for such projects needs to be confirmed with City staff. 



 

iii 

This page intentionally left blank 

  

 



 

iv 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS .................................................................................................. iv 

FIGURES AND TABLES ................................................................................................. vi 
FIGURES ........................................................................................................................................ vi 
TABLES .......................................................................................................................................... vi 

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS ............................................................................ viii 
1.0 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................. 10 

2.0 DEFINITION OF REGION: VEHICLE MILES TRAVELED CONTEXT ............................ 12 

3.0 SCREENING CRITERIA ......................................................................................... 14 
3.1 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS .................................................................................................. 14 

3.1.1 Average Daily Trips (ADT) Threshold ................................................................................... 23 
3.2 SCREENING BY PROJECT TYPE: tRANSPORTATION pROJECTS ............................................ 26 

4.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS ............................... 28 
4.1 THRESHOLDS ....................................................................................................................... 28 
4.2 IMPACT ASSESSMENT ......................................................................................................... 30 

4.2.1 Agency Communication ....................................................................................................... 30 
4.2.2 Project Screening ................................................................................................................. 35 
4.2.3 VMT Identification ............................................................................................................... 35 

4.3 MITIGATION MEASURES ..................................................................................................... 36 
5.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR TRANSPORTATION PROJECTS .......................... 38 

6.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR LAND USE PLANS ............................................. 42 

7.0 MITIGATION STRATEGIES ................................................................................... 44 
7.1 DEFINITION OF MITIGATION ............................................................................................... 44 
7.2 MITIGATION MEASURES AND PROJECT ALTERNATIVES ..................................................... 46 
7.3 FUNDING MECHANISMS ..................................................................................................... 47 

 

 



 

v 

This page intentionally left blank 



 

vi 

FIGURES AND TABLES 

FIGURES 
Figure 1: 2019 GHG Emissions in California by Economic Sector ......................................................... 11 
Figure 2: Percentage of Total Trips Having Origins/Destinations within the City of Lemoore 

and Terminating within the City of Lemoore, within Kings County, or outside the 
County .......................................................................................................................................... 13 

Figure 3: VMT per Capita Screening Map for City of Lemoore ............................................................. 17 
Figure 4: VMT per Employee Screening Map for City of Lemoore ....................................................... 19 
Figure 5: VMT per Service Population Screening Map for City of Lemoore ......................................... 21 
Figure 6: SB 375 Regional Plan Climate Targets for the 18 California MPOs ........................................ 29 
Figure 7: VMT Screening Methodology for Development Projects ...................................................... 31 
Figure 8-A: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Residential Projects ................................. 32 
Figure 8-B: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Non-Retail) 

Projects ........................................................................................................................................ 33 
Figure 8-C: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Retail) Projects ............. 34 
Figure 9: Induced Travel – VMT Attributable to Project ....................................................................... 39 
Figure 10: Caltrans Induced Travel Calculator ...................................................................................... 40 
Figure 11: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Bank ..................................................................................... 49 
Figure 12: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Exchange .............................................................................. 50 
Figure 13: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Impact Fee ........................................................................... 51 
 

TABLES 
Table A: Representative VMT and GHG Emissions from CalEEMod ..................................................... 23 
Table B: CO2e Emission Rates by Land Use Type .................................................................................. 24 
Table C: VMT Screening Thresholds for Sample Land Uses .................................................................. 25 
Table D: VMT Metrics for Land Use Projects ........................................................................................ 35 
Table E: Significance Thresholds for VMT Analysis ............................................................................... 36 
Table F: Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects ....................... 52 
 



 

vii 

This page intentionally left blank 



 

viii 

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS 

ADT Average Daily Trips 
CalEEMod California Emissions Estimator Model 
Caltrans California Department of Transportation 
CAPCOA California Air Pollution Control Officers Association 
CARB California Air Resources Board 
CEQA California Environmental Quality Act 
City City of Lemoore 
County Kings County 
CO2e Carbon Dioxide Equivalent 
EIR Environmental Impact Report 
EO Executive Order 
GHG Greenhouse Gas 
GWP Global Warming Potential 
HOT High-Occupancy Toll 
HOV High-Occupancy Vehicle 
HQTA High-Quality Transit Area 
ITE Institute of Transportation Engineers 
KCAG Kings County Association of Governments 
LOS Level of Service 
MPO Metropolitan Planning Organization 
MT Metric Ton 
OPR Governor’s Office of Planning and Research 
PRC Public Resources Code 
RTP Regional Transportation Plan 
SB Senate Bill 
SCS Sustainable Communities Strategy 
sf Square foot/Feet 
SOC Statement of Overriding Considerations 
SOI Sphere of Influence 
TA Technical Advisory 
TDM Travel Demand Model 
TPA Transit Priority Area 
VMT Vehicle Miles Traveled 



 

ix 

This page intentionally left blank 



 

10 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Senate Bill (SB) 743, which became effective July 1, 2020, changes the way transportation impact 
assessments are conducted in California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) documents. Most notably, 
rulemaking in support of SB 743 replaces motor vehicle delay, as measured by Level of Service (LOS), 
with Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) as the metric for use in CEQA transportation impact assessments.  

In January 2019, the Natural Resources Agency and the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research 
(OPR) codified SB 743 into the Public Resources Code (PRC) and the State CEQA Guidelines. 

OPR published a Technical Advisory (TA) in December of 2018, as a resource to guide the assessment 
of the VMT metric, establish thresholds of significance, and recommends mitigation measures. The 
laws and rules governing the CEQA process are contained in the CEQA statute (PRC Section 21000 and 
following), the State CEQA Guidelines (California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Section 15000 and 
following), published court decisions interpreting CEQA, and locally adopted CEQA procedures. The 
TA is intended as a reference document; it does not have the weight of law. However, any decision to 
deviate from the TA recommendations must be supported by substantial evidence. 

The State of California is committed to reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and achieving long-
term climate change goals. As a means for achieving statewide sustainability and climate goals, 
California legislation is focused on reducing VMT to achieve statewide climate goals. Over the last 40 
years, across the state, VMT has far exceeded that of the state’s population increase during the same 
period. As shown in Figure 1, transportation is the single largest sector contributing to California’s 
GHG emissions. Approximately 41 percent of statewide GHG emissions are generated by the 
transportation sector, primarily passenger cars and light-duty trucks. State mandates pertaining to 
GHG emissions include reducing the number of single-occupancy vehicle trips and the length of 
vehicle trips. 

This report establishes the City of Lemoore’s (City) VMT thresholds of significance for use in CEQA 
transportation studies and provides substantial evidence to support those thresholds. The report is 
organized into the following seven chapters: 

 Chapter 1 – Introduction: This chapter establishes the purpose and objective of this report. 

 Chapter 2 – Definition of Region: This chapter describes the comparative geographic baseline of 
a region for analysis purposes.  

 Chapter 3 –Screening Criteria: OPR acknowledges that certain projects are either low VMT 
generators, or, by virtue of their location, would have a less than significant impact. This chapter 
provides the screening criteria to identify potentially exempt projects. 

 Chapter 4 –VMT Threshold Analysis for Development Projects: This chapter identifies the VMT 
thresholds of significance, which would result in a significant CEQA impact. The actual VMT 
metric (either an efficiency rate or total VMT) is described. The process of VMT analysis is also 
described in this chapter. 

 Chapter 5 – VMT Threshold Analysis for Transportation Projects: This chapter describes the 
methodology used to evaluate significant CEQA impacts associated with transportation projects 



11

in the City of Lemoore. Many non-capacity capital projects may be presumed to have a less than 
significant impact. Capacity-enhancing transportation projects may produce significant VMT
impacts and would therefore be subject to a comprehensive VMT analysis including an induced
travel assessment.

Chapter 6 – VMT Threshold Analysis for Land Use Plans: This chapter provides guidance and 
substantial evidence to support the City’s treatment of land use plans and their related CEQA 
transportation impact analysis requirements.

Chapter 7 – VMT Mitigation Strategies: The discussion provided in this chapter is intended as a 
reference and guide for use in the identification of feasible VMT mitigation options that may be 
used to offset project-related VMT impacts. It should be noted that this discussion is not intended 
to represent a full list of VMT mitigation measures available or feasible to the City. As in previous 
CEQA practice, it is generally the lead agency who identifies mitigation measures to offset the 
specific project-related impacts identified in an environmental document.

Source: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ghg-inventory-data

Figure 1: 2019 GHG Emissions in California by Economic Sector



 

12 

2.0 DEFINITION OF REGION: VEHICLE MILES TRAVELED CONTEXT 

To quantify a project’s impact related to the VMT metric, a geographic context must be established. 
In the motor vehicle delay-based (LOS) analyses, a project study area is the geographic context for 
measuring a project’s traffic impacts. A project study area is generally determined by the incremental 
increase in traffic generated by the project and the project’s potential to create travel delays in the 
area. This generally includes intersections and roadway segments where the project would add a 
prescribed number of peak-hour trips. Lead agencies typically limit the LOS-based project study area 
boundaries within their jurisdictions. 

Delay-based LOS analyses evaluate intersections or segments of roadways and so they consider 
portions of trips at specific locations and do not take into consideration the effect of entire trip length 
(from starting location to ending location). Hence, unlike delay-based LOS analyses, VMT produces a 
regional impact that is not limited by roadway, intersection, or jurisdictional boundaries. OPR 
acknowledges this in its TA (page 6), which states:  

“Lead agencies should not truncate any VMT analysis because of jurisdictional or 
other boundaries, for example, by failing to count the portion of a trip that falls 
outside the jurisdiction or by discounting the VMT from a trip that crosses a 
jurisdictional boundary.” 

On a daily basis, majority of trips are generated by the residents of the community or by residential 
land uses. Commute and school trips are typically considered mandatory trips for the residents. Also, 
based on 2010 – 2012 California Household Travel Surveys (CHTS), commute trips are the longest 
among trips by residents. Additionally based on CHTS, the majority of trips are commute and shopping 
trips occurring between residential, office, and retail uses. Therefore, pursuant to the OPR TA, the 
recommendations for VMT thresholds for the three primary land use types (residential, office, and 
retail) are based on a comparison to a regional average. OPR does not explicitly define the regional 
average, and instead, recommends: 

1. In cases where the region is substantially larger than the geography over which 
most workers would be expected to live, it might be appropriate to refer to a 
smaller geography, such as the county, that includes the area over which nearly 
all workers would be expected to live. (page 16) 

2. For residential projects in unincorporated county areas, the local agency can 
compare a residential project’s VMT to (1) the region’s VMT per capita, or (2) the 
aggregate population weighted VMT per capita of all cities in the region. 
(page 15) 

LSA surveyed other large urbanized areas around the state to identify what region has been established 
for VMT thresholds. In most cases, the county boundary has been identified as the region selected for 
VMT analysis. Mobility can be studied using a trip-based approach or a tour-based approach. The OPR 
TA states that “where available, tour-based assessment is ideal because it captures travel behavior more 
comprehensively. But where tour-based tools or data are not available for all components of an analysis, 
a trip-based assessment of VMT serves as a reasonable proxy.” A regional travel demand model, 



 

13 

whether tour-based or trip-based, is one of the best available tools to estimate VMT. Given the current 
regional travel demand model is a trip-based model and as described before, project VMT evaluation 
shall be conducted using a relative comparison (project VMT metrics to the regional VMT metrics), the 
trip-based model serves as an appropriate tool for VMT evaluation.  

Since the Kings County Association of Governments’ (KCAG’s) Travel Demand Model (TDM) is a trip-
based model, a trip-based approach has been followed. LSA used the KCAG TDM to examine the trips 
into and out of Lemoore. As such, consistent with the OPR TA, only trips having origins or destinations 
or both within the City were considered. External pass-through trips were not considered.  

As illustrated in Figure 2, out of the total trips, about 65 percent trips are contained within the City 
and its sphere of influence (SOI). Another 30 percent of trips originate or are destined within other 
jurisdictions in Kings County (County). The remaining 5 percent trips either originate or are destined 
outside Kings County. Because the majority of the trips (95 percent) are contained within Kings 
County, the County will be used to define the region. 

 
Source: KCAG TDM (2015 Scenario) 

Figure 2: Percentage of Total Trips Having Origins/Destinations within the City of Lemoore and 
Terminating within the City of Lemoore, within Kings County, or outside the County 

The OPR guidance recommends consistency in approach; once a region is established, that region 
should be used for all subsequent traffic analyses. 

It should be recognized the use of the County as the region defines the comparative, or the 
denominator, in the identification of project-related impact. The numerator is the project’s VMT 
contribution.  



 

14 

3.0 SCREENING CRITERIA 

The OPR TA acknowledges that certain activities and projects may result in a reduction of VMT and 
GHG emissions and may therefore be assumed to produce a less than significant transportation 
impact. Due to a presumption of less than significant impact by meeting the following described 
criteria, a variety of projects may be screened out of SB 743-related VMT analysis requirements. 

3.1 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 
For development projects, screening factors may include a project’s size, location, proximity to transit, 
and trip-making potential. One or more of the following project attributes may be presumed to 
produce a less than significant VMT impact: 

 The project is within 0.5 mile (mi) of a transit priority area or a high-quality transit area and is 
consistent with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP)/ Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS), 
has a floor area ratio (FAR) equal or greater than 0.75, does not provide more parking than what is 
required by the City’s Municipal Code, or does not reduce the number of affordable residential units. 
In accordance with SB 743, “transit priority areas” are defined as “an area within one-half mile of a 
major transit stop that is existing or planned, if the planned stop is scheduled to be completed within 
the planning horizon included in a Transportation Improvement Program. A “major transit stop” 
means: “a site containing an existing rail transit station, a ferry terminal served by either a bus or 
rail transit service, or the intersection of two or more major bus routes with a frequency of service 
of 15 minutes or less during the morning and afternoon peak commute periods.” A high-quality 
transit area or corridor is a corridor with fixed route bus service with service intervals no longer than 
15 minutes during peak commute hours. (See Pub. Resources Code, § 21099, subds. (a)(7), (b)(1).) 

Currently, the city does not have any high-quality transit area. However, if such areas are 
established at a future date, this screening criteria would be applicable to projects if they meet 
the requirements stated above. 

 The project includes local-serving retail with a combined area of less than 50,000 square feet (sf). 
Local-serving retail would include projects that serve the local community and visitors within the 
City. Local-serving retail projects would include projects such as grocery stores, restaurants, or 
any other commercial development. Whether a retail project is local-serving or not will be 
determined at the discretion of the City.  

 Redevelopment projects that result in an equal or net reduction in VMT can be considered to have 
less than significant VMT impact. A net reduction in VMT would occur if the land use proposed by 
the project would generate less VMT than the existing land use. 

 The project includes 100 percent affordable housing units. Affordable housing units consists of 
low-income households and research has shown that low-income households produce lower VMT 
compared to a market-rate housing unit1. 

 
1 “Income, Location, Efficiency, and VMT: Affordable Housing as a Climate Strategy” by Gregory L. Newmark 

Ph.D and Peter M. Hass Ph.D, Center for Neighborhood Technology. 



 

15 

 A project consistent with the City’s General Plan can be successfully screened if the project would 
generate fewer than 1,000 average daily trips (ADT), while a project not consistent with the City’s 
General Plan can be screened if the project would generate fewer than 500 ADT. (See section 
3.1.1 below.). Consistency with the General Plan is required because the GHG and therefore VMT 
reduction targets for MPOs were established by CARB and are included in the RTPs. The RTP 
utilizes the latest version of City’s General Plan for analyzing GHG emissions. 

 Institutional/government and public service uses that support community health, safety and 
welfare may also be screened from subsequent CEQA VMT analysis. These facilities (e.g., police 
stations, fire stations, government offices, utilities, public libraries, community centers, and 
refuse stations) would be a part of the community and, as public services, the VMT would be 
accounted for within the community. A decision whether a particular project can be categorized 
as a public service facility will be determined at the discretion of the City. Similarly, any other 
similar use not included in the list can be approved on a case-by-case basis by the City as 
applicable. As such, these uses would result in reduction in total VMT due to the proximity of 
these services within the community. Additionally, many of these facilities would generate fewer 
than 1,000 ADT and/or use vehicles other than passenger-cars or light-duty trucks. These other 
vehicle fleets are subject to regulation outside of CEQA, such as the California Air Resources Board 
(CARB) and San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District. 

 Local parks, daycare centers, student housing projects on or adjacent to a college campus, local-
serving gas stations, banks, and K–12 public schools. 

 Projects located in areas with low VMT may be screened out from further CEQA analysis. The TA 
acknowledges that residential and office projects located in areas having a low VMT, (which 
incorporate features such as density, mix of uses, transit accessibility), tend to exhibit similarly 
low VMT. Also, areas that are mapped as low VMT areas do not need to prepare any additional 
VMT analysis. Therefore, residential, office, industrial, or mixed-use projects that are consistent 
with the City’s General Plan and located within low VMT areas (using the City of Lemoore VMT 
Screening Tool2 and applying appropriate thresholds) can be presumed to have similar low VMT 
profiles and could be screened out from the need for further VMT analysis. It should be noted 
that if a project constitutes a General Plan Amendment or Zone Change, such projects will be 
evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Figures 3, 4, and 5 illustrate the VMT per capita, VMT per 
employee, and VMT per service population screening maps for the City. 

 The 2022 State CEQA Guidelines Section 15007 (c) states that “if a document meets the content 
requirements in effect when the document is sent out for public review, the document shall not 
need to be revised to conform to any new content requirements in Guideline amendments taking 
effect before the document is finally approved.” Therefore, if a development/land use plan/
transportation project is already cleared by a certified Environmental Impact Report (EIR) or an 
adopted Negative Declaration/Mitigated Negative Declaration, then subsequent projects that are 
consistent with the approved project will not require a new VMT analysis unless mandated by 
another section of the CEQA Guidelines. 

  

 
2  City of Lemoore VMT Screening Tool: https://gis1.lsa.net/LVMT/ 



 

16 

This page intentionally left blank 



 

17  
 

Figure 3: VMT per Capita Screening Map for City of Lemoore 

 



 

 

18  

This page intentionally left blank 

  



 

19  
 

Figure 4: VMT per Employee Screening Map for City of Lemoore 

 



 

 

20  

This page intentionally left blank 

  



 

21  
 

Figure 5: VMT per Service Population Screening Map for City of Lemoore 

 



 

 

22  

This page intentionally left blank 

 



 

23 

3.1.1 Average Daily Trips (ADT) Threshold 

Under Section 15301(e)(2) of the CEQA Guidelines, existing facilities, including additions to existing 
structures of up to 10,000 sf are exempt from CEQA review if the project is located in an area where 
public infrastructure is available to allow for maximum planned development and the project is not 
located in an environmentally sensitive area. 

The City’s trip screening threshold is based on reduction of GHG emissions as further described below. 

The California Emissions Estimator Model (CalEEMod) is a tool provided by CARB and is accepted as 
the statewide standard to evaluate air quality and GHG emission impacts for CEQA assessment. As 
such, CalEEMod was used to characterize the effect of changes in project-related ADT to the resulting 
GHG emissions. To account for geographical relevance to project location, LSA calculated trip lengths 
from the KCAG TDM as applicable for the City. The trip lengths were calculated for various trip 
purposes for single-family residential developments as example. Table A shows the resulting annual 
VMT and GHG emissions produced by incremental ADT for single-family residential projects. 

Table A: Representative VMT and GHG Emissions from CalEEMod 
Average Daily 

Trips (ADT) 
Annual Vehicle Miles 

Traveled (VMT) 
Vehicular GHG Emissions 

(Metric Tons of CO2e per year) 
Total Project GHG Emissions 

(Metric Tons of CO2e per year) 
100 1,796,375 799 1,133 
200 3,592,751 1,597 2,266 
300 5,389,126 2,395 3,398 
400 7,185,502 3,194 4,531 
500 8,981,877 3,992 5,664 
750 13,472,815 5,989 8,496 

1,000 17,963,754 7,985 11,328 
1,500 26,945,631 11,977 16,991 

Source: CalEEMod version 2022.1.0. 
CalEEMod = California Emissions Estimator Model; GHG = Greenhouse Gas; CO2e = carbon dioxide equivalent 

GHG emissions threshold under CEQA can vary between 3,000 metric tons (MT) of carbon dioxide 
equivalent3 (CO2e) per year (as recommended by South Coast Air Quality Management District 
(SCAQMD)) and 1,100 MT CO2e (as recommended by Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality 
Management District). For purposes of this analysis, the threshold of 3,000 MT CO2e has been utilized. 
As shown in Table A, a project with an ADT lower than 1,500 would generally be expected to have a 
total project emission of less than 3,000 MT CO2e/year. LSA conducted this exercise for several other 
land uses to identify appropriate GHG screening thresholds. Table B shows the potential maximum 
GHG screening thresholds (up to 3,000 MT) for these land uses. 

 
3  CO2e is a concept developed to provide one metric that includes the effects of numerous GHGs. The global warming 

potential (GWP) of each GHG characterizes the ability of each GHG to trap heat in the atmosphere relative to another 
GHG. The GWPs of all GHGs are combined to derive the CO2e. 



 

24 

Table B: CO2e Emission Rates by Land Use Type 
Land Use DU or TSF Total MTCO2e per year Annual MTCO2e per DU or TSF 
Single Family Residential 270 DU 2,998 11.10 
Low-Rise Multifamily Residential 385 DU 2,997 7.78 
Mid-Rise Multifamily Residential 513 DU 2,997 5.84 
Office 337 TSF 2,993 8.88 
Warehouse 426 TSF 2,996 7.03 
Light Industrial 507 TSF 2,998 5.91 
Hotel 382 Rooms 2,971 7.78 
Medical Office 142 TSF 2,993 21.08 
Hospital 197 Beds 2,989 15.17 
Shopping Plaza 82 TSF 2,993 36.50 
Strip Retail Plaza 137 TSF 2,994 21.85 
Source: California Emissions Estimator Model (CalEEMod) version 2022.1.0.  
DU = Dwelling Units; TSF = Thousand Square Feet; CO2e = carbon dioxide equivalent 

The 3,000 MTCO2e per year threshold developed by the SCAQMD is based on a 90 percent emission 
“capture” rate methodology. The 90 percent emissions capture approach was one of the options 
suggested by the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) in their CEQA & 
Climate Change white paper from 2008. A 90 percent emission capture rate means that unmitigated 
GHG emissions from the top 90 percent of all GHG-producing projects within a geographic area – the 
Air Basin in this instance – would be subject to a detailed analysis of potential environmental impacts 
from GHG emissions, while the bottom 10 percent of all GHG-producing projects would be excluded 
from detailed analysis. A GHG significance threshold based on a 90 percent emission capture rate is 
appropriate to address the long-term adverse impacts associated with global climate change because 
medium and large projects will be required to implement measures to reduce GHG emissions, while 
small projects, which are generally infill development projects that are not the focus of the State’s 
GHG reduction targets, are allowed to proceed. Further, a 90 percent emission capture rate sets the 
emission threshold low enough to capture a substantial proportion of future development projects 
and demonstrate that cumulative emissions reductions are being achieved while setting the emission 
threshold high enough to exclude small projects that will, in aggregate, contribute approximately 1 
percent of projected statewide GHG emissions in the Year 2050. SCAQMD’s selection of the threshold 
at 3,000 MTCO2e per year was based on OPR’s database of projects containing 798 projects and 
information about their GHG emissions.  87 very large projects were eliminated from calculation 
because they would skew emissions values too high, leaving 711 as the sample population to use in 
determining the 90th percentile capture rate. The 711 projects analyzed by SCAQMD consisted of 
commercial, residential, and mixed-use projects and included warehouses and other light industrial 
land uses but did not include industrial processes (i.e., oil refineries, heavy manufacturing, electric 
generating stations, mining operations). 4  SCAQMD calculated emissions from each project to 
provide a consistent method of emissions calculations across the sample population and from projects 
within the sample population. In calculating the emissions, the SCAQMD determined that the 90th 
percentile ranged between 2,983 to 3,143 MTCO2e per year. The SCAQMD set the significance 

 
4  South Coast Air Quality Management District – Draft Guidance Document – Interim CEQA Greenhouse Gas (GHG) 

Significance Threshold, October 2008. 



 

25 

threshold at 3,000 MTCO2e per year to exclude small projects that are considered less than significant 
and do not need to provide further analysis. Substantial evidence supporting this emission level is 
provided in the 2008 document, Draft Guidance Document – Interim CEQA Greenhouse Gas 
Significance Threshold and the documentation from subsequent working group meetings. 

The GHG analysis above concludes that projects with up to 1,500 ADT may be screened out from VMT 
analysis. As a conservative approach, the City of Lemoore VMT Thresholds and Implementation 
Guidelines document adopts a daily trip threshold of 1,000 ADT be applied to projects that are 
consistent with the City’s General Plan. However, for projects that are not consistent with the City’s 
General Plan, a screening threshold of 500 ADT will be applied. Historically, the City required traffic 
studies (LOS analysis) for projects that generate 50 or more peak hour trips. Since 1 peak hour trip 
equates to approximately 10 ADT, 50 peak hour trips would equate to approximately 500 ADT. It is 
prudent to take a conservative approach, and important to be consistent with previous 
methodologies and past precedence. Therefore, 500 ADT has been determined as the screening 
criteria for development projects that are not consistent with City’s General Plan and takes 
precedence from previous transportation analysis procedures within the City. A sample list of size of 
projects generating fewer than 1,000 and 500 daily vehicle trips that are eligible for exemption from 
a VMT analysis are included in Table C. 

Table C: VMT Screening Thresholds for Sample Land Uses 

Land Use Size of Projects  
(Requiring a General Plan Amendment) 

Size of Projects  
(Not Requiring a General Plan Amendment) 

Single-Family Residential1 53 DU 106 DU 

Low-Rise Multifamily Residential2 74 DU 148 DU 

Mid-Rise Multifamily Residential3 110 DU 220 DU 

Office 46.125 TSF 92.250 TSF 

Warehouse 292.397 TSF 584.795 TSF 

Light Industrial 102.669 TSF 205.338 TSF 

Hotel 62 Rooms 125 Rooms 

Medical Office4 13.888 TSF 27.777 TSF 

Hospital 22 Beds 44 Beds 

Notes: DU = Dwelling Units; TSF = Thousand Square Feet 
Project sizes have been determined based on trip generation rates obtained from the ITE Trip Generation Manual (11th Edition). 
1 The project sizes have been provided for single-family detached residential only. 
2 The project sizes have been provided for low-rise multifamily residential (not close to rail transit) only. 
3 The project sizes have been provided for mid-rise multifamily residential (not close to rail transit) only. 
4 The project sizes have been provided for stand-alone medical office buildings only. 

 



 

26 

3.2 SCREENING BY PROJECT TYPE: TRANSPORTATION PROJECTS 
Transportation projects refer to capital improvement projects that relate to roadway widening, 
roadway infrastructure improvements, active transportation projects or operational improvements. 
The primary attribute to consider with transportation projects is the potential to increase vehicle 
travel demand, also referred to as ‘induced travel.’ While the City has discretion to continue to use a 
delay-based LOS analysis for CEQA disclosure of transportation projects, changes in vehicle travel 
must be quantified. To comply with SB 743, the City of Lemoore will use VMT analysis, and may also 
require a LOS analysis for design, traffic operations, and safety purposes to comply with the City’s 
General Plan Circulation Element. The State identifies the types of transportation improvement 
projects that would not likely to lead to a measurable and substantial increase in VMT and which 
therefore generally should not require an induced travel analysis per OPR’s Technical Advisory. These 
include the following: 

 Rehabilitation, maintenance, replacement, safety, and repair projects designed to improve the 
condition of existing transportation assets (e.g., highways; roadways; bridges; culverts; 
Transportation Management System field elements such as cameras, message signs, detection, 
or signals; tunnels; transit systems; and assets that serve bicycle and pedestrian facilities) and that 
do not add additional motor vehicle capacity. 

 Roadside safety devices or hardware installation such as median barriers and guardrails. 

 Roadway shoulder enhancements to provide “breakdown space,” dedicated space for use only by 
transit vehicles, to provide bicycle access, or to otherwise improve safety, but which will not be 
used as automobile vehicle travel lanes. 

 Addition of an auxiliary lane of less than one mile in length designed to improve roadway safety. 

 Installation, removal, or reconfiguration of traffic lanes that are not for through traffic, such as 
left, right, and U-turn pockets, two-way left turn lanes, emergency truck pullovers, or emergency 
breakdown lanes that are not utilized as through lanes. 

 Addition of roadway capacity on local or collector streets provided the project also substantially 
improves conditions for pedestrians, cyclists, and, if applicable, transit. 

 Addition of a new lane that is permanently restricted to use only by transit vehicles. 

 Reduction in number of through lanes. 

 Grade separation to separate vehicles from rail, transit, pedestrians or bicycles, or to replace a 
lane in order to separate preferential vehicles (e.g., HOV, HOT, or trucks) from general vehicles. 

 Installation, removal, or reconfiguration of traffic control devices, including Transit Signal Priority 
(TSP) features. 

 Installation of traffic metering systems, detection systems, cameras, changeable message signs 
and other electronics designed to optimize vehicle, bicycle, or pedestrian flow. 

 Timing of signals to optimize vehicle, bicycle, or pedestrian flow. 

 Installation of roundabouts or traffic circles. 

 Installation or reconfiguration of traffic calming devices. 



 

27 

 Initiation of new transit service. 

 Conversion of streets from one-way to two-way operation with no net increase in number of 
general purpose or continuous through traffic lanes. 

 Removal or relocation of off-street or on-street parking spaces. 

 Adoption or modification of on-street parking or loading restrictions (including meters, time 
limits, accessible spaces, and preferential/reserved parking permit programs). 

 Addition of traffic wayfinding signage. 

 Rehabilitation and maintenance projects that do not add motor vehicle capacity. 

 Addition of new or enhanced bike or pedestrian facilities on existing streets/highways or within 
existing public rights-of -way. 

 Addition of Class I bike paths, trails, multi-use paths, or other off-road facilities that serve non-
motorized travel. 

 Installation of publicly available alternative fuel/charging infrastructure. 

 Local and collector roads in rural areas that don’t include sidewalks where there would be no 
pedestrian traffic to use them. 

 Park and Ride facilities. 

 Truck size and weight inspection stations. 

 

While the above list is thorough, it is not necessarily comprehensive. There may be types of projects 
in addition to those listed that would not lead to a measurable and substantial increase in VMT. When 
concluding that a particular project may be screened out from further analysis, the practitioner should 
review and fully document the rationale supporting the conclusion that the respective project would 
not likely lead to a measurable and substantial increase in VMT.



 

28 

4.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 

4.1 THRESHOLDS 
The TA states that SB 743 and all CEQA VMT transportation analyses refer to automobiles. Here, the 
term automobile refers to on-road passenger vehicles, specifically cars and light duty trucks (page. 4). 
Heavy-duty trucks can be addressed in other CEQA sections (air quality, greenhouse gas, noise, and 
health risk assessment analysis) and are subject to regulation in a separate collection of rules under 
CARB jurisdiction. This approach was amplified by Chris Ganson, Senior Advisor for Transportation at 
OPR, in a presentation to the Fresno Council of Governments (October 23, 2019) and by Ellen 
Greenberg, the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Deputy Director for Sustainability, 
at the San Joaquin Valley Regional Planning Agencies’ Directors’ Committee meeting (January 9, 
2020). 

Trips in a travel demand model are categorized by trip purpose. Each trip has a starting and ending 
location. If either end of the trip (starting or ending locations) is the trip producer’s home, the trip is 
identified as a home-based trip. The OPR has identified the subject of the thresholds as the primary 
trips in the home-based typology: specifically, home-based work trips. This includes residential uses, 
office uses, and retail uses. The home-based work trip type is the primary trip type during the peak 
hours of commuter traffic in the morning and evening periods. 

The impact of transportation has shifted from congestion to climate change, and the purpose of the 
CEQA analysis is to disclose and ultimately reduce GHG emissions by reducing the number and length 
of automobile trips. As part of the SB 375 land use/transportation integration process and the GHG 
goal setting, the State and Regional Transportation Planning Agencies (RTPA) have agreed to reduce 
GHG through integrated land use and transportation planning by a statewide average of 
approximately 15 percent by 2035. Figure 6 illustrates the SB 375 regional GHG emission reduction 
targets for all 18 Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) in California that were established by 
the CARB in 2018. Furthermore, in its 2017 Scoping Plan-Identified VMT Reductions and Relationship 
to State Climate Goals, the CARB recommends total VMT per capita rates approximately 15 percent 
below existing conditions. 

The TA therefore recommends:  

 A proposed (residential) project exceeding a level of 15 percent below existing regional average 
VMT per capita may indicate a significant transportation impact. 

 A similar threshold would apply to office projects (15 percent below existing regional average VMT 
per employee). 

 VMT generated by retail projects would indicate a significant impact for any net increase in total 
VMT. 



29

Source: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/sustainable-communities-program/regional-plan-targets

Figure 6: SB 375 Regional Plan Climate Targets for the 18 California MPOs

CARB establishes GHG targets for each of the 18 MPOs in the State, reviews the SCSs, and makes a 
determination of whether the SCSs would achieve GHG reduction targets if implemented. In the spring 
of 2018, CARB adopted new GHG targets for all the 18 MPOs in the State based on the 2017 Scoping 
Plan and other new data as illustrated in Figure 6. CARB established a 13 percent GHG reduction target 
for 2035 for Kings County. The State recognizes that Kings County’s contribution to the aggregate 15 
percent statewide GHG emission reduction is 13 percent. Other regions may achieve lower reductions 
to achieve the aggregate statewide goal.1 As such, reduction in GHG directly corresponds to reduction 
in VMT (VMT is the biggest contributor of GHG emissions as shown in Figure 1). To reach the statewide 
GHG reduction goal of 15 percent, the region (KCAG) must reduce GHG by 13 percent. The method of 
reducing GHG by 13 percent is to reduce VMT by 13 percent as well. 

Therefore, the City has established a threshold for land use developments, specifically residential and 
office, of 87 percent of the existing regional average as indicative of a significant transportation 
impact. For retail projects, increase in total regional roadway VMT with the implementation of the 
project would indicate a significant transportation impact. In general, addition of new retail rediverts 
majority of trips from existing retail locations located further away. Given the potential redistribution 
of majority of trips rather than addition of trips, a comparison of total regional roadway VMT is 
appropriate to determine whether the retail project would benefit in overall reduction of regional 
VMT. Therefore, a net reduction in total VMT would be the appropriate metric to determine VMT 

1  The latest GHG targets by region can be found at https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/
sustainable-communities-program/regional-plan-targets. 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%
GH

G 
Em

iss
io

n 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

Ta
rg

et

2020 2035



 

30 

impacts for such projects. Total roadway VMT needs to be calculated using the final roadway 
assignment outputs from the KCAG TDM. 

Other distinct land uses are not identified for threshold development in the OPR TA. For other non-
residential projects, a significance threshold of 87 percent of existing regional average VMT per 
employee has been established. The only exceptions would be hotels, hospitals, medical offices, and 
related projects. These land uses are service oriented facilities which includes both visitors and 
employees. Therefore, for such projects, VMT per service population (population/users + 
employment) has been established as the VMT metric. Any other similar use could be evaluated using 
the same metric subject to approval of the methodology by the City on a case-by-case basis. As such, 
a significance threshold of 87 percent of the existing regional average VMT per service population will 
be applied for these projects. 

Evaluation of mixed-use projects shall be for each land use component of the project using the most 
appropriate VMT metric. Credit for internal trip capture shall be made. Internal trip capture may be 
calculated using the latest edition of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation 
Manual, the KCAG TDM, or other applicable sources approved by the City. The appropriate 
methodology for calculating a project’s internal capture would be determined in consultation with 
the City’s Traffic Engineer. The significance threshold for these projects would be the respective VMT 
thresholds for its different land use components. 

4.2 IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
Figure 7 illustrates the VMT screening methodology for development entitlement projects. 
Additionally, Figures 8-A through 8-C illustrate the VMT analysis methodology for non-screened 
projects. Every development application is unique and may create alternative or modified steps 
through the process described in the aforementioned figures. Each step that diverges from this 
standard process shall be accompanied with substantial evidence demonstrating compliance with 
other climate change and GHG emission reduction laws and regulations. 

4.2.1 Agency Communication 

As part of the site plan review process, the applicant shall provide a detailed project description, 
including area/number of units and potential number of residents/employees added or created by 
the project, and the applicable VMT analysis methodology. Key elements include a description of the 
project in sufficient detail to generate trips and the potential catchment area (i.e., trip lengths if no 
modeling is undertaken), estimated project VMT, project design features that may reduce the VMT 
from the project development, and the project location and associated existing regional VMT 
percentages. Further, the applicant or their consultant shall prepare a transportation analysis scope 
of work for review and approval by the City. 



 

31 

 

Figure 7: VMT Screening Methodology for Development Projects 



 

32 

 

 

Figure 8-A: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Residential Projects 



 

33 
 

 
Figure 8-B: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Non-Retail) Projects 



 

34 

 
Figure 8-C: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Retail) Projects 



 

35 
 

Projects that will influence Caltrans facilities may be subject to the Caltrans Local Development-
Intergovernmental Review program. As part of the program, Caltrans may review the VMT analysis 
methodology, findings, and mitigation measures to ensure consistency with statewide standards. 

4.2.2 Project Screening 

Once a development application is filed and determined to be complete for processing purposes, 
project screening may commence. If the project meets any one of the screening criteria, it may be 
presumed to have a less than significant transportation impact. No further VMT analysis would then 
be necessary, and a Notice of Exemption may be filed. The CEQA document shall enumerate the 
screening criteria and how the project meets or exceeds that applicable VMT threshold.  

If project screening does not apply, a VMT analysis will be required. The extent of this analysis may 
be a simple algebraic demonstration or a more sophisticated traffic modeling exercise. This distinction 
is addressed later in this report. 

4.2.3 VMT Identification 

The project land use type will determine the appropriate metric to use (i.e., VMT per capita, VMT per 
employee, VMT per service population, or total VMT). Appropriate VMT metrics for different land 
uses are stated in Table D. 

Table D: VMT Metrics for Land Use Projects 
Land Use VMT Metric 
Residential VMT per Capita 
Office VMT per Employee 
Retail Total VMT 
Hotel, Hospital, Medical Office Building, or any similar 
use with approval from the City VMT per Service Population 

Mixed-Use, Land Use Plan (General Plan/Specific Plan) Respective VMT metrics for its different 
land use components 

Other Land Uses VMT per Employee 
VMT = Vehicle Miles Traveled 

 
For all projects that require a VMT analysis, use of the KCAG TDM is required unless the project 
includes a special land use that is difficult to analyze using a travel demand model. For the latter, the 
City may require a qualitative analysis or an analysis using empirical data as applicable to the project. 

Next, the project generated VMT (per capita, per employee, per service population, or total) is 
compared to the appropriate significance threshold provided in Table E. If the project VMT metric is 
less than the significance threshold, the project is presumed to create a less than significant impact. 
No further VMT analysis for CEQA purposes would be required.  



 

36 

Table E: Significance Thresholds for VMT Analysis 
VMT Metric Threshold Regional Average 
VMT per Capita 8.99 10.33 
VMT per Employee 16.95 19.48 
VMT per Service Population 21.84 25.10 
Source: KCAG TDM (2015 Scenario) 
VMT = Vehicle Miles Traveled 

 

 
Should project VMT metrics exceed the significance threshold, mitigation measures will be required. 
It should be noted that the thresholds identified in Table E are based on the current version of the 
KCAG TDM (provided by KCAG in October 2021). These thresholds are subject to change when a 
newer version of the KCAG TDM is available. 

4.3 MITIGATION MEASURES 
State law requires the project applicant to identify feasible offsets to mitigate significant VMT impacts 
generated by the proposed project. These can come from the mitigation strategies provided in this 
document (as described in Table F at the end of Chapter 7.0) or selected by the applicant based on 
their CEQA project experience and expertise. A proposed mitigation measure must be supported by 
substantial evidence illustrating that the measure will mitigate VMT impacts to less than significant. 
The City must approve and accept the final VMT mitigation program ascribed to the project and the 
related VMT percentage reduction. A detailed discussion about project-specific mitigations is included 
in Section 7.2. 

If it is determined that the selected VMT mitigation measures effectively reduce the project impact 
to less than the applicable threshold, the project is presumed to have an impact mitigated to a less 
than significant level for purposes of CEQA. No further VMT analysis is required in such case. If the 
project’s VMT impact cannot be mitigated to less than significant, the City may (1) request the project 
be redesigned to reduce the VMT impact, or (2) require the preparation of an EIR with a Statement of 
Overriding Considerations (SOC) for the transportation impacts associated with the project. All 
feasible mitigation measures must be assigned to and carried out by the project even if an EIR and 
SOC are prepared. 



 

37 
 

This page intentionally left blank 

  



 

38 

5.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR TRANSPORTATION PROJECTS 

A VMT assessment of a transportation project should disclose the VMT profile without the project 
and the difference in the VMT profile with the project. Any increase in VMT attributable to the 
proposed transportation project would result in a significant impact. A significant transportation 
project impact is presumed when VMT increases with the project as compared to the ‘No Project’ 
scenario. 

Capacity improvement projects have the potential of producing significant transportation impacts 
because they tend to induce new travel. The State describes induced travel as the additional motor 
vehicle travel that is generated by the newly available capacity on the roadway. Induced travel may 
include route switching, time-of-day change, mode shift to single occupancy vehicle, longer trips, new 
trips to existing destinations, and additional travel due to new development. Current traffic models 
have limited abilities to forecast new trips and new developments associated with roadway capacity 
improvements, as land use or socioeconomic databases are fixed to a specific horizon date. OPR refers 
to a limited number of published studies that seek to define travel demand elasticities. 

The most recent major study (Duranton & Turner 2011, p. 24) estimates an elasticity of 1.0, meaning 
that every one percent change in lane miles results in a one percent increase in VMT. 

One method to quantify induced growth is recommended by the State: 

To estimate VMT impacts from roadway expansion projects: 

1. Determine the total lane-miles over an area that fully captures travel behavior changes 
resulting from the project (generally the region, but for projects affecting interregional 
travel look at all affected regions). 

2. Determine the percent change in total lane miles that will result from the project. 

3. Determine the total existing VMT over that same area. 

4. Multiply the percentage increase in lane miles by the existing VMT, and then multiply 
that by the elasticity from the induced travel literature: 

[% increase in lane miles] × [existing VMT] × [elasticity] = [VMT resulting from the project] 

OPR assigns this induced growth to project-induced changes in land use; that is, new land uses that 
are not included in any approved general or area plan and not accounted for in any traffic-forecasting 
tool. 
 
Figure 9 provides a representative illustration of induced VMT attributable to a project. 



 

39 
 

 
Source: Presentation: Caltrans Transportation Analysis under CEQA or TAC: Significance Determinations for 
Induced Travel Analysis (SHCC Pre-Release Session 2 Jeremy Ketchum, Division of Environmental Analysis, 
Caltrans; March 2, 2020) 

Figure 9: Induced Travel – VMT Attributable to Project 

Caltrans has identified a computerized tool to estimate VMT generation from transportation projects. 
The tool (https://travelcalculator.ncst.ucdavis.edu) was developed by the University of California, 
Davis and is based on travel demand elasticities and the relationship of lane mile additions with 
growth in VMT. It uses Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) definitions of facility type and ascribes 
VMT increases to each facility. Output data includes increases in million miles of VMT per year. 
Caltrans is investigating the use of this tool for all of its VMT analyses of capital projects on the State 
Highway System. Figure 10 provides an illustration of the tool. 

Because of limitations in applying the NCST calculator to roadways within the City, the City 
recommends using the KCAG model to determine VMT impacts associated with transportation 
projects in case the project is not eligible to be screened out from a VMT analysis. The screening 
criteria for transportation projects is included under Section 3.2 of this report. 

 



40

     Source: https://blinktag.com/induced-travel-calculator/index.html

Figure 10: Caltrans Induced Travel Calculator



 

41 
 

This page intentionally left blank 



 

42 

6.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR LAND USE PLANS 

The OPR TA provides guidance on the treatment of CEQA traffic analyses for land use plans (General 
Plan, Specific Plan) as follows: 

 Analyze the VMT outcomes over the full area over which the plan may substantively affect travel 
patterns (the definition of region). 

 VMT shall be counted in full rather than split between origins and destinations (the full impact of 
the project VMT). 

Specifically, OPR states, “A general plan, area plan, or community plan may have a significant impact 
on transportation if proposed new residential, office or retail land uses would in aggregate exceed the 
respective thresholds recommended above.” (OPR TA page 18) This recommendation refers to a 
threshold of 15 percent lower than the existing regional average for residential and office uses and 
no net gain for retail land uses. 

To assess a land use plan, use of a traffic-forecasting tool shall be applied. The total VMT for the plan 
shall be identified for all trips and all potential VMT contributors within the plan area. Model runs 
shall be conducted for the existing base year and the horizon year (the future year scenario analyzed 
in the Circulation Element of the City’s General Plan) with project (plan).  

SB 375 establishes ambitious and achievable GHG reduction targets for the 18 Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations (MPOs) in the State. Achievement of these targets is to be accomplished through the 
improved integration of regional land use and transportation planning processes; not solely through 
the imposition of new regulation on passenger cars and light-duty trucks.  

CARB reviews the SCS that is produced as part of the RTP produced by each of the State’s MPOs. The 
SCS details the strategies and programs the regional agencies are planning to implement to achieve 
its designated GHG emission reduction targets. CARB approved the new GHG reduction targets for all 
18 MPOs in the State in the spring of 2018. The 2018 targets are applicable to the third SCSs for the 
MPOs. 

Other legislative mandates and State policies are also supportive of GHG reduction targets. A sample 
of these include: 

 Assembly Bill 32 (2006) requires statewide GHG emissions reductions to 1990 levels by 2020 and 
continued reductions beyond 2020. 

 SB 32 (2016) requires at least a 40 percent reduction in GHG emissions from 1990 levels by 2030. 

 Executive Order (EO) B-30-15 (2015) sets a GHG emissions reduction target of 40 percent below 
1990 levels by 2030. 

 EO S-3-05 (2005) sets a GHG emissions reduction target of 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. 

 EO B-16-12 (2012) specifies a GHG emissions reduction target of 80 percent below 1990 levels by 
2050 specifically for transportation. 



 

43 
 

These mandates suggest that a land use plan consistent with the regional RTP/SCS would generally 
help achieve the target GHG reductions for the region.  

California PRC Section 15064.3(b)(4) states (in part) the following: 

A lead agency has discretion to choose the most appropriate methodology to evaluate a 
project’s vehicle miles traveled, including whether to express the change in absolute terms, 
per capita, per household, or in any other measure. 

Since VMT is the largest contributor to GHG emissions, a land use plan consistent with regional RTP/
SCS GHG reductions target does not constitute a significant VMT impact. Therefore, the methodology 
for conducting VMT assessments for land use plans shall be the comparison of existing VMT per capita, 
VMT per employee, and/or VMT per service population for the region with the respective expected 
horizon year VMT metrics for the different land use components (VMT per capita, VMT per employee, 
and/or VMT per service population) of the land use plan (project). If there is a net increase in the VMT 
metric under horizon year conditions, then the project will have a significant impact.  



 

44 

7.0  MITIGATION STRATEGIES 

When a lead agency identifies a potentially significant CEQA VMT impact according to the thresholds 
described in this report, the agency must identify feasible mitigation measures to avoid or 
substantially reduce that impact. Unlike LOS impacts, which may be mitigated with location-specific 
motor vehicle delay improvements, VMT impacts typically require a more regional approach to 
mitigation, including the provision of incentives to effect changes in travel behavior. Enforcement of 
mitigation measures will still be subject to the mitigation monitoring requirements of CEQA, as well 
as the regular police powers of the agency. VMT mitigation measures may also be incorporated into 
the design of plans, policies, regulations, or projects. 

7.1 DEFINITION OF MITIGATION 
Section 15370 of the 2022 State CEQA Guidelines defines mitigations as follows: 

“Mitigation” includes: 

a. Avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action. 

b. Minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action and its 
implementation. 

c. Rectifying the impact by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the impacted environment. 

d. Reducing or eliminating the impact over time by preservation and maintenance 
operations during the life of the action. 

e. Compensating for the impact by replacing or providing substitute resources or 
environments, including through permanent protection of such resources in the form of 
conservation easements. 

Section 15097 of the CEQA Guidelines states that, “the public agency shall adopt a program for 
monitoring or reporting on the revisions which it has required in the project and the measures it has 
imposed to mitigate or avoid significant environmental effects. A public agency may delegate 
reporting or monitoring responsibilities to another public agency or to a private entity which accepts 
the delegation; however, until mitigation measures have been completed the lead agency remains 
responsible for ensuring that implementation of the mitigation measures occurs in accordance with 
the program.” 

VMT mitigations may not necessarily be physical improvements. Such improvements are complex in 
nature and will significantly depend on changes in traveler behavior. Therefore, it will be important 
that lead agencies develop an appropriate monitoring program to ensure the implementation of these 
mitigation measures throughout the life of a project, in compliance with CEQA. The City must also 
coordinate with other responsible agencies as part of the mitigation monitoring program to evaluate 
the ongoing feasibility and durability of the mitigations. 

Historically, mitigation measures for LOS-based transportation impacts have addressed either trip 
generation reductions or traffic-flow-capacity enhancements. LOS mitigation measures typically 



 

45 
 

include physical infrastructure improvements adding capacity to intersections, roadways, ramps, and 
freeways. However, transportation demand management activities, active transportation amenities, 
and other measures designed to reduce the number of new single-occupancy vehicle trips are also 
potential LOS mitigation strategies. 

VMT mitigation measures are significantly different. Most VMT mitigations may seem feasible from a 
theoretical perspective, but practical implementation of these strategies as formal CEQA mitigation 
measures in perpetuity is yet to be tested. Several of these mitigations are contextual and behavioral 
in nature. Their success will depend on the size and location of the project as well as expected changes 
in travel behavior. For example, a project providing a bike share program does not necessarily 
guarantee a travel mode change among the project’s affected population; the level of improvement 
may be uncertain and subject to the travel preferences and attitudes of the population affected. 

LOS mitigations (such as addition of turn lanes) focus more on rectifying a physical CEQA impact 
(strategy “c” of State CEQA Guidelines Section 15370). On the contrary, the majority of VMT 
mitigations (such as commute trip-reduction programs) aim at reducing or eliminating an impact over 
time through preservation and monitoring over the life of the project (strategy “d” of State CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15370). Additionally, some VMT mitigations (such as those focused on land use/
location-based policies) aim at minimizing impacts by reducing the number of trips generated by the 
projects (strategy “b” of State CEQA Guidelines Section 15370). 

Furthermore, it may be determined that some VMT impacts are not able to be feasibly mitigated at 
the project level. Most VMT impacts occur within the context of a regional scale of analysis. The 
incremental change in VMT associated with a project in its particular locational setting might indicate 
a greater VMT increase than individual mitigation strategies can offset. Only a regional solution (e.g., 
completion of a transit system, purchase of more transit buses, or gap closure of a bicycle lane 
network) may offer the incremental change necessary to reduce the VMT impact to an appropriate 
level of significance. Also, VMT, as a proxy for GHG emissions, may not require locational specificity. 
A project does not necessarily need to reduce the VMT at the project site to provide regional or 
statewide VMT and GHG reduction benefits. Offsets in an area where the benefit would be greater 
will have a more effective reduction in VMT and GHG and contribute to achievement of regional and 
statewide climate goals. This regional perspective provides the basis for cap-and-trade style VMT 
mitigation strategies. 

The issues of regional scale, appropriate and timely fair share contributions from projects and/or local 
jurisdictions (partial versus comprehensive participation), and geographic ambiguity confound the 
certainty of the City’s identification of an effective VMT mitigation strategy. Section 15126.4 of the 
State CEQA Guidelines states, “Where several measures are available to mitigate an impact, each 
should be discussed and the basis for selecting a particular measure should be identified. Formulation 
of mitigation measures shall not be deferred until some future time.” [Emphasis added.] Regional 
VMT mitigation is considered the most effective method for large-scale VMT reduction, as cost and 
implementation barriers are often greater than one project may feasibly accommodate. However, 
regionally scaled VMT mitigation strategies may be provided in the form of mitigation banks, fees, 
and/or exchanges, with individual projects subject to contribute to these programs consistent with 
applicable provisions to ensure compliance and consistency with CEQA and other legal requirements. 



 

46 

Section 21099 (b) (4) of the PRC states, “This subdivision [requiring a new transportation metric under 
CEQA] does not preclude the application of local general plan policies, zoning codes, conditions of 
approval, thresholds, or any other planning requirements pursuant to the police power or any other 
authority.” Hence, although automobile delay will no longer be considered a significant impact under 
CEQA, the City can still require projects to meet the LOS standards designated in its zoning code or 
general plan. Therefore, this report is not intended to supersede LOS assessment in the City’s 
evaluation of projects, and a project may still be required to propose LOS improvements for 
congestion relief in addition to the implementation of any VMT mitigation strategies as required by 
CEQA. 

7.2 MITIGATION MEASURES AND PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
Mitigations and project alternatives for VMT impacts have been suggested by the OPR. VMT 
mitigations can be extremely diverse and can be classified under several categories such as land use/
location, road pricing, transit improvements, commute trip reduction strategies, and parking pricing/
policy. However, the issue with VMT mitigations is the quantitative measurement of the relief 
provided by the strategies. How much VMT reduction does a transportation demand management 
program, a bike share program, a transit route, or one mile of sidewalk provide? Improvements 
related to VMT reduction strategies have been quantified in sources such as the California Air 
Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) report Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas 
Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health and Equity (CAPCOA 
Manual) Final Draft, December 2021, and by various resources provided by CARB. This information is 
generally presented with a wide range of potential VMT reduction percentages. This report does not, 
however, confirm the existence of substantial evidence supporting the application of any such 
mitigation measures to projects within the City. If a CAPCOA mitigation measure will be considered 
for a project, it must be determined, through substantial evidence, that the mitigation measure will 
result in VMT reduction in the manner suggested. For example, if a mitigation measure’s VMT 
reduction will be calculated by use of a mathematical formula, the formula, including each of its 
components, must be analyzed to confirm that they reflect the conditions existing in the City, and the 
analysis must be supported by substantial evidence. In other words, a mitigation measure, which is 
reliant upon a formula developed utilizing data from and conditions in a locale that is dissimilar to the 
City, may be inapplicable to a project within the City. Similarly, any mitigation measure suggested by 
CAPCOA that depends on cited reports or studies must be assessed to determine whether substantial 
evidence confirms that such reports and studies apply to the conditions under which a proposed 
project will be developed within the City. Mitigation measures will not be utilized merely because they 
are suggested by CAPCOA or another organization. 

Table F provides a summary of various potential VMT mitigation measures and project alternatives 
presented in the CAPCOA Manual (only those strategies directly attributed to transportation) for 
development projects. For any VMT mitigation measure, the project applicant will be required to 
provide substantial evidence while identifying a project-specific value.  

Additionally, the mitigation measures listed under Table F were compared with the City’s General Plan 
goals and policies. Mitigation measures that would be consistent with the City’s General Plan goals 
and policies have been noted in the table.  



 

47 
 

As for land use plans, the OPR TA does not specifically identify any VMT mitigations. The potential 
VMT mitigation measures for community/general plans are similar to those available for development 
projects, with certain modifications. Therefore, the mitigation measures provided in Table F can be 
used as appropriate. Additional measures may also be applied with substantial evidence. 

It must be noted that Table F provides only summaries of the VMT mitigations provided in the sources 
indicated above. The reader shall refer to the original source for further details and for subsequent 
updates to the mitigation measures. Also, Table F does not provide an exhaustive list of VMT 
mitigation measures for offsetting CEQA transportation impacts. Other measures can also be 
accepted by the City based on the provision of substantial evidence. 

As additional mitigation measures are evaluated to offset VMT impacts in the future for the State 
CEQA Guidelines process, linkages between a specific strategy and its quantified incremental VMT 
reduction effect must be established. This process may be based on the observations and 
measurements provided by other sources or by the City’s experience in these practices. The key to 
effective VMT mitigation is to base its efficacy on real and substantial evidence. 

7.3 FUNDING MECHANISMS 
The change in methodology used for the assessment of CEQA transportation impacts from LOS to 
VMT will lead to a shift in and the scale of mitigation efforts from local and project-specific, to a more 
regional approach. OPR acknowledges the regional nature of VMT impacts and states that regional 
VMT reduction programs and fee programs (in-lieu fees and development impact fees) may be 
appropriate forms of mitigation. Fee programs are particularly useful to address cumulative impacts. 
It is very important for the City to coordinate with KCAG to develop such mitigation programs that 
may be used to fund new transit service or develop applicable active transportation plans or other 
regionally scaled VMT mitigation activities. These programs are regional in nature and best suited for 
administration by a regional agency. Projects may be able to pay into the fee program to offset project 
VMT impact. Regional agencies may also wish to coordinate with appropriate stakeholders, including 
participating local jurisdictions, developers, and other interests while conducting nexus studies and 
checking for rough proportionality and compliance with CEQA. 

Most of the VMT mitigations included in Table F are applicable in urban areas. They are less effective in 
suburban and rural contexts, where traditional transportation demand management strategies are less 
feasible. Thus, site-specific strategies are more suitable in more densely urbanized areas, whereas 
program-level strategies may be more appropriate for some projects located in suburban or rural areas. 
In the latter approach, the cumulative VMT mitigation contributions provided in support of individual 
developments may be used to fund regional VMT reduction strategies that would not be feasible or 
cost-effective at the individual project scale. Apart from fee programs, program-based mitigation 
strategies may include VMT mitigation exchanges and/or VMT mitigation banks. The VMT mitigation 
exchange concept requires a developer to select and implement mitigation project(s) from a 
predetermined list of projects that would serve to reduce the excess new VMT generated by the 
proposed project. On the other hand, a mitigation banking program would assign monetary values for 
VMT reductions that would allow developers to purchase the applicable number of VMT reduction 
credits. These credits would be used to fund larger, regionally scaled VMT mitigation projects 
throughout the affected region. 



 

48 

As previously discussed, VMT impacts are regional in scope. Hence, there may at times be mitigation 
requirements that extend beyond the control of the City, and without the ability of the City to manage 
these mitigations, the impacts might remain significant and unaddressed. Additionally, the 
identification and management of regionally scaled improvements where developers contribute their 
fair share to mitigate impacts might prove to be difficult. Therefore, the City may choose to work 
collaboratively with other jurisdictions within the region to ultimately establish VMT mitigation fee 
programs, mitigation banks, or exchanges to establish a regional mitigation pathway where 
developers contribute to a regionally administered VMT mitigation funding pool in a manner 
commensurate to the impact of their individual project. Procedural flow charts for VMT mitigation 
banks, exchanges, and impact fees are illustrated in Figures 11, 12, and 13, respectively. 



 

49 
 

 
Figure 11: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Bank 

Source: VMT Mitigation Through Banks and Exchanges: Understanding New Mitigation 
Approaches. A White Paper by Fehr & Peers (January 2020). 



 

50 

 
Figure 12: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Exchange 

Source: VMT Mitigation Through Banks and Exchanges: Understanding New Mitigation 
Approaches. A White Paper by Fehr & Peers (January 2020). 



 

51 
 

 
Figure 13: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Impact Fee 

Source: Understanding New Mitigation Approaches. A White Paper by 
Fehr & Peers (January 2020). 



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

1
T
1
In
cr
ea
se

Re
sid

en
tia

lD
en

sit
y

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

ac
co
un

ts
fo
rt
he

ve
hi
cle

m
ile
st
ra
ve
le
d
(V
M
T)
re
du

ct
io
n
ac
hi
ev
ed

by
a
pr
oj
ec
t

th
at

is
de

sig
ne

d
w
ith

a
hi
gh
er

de
ns
ity

of
dw

el
lin
g
un

its
(D
U)

co
m
pa
re
d
to

th
e
av
er
ag
e

re
sid

en
tia

ld
en

sit
y
in
th
e
U.
S.
In
cr
ea
se
d
de

ns
iti
es

af
fe
ct
th
e
di
st
an
ce

pe
op

le
tr
av
el
an
d
pr
ov
id
e

gr
ea
te
ro

pt
io
ns

fo
rt
he

m
od

e
of

tr
av
el
th
ey

ch
oo

se
.I
nc
re
as
in
g
re
sid

en
tia

ld
en

sit
y
re
su
lts

in
sh
or
te
ra

nd
fe
w
er

tr
ip
sb

y
sin

gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

sa
nd

th
us

a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
be

st
qu

an
tif
ie
d
w
he

n
ap
pl
ie
d
to

la
rg
er

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
an
d
de

ve
lo
pm

en
ts
w
he

re
th
e
de

ns
ity

is
so
m
ew

ha
ts
im

ila
rt
o
th
e
su
rr
ou

nd
in
g
ar
ea

du
e
to

th
e
un

de
rly

in
g
re
se
ar
ch

be
in
g

fo
un

de
d
in
da
ta

fro
m

th
e
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
le
ve
l.

Ur
ba
n,
Su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
m
os
ta

cc
ur
at
el
y
qu

an
tif
ie
d
w
he

n
ap
pl
ie
d
to

la
rg
er

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
an
d/
or

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
w
he

re
th
e
de

ns
ity

is
so
m
ew

ha
ts
im

ila
rt
o
th
e
su
rr
ou

nd
in
g
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
.

W
he

n
pa
ire

d
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
2,
In
cr
ea
se

Jo
b
De

ns
ity
,t
he

cu
m
ul
at
iv
e
de

ns
ifi
ca
tio

n
fro

m
th
es
e
m
ea
su
re
sc

an
re
su
lt
in
a

hi
gh
ly
w
al
ka
bl
e
an
d
bi
ke
ab
le
ar
ea
,y
ie
ld
in
g
in
cr
ea
se
d
co

be
ne

fit
si
n
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
ns
,i
m
pr
ov
ed

pu
bl
ic
he

al
th
,a
nd

so
cia

le
qu

ity
.

Re
fe
rt
o
Ca
lif
or
ni
a
Ai
rP

ol
lu
tio

n
Co

nt
ro
l

O
ffi
ce
rs
As
so
cia

tio
n
(C
AP

CO
A)

re
po

rt
Ha

nd
bo

ok
fo
rA

na
ly
zin

g
Gr
ee
nh

ou
se

Ga
s

Em
iss
io
n
Re

du
ct
io
ns
,A

ss
es
sin

g
Cl
im

at
e

Vu
ln
er
ab
ili
tie

s,
an
d
Ad

va
nc
in
g
He

al
th

an
d
Eq
ui
ty

(C
AP

CO
A
M
an
ua
l),

Fi
na
l

Dr
af
t,
De

ce
m
be

r2
02
1,
pa
ge

71
.

Up
to

30
.0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
VM

T
in

th
e
st
ud

y
ar
ea

2
T
2
In
cr
ea
se

Jo
b
De

ns
ity

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

ac
co
un

ts
fo
rt
he

VM
T
re
du

ct
io
n
ac
hi
ev
ed

by
a
pr
oj
ec
tt
ha
ti
sd

es
ig
ne

d
w
ith

a
hi
gh
er

de
ns
ity

of
jo
bs

co
m
pa
re
d
to

th
e
av
er
ag
e
jo
b
de

ns
ity

in
th
e
U.
S.
In
cr
ea
se
d
de

ns
iti
es

af
fe
ct
th
e
di
st
an
ce

pe
op

le
tr
av
el
an
d
pr
ov
id
e
gr
ea
te
ro

pt
io
ns

fo
rt
he

m
od

e
of

tr
av
el
th
ey

ch
oo

se
.I
nc
re
as
in
g
jo
b
de

ns
ity

re
su
lts

in
sh
or
te
ra

nd
fe
w
er

tr
ip
sb

y
sin

gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

s
an
d
th
us

a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
m
os
ta

cc
ur
at
el
y
qu

an
tif
ie
d
w
he

n
ap
pl
ie
d
to

la
rg
er

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
an
d/
or

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
w
he

re
th
e
de

ns
ity

is
so
m
ew

ha
ts
im

ila
rt
o
th
e
su
rr
ou

nd
in
g
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
.

W
he

n
pa
ire

d
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
1,
In
cr
ea
se

Re
sid

en
tia

lD
en

sit
y,

th
e
cu
m
ul
at
iv
e
de

ns
ifi
ca
tio

n
fro

m
th
es
e
m
ea
su
re
sc

an
re
su
lt

in
a
hi
gh
ly
w
al
ka
bl
e
an
d
bi
ke
ab
le
ar
ea
,y
ie
ld
in
g
in
cr
ea
se
d
co

be
ne

fit
si
n
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
ns
,i
m
pr
ov
ed

pu
bl
ic
he

al
th
,a
nd

so
cia

le
qu

ity
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

74
.

Up
to

30
.0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
VM

T
in

th
e
st
ud

y
ar
ea

3
T
3
Pr
ov
id
e
Tr
an
sit

O
rie

nt
ed

De
ve
lo
pm

en
t

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ou

ld
re
du

ce
pr
oj
ec
tV

M
T
in
th
e
st
ud

y
ar
ea

re
la
tiv
e
to

th
e
sa
m
e
pr
oj
ec
ts
ite

d
in

a
no

n
tr
an
sit

or
ie
nt
ed

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t(
TO

D)
lo
ca
tio

n.
TO

D
re
fe
rs
to

pr
oj
ec
ts
bu

ilt
in
co
m
pa
ct
,

w
al
ka
bl
e
ar
ea
st
ha
th

av
e
ea
sy

ac
ce
ss
to

pu
bl
ic
tr
an
sit
,i
de

al
ly
in
a
lo
ca
tio

n
w
ith

a
m
ix
of

us
es
,

in
clu

di
ng

ho
us
in
g,
re
ta
il
of
fic
es
,a
nd

co
m
m
un

ity
fa
cil
iti
es
.P
ro
je
ct
sit
e
re
sid

en
ts
,e
m
pl
oy
ee
s,

an
d
vi
sit
or
sw

ou
ld
ha
ve

ea
sy

ac
ce
ss
to

hi
gh

qu
al
ity

pu
bl
ic
tr
an
sit
,t
he

re
by

en
co
ur
ag
in
g
tr
an
sit

rid
er
sh
ip
an
d
re
du

cin
g
th
e
nu

m
be

ro
fs
in
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
sa

nd
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
.R

ur
al
on

ly
if

ad
ja
ce
nt

to
co
m
m
ut
er

ra
il
st
at
io
n

w
ith

co
nv
en

ie
nt

ra
il
se
rv
ice

to
a

m
aj
or

em
pl
oy
m
en

tc
en

te
r.

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

To
qu

al
ify

as
a
TO

D,
th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
tm

us
tb

e
a
re
sid

en
tia

lo
ro

ffi
ce

pr
oj
ec
tt
ha
ti
s

w
ith

in
a
10

m
in
ut
e
w
al
k
(0
.5
m
ile
)o

fa
hi
gh

fre
qu

en
cy

tr
an
sit

st
at
io
n
(e
ith

er
ra
il,
or

bu
s

ra
pi
d
tr
an
sit

w
ith

he
ad
w
ay
sl
es
st
ha
n
15

m
in
ut
es
).
Id
ea
lly
,t
he

di
st
an
ce

sh
ou

ld
be

no
m
or
e
th
an

0.
25

to
0.
3
of

a
m
ile

bu
tc
ou

ld
be

up
to

0.
5
m
ile

if
th
e
w
al
ki
ng

ro
ut
e
to

st
at
io
n
ca
n
be

ac
ce
ss
ed

by
pe

de
st
ria

n
fri
en

dl
y
ro
ut
es
.U

se
rs
sh
ou

ld
co
nf
irm

“u
nm

iti
ga
te
d”

or
“b
as
el
in
e”

VM
T
do

es
no

ta
lre

ad
y
ac
co
un

tf
or

re
du

ct
io
ns

fro
m

tr
an
sit

pr
ox
im

ity
.

W
he

n
bu

ild
in
g
TO

D,
a
be

st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

in
co
rp
or
at
e
bi
ke

an
d
pe

de
st
ria

n
ac
ce
ss
in
to

th
e
la
rg
er

ne
tw

or
k
to

in
cr
ea
se

th
e

lik
el
ih
oo

d
of

tr
an
sit

us
e.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

77
.

Up
to

31
.0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
VM

T
in

th
e
st
ud

y
ar
ea

4
T
4
In
te
gr
at
e
Af
fo
rd
ab
le
an
d
Be

lo
w

M
ar
ke
tR

at
e
Ho

us
in
g

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sb

el
ow

m
ar
ke
tr
at
e
(B
M
R)

ho
us
in
g.
BM

R
ho

us
in
g
pr
ov
id
es

gr
ea
te
r

op
po

rt
un

ity
fo
rl
ow

er
in
co
m
e
fa
m
ili
es

to
liv
e
clo

se
rt
o
jo
b
ce
nt
er
sa

nd
ac
hi
ev
e
a
jo
bs
/h
ou

sin
g

m
at
ch

ne
ar

tr
an
sit
.I
ti
sa

lso
an

im
po

rt
an
ts
tr
at
eg
y
to

ad
dr
es
st
he

lim
ite

d
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
of

af
fo
rd
ab
le
ho

us
in
g
th
at

m
ig
ht

fo
rc
e
re
sid

en
ts
to

liv
e
fa
ra

w
ay

fro
m

jo
bs

or
sc
ho

ol
,r
eq

ui
rin

g
lo
ng
er

co
m
m
ut
es
.T
he

qu
an
tif
ica

tio
n
m
et
ho

d
fo
rt
hi
sm

ea
su
re

ac
co
un

ts
fo
rV

M
T
re
du

ct
io
ns

ac
hi
ev
ed

fo
rm

ul
tif
am

ily
re
sid

en
tia

lp
ro
je
ct
st
ha
ta

re
de

ed
re
st
ric
te
d
or

ot
he

rw
ise

pe
rm

an
en

tly
de

di
ca
te
d
as

af
fo
rd
ab
le
ho

us
in
g.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

M
ul
tif
am

ily
re
sid

en
tia

lu
ni
ts
m
us
tb

e
pe

rm
an
en

tly
de

di
ca
te
d
as

af
fo
rd
ab
le
fo
rl
ow

er
in
co
m
e
fa
m
ili
es
.T
he

Ca
lif
or
ni
a
De

pa
rt
m
en

to
fH

ou
sin

g
an
d
Co

m
m
un

ity
De

ve
lo
pm

en
t

(2
02
1)

de
fin

es
lo
w
er

in
co
m
e
as

80
pe

rc
en

to
fa

re
a
m
ed

ia
n
in
co
m
e
or

be
lo
w
,a
nd

af
fo
rd
ab
le
ho

us
in
g
as

co
st
in
g
30

pe
rc
en

to
fg
ro
ss
ho

us
eh

ol
d
in
co
m
e
or

le
ss
.

Pa
ir
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
1,
In
cr
ea
se

Re
sid

en
tia

lD
en

sit
y,
an
d

M
ea
su
re

T
2,
In
cr
ea
se

Jo
b
De

ns
ity
,t
o
ac
hi
ev
e
gr
ea
te
r

po
pu

la
tio

n
an
d
em

pl
oy
m
en

td
iv
er
sit
y.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

81
.

Up
to

28
.6
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

m
ul
tif
am

ily
re
sid

en
tia

lV
M
T

5
T
5
Im

pl
em

en
tC

om
m
ut
e
Tr
ip

Re
du

ct
io
n
Pr
og
ra
m

(V
ol
un

ta
ry
)

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
im

pl
em

en
ta

vo
lu
nt
ar
y
co
m
m
ut
e
tr
ip
re
du

ct
io
n
(C
TR

)p
ro
gr
am

w
ith

em
pl
oy
er
s.
CT
R
pr
og
ra
m
sd

isc
ou

ra
ge

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
sa

nd
en

co
ur
ag
e
al
te
rn
at
iv
e

m
od

es
of

tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
su
ch

as
ca
rp
oo

lin
g,
ta
ki
ng

tr
an
sit
,w

al
ki
ng
,a
nd

bi
ki
ng
,t
he

re
by

re
du

cin
g
VM

T
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.V

ol
un

ta
ry

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
el
em

en
ts
ar
e
de

sc
rib

ed
in
th
is

m
ea
su
re
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Vo
lu
nt
ar
y
CT
R
pr
og
ra
m
sm

us
ti
nc
lu
de

th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
el
em

en
ts
to

ap
pl
y
th
e
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
ns

re
po

rt
ed

in
lit
er
at
ur
e.

Em
pl
oy
er

pr
ov
id
ed

se
rv
ice

s,
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e,
an
d
in
ce
nt
iv
es

fo
ra

lte
rn
at
iv
e
m
od

es
su
ch

as
rid

es
ha
rin

g
(M

ea
su
re

T
8)
,d
isc

ou
nt
ed

tr
an
sit

(M
ea
su
re

T
9)
,b
icy

cli
ng

(M
ea
su
re

T
10
),
va
np

oo
l(
M
ea
su
re

T
11
),
an
d
gu
ar
an
te
ed

rid
e
ho

m
e.

In
fo
rm

at
io
n,
co
or
di
na
tio

n,
an
d
m
ar
ke
tin

g
fo
rs
ai
d
se
rv
ice

s,
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e,
an
d

in
ce
nt
iv
es

(M
ea
su
re

T
7)
.

O
th
er

st
ra
te
gi
es

m
ay

al
so

be
in
clu

de
d
as

pa
rt
of

a
vo
lu
nt
ar
y

CT
R
pr
og
ra
m
,t
ho

ug
h
th
ey

ar
e
no

ti
nc
lu
de

d
in
th
e
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
ns

re
po

rt
ed

by
lit
er
at
ur
e
an
d
th
us

ar
e
no

t
in
co
rp
or
at
ed

in
th
e
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
ns

fo
rt
hi
sm

ea
su
re
.T
hi
s

pr
og
ra
m

ty
pi
ca
lly

se
rv
es

as
a
co
m
pl
em

en
tt
o
th
e
m
or
e

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
w
or
kp
la
ce

CT
R
m
ea
su
re
ss
uc
h
as

pr
ici
ng

w
or
kp
la
ce

pa
rk
in
g
(M

ea
su
re

T
12
)o

ri
m
pl
em

en
tin

g
em

pl
oy
ee

pa
rk
in
g

“c
as
h
ou

t”
(M

ea
su
re

T
13
).

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

84
.

Up
to

4.
0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

6
T
6
Im

pl
em

en
tC

om
m
ut
e
Tr
ip

Re
du

ct
io
n
Pr
og
ra
m

(M
an
da
to
ry

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
an
d
M
on

ito
rin

g)

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
im

pl
em

en
ta

m
an
da
to
ry

CT
R
pr
og
ra
m

w
ith

em
pl
oy
er
s.
CT
R
pr
og
ra
m
s

di
sc
ou

ra
ge

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
sa

nd
en

co
ur
ag
e
al
te
rn
at
iv
e
m
od

es
of

tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
su
ch

as
ca
rp
oo

lin
g,
ta
ki
ng

tr
an
sit
,w

al
ki
ng
,a
nd

bi
ki
ng
,t
he

re
by

re
du

cin
g
VM

T
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
e
m
an
da
to
ry

CT
R
pr
og
ra
m

m
us
ti
nc
lu
de

al
lo
th
er

el
em

en
ts
(i.
e.
,M

ea
su
re
sT

7
th
ro
ug
h
T
11
)d

es
cr
ib
ed

fo
rt
he

vo
lu
nt
ar
y
pr
og
ra
m

(M
ea
su
re

T
5)

pl
us

in
clu

de
m
an
da
to
ry

tr
ip
re
du

ct
io
n
re
qu

ire
m
en

ts
(in

clu
di
ng

pe
na
lti
es

fo
rn

on
co
m
pl
ia
nc
e)

an
d

re
gu
la
rm

on
ito

rin
g
an
d
re
po

rt
in
g
to

en
su
re

th
e
ca
lcu

la
te
d
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n
m
at
ch
es

th
e

ob
se
rv
ed

VM
T
re
du

ct
io
n.

Th
is
pr
og
ra
m

ty
pi
ca
lly

se
rv
es

as
a
co
m
pl
em

en
tt
o
th
e
m
or
e

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
w
or
kp
la
ce

CT
R
m
ea
su
re
s,
su
ch

as
pr
ici
ng

w
or
kp
la
ce

pa
rk
in
g
(M

ea
su
re

T
12
)o

ri
m
pl
em

en
tin

g
em

pl
oy
ee

pa
rk
in
g

“c
as
h
ou

t”
(M

ea
su
re

T
13
).

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

87
.

Up
to

26
.0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

7
T
7
Im

pl
em

en
tC

om
m
ut
e
Tr
ip

Re
du

ct
io
n
M
ar
ke
tin

g

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
im

pl
em

en
ta

m
ar
ke
tin

g
st
ra
te
gy

to
pr
om

ot
e
th
e
pr
oj
ec
ts
ite

em
pl
oy
er
’s
CT
R

pr
og
ra
m
.I
nf
or
m
at
io
n
sh
ar
in
g
an
d
m
ar
ke
tin

g
pr
om

ot
e
an
d
ed

uc
at
e
em

pl
oy
ee
sa

bo
ut

th
ei
r

tr
av
el
ch
oi
ce
st
o
th
e
em

pl
oy
m
en

t l
oc
at
io
n
be

yo
nd

dr
iv
in
g
su
ch

as
ca
rp
oo

lin
g,
ta
ki
ng

tr
an
sit
,

w
al
ki
ng
,a
nd

bi
ki
ng
,t
he

re
by

re
du

cin
g
VM

T
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
fe
at
ur
es

(o
rs
im

ila
ra

lte
rn
at
iv
es
)o

ft
he

m
ar
ke
tin

g
st
ra
te
gy

ar
e
es
se
nt
ia
l

fo
re

ffe
ct
iv
en

es
s.

O
ns
ite

or
on

lin
e
co
m
m
ut
er

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
se
rv
ice

s.
Em

pl
oy
ee

tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
co
or
di
na
to
rs
.

O
ns
ite

or
on

lin
e
tr
an
sit

pa
ss

sa
le
s.

Gu
ar
an
te
ed

rid
e
ho

m
e
se
rv
ice

.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ck
ag
ed

w
ith

ot
he

rc
om

m
ut
e
tr
ip

re
du

ct
io
n
m
ea
su
re
s(
M
ea
su
re
sT

8
th
ro
ug
h
T
13
)a
sa

co
m
pr
eh

en
siv

e
CT
R
pr
og
ra
m

(M
ea
su
re

T
5
or

T
6)
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

90
.

Up
to

4.
0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

8
T
8
Pr
ov
id
e
Ri
de

sh
ar
in
g
Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
im

pl
em

en
ta

rid
es
ha
rin

g
pr
og
ra
m

an
d
es
ta
bl
ish

a
pe

rm
an
en

tt
ra
ns
po

rt
at
io
n

m
an
ag
em

en
ta

ss
oc
ia
tio

n
w
ith

fu
nd

in
g
re
qu

ire
m
en

ts
fo
re

m
pl
oy
er
s.
Ri
de

sh
ar
in
g
en

co
ur
ag
es

ca
rp
oo

le
d
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
si
n
pl
ac
e
of

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pi
ed

ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
s,
th
er
eb

y
re
du

cin
g
th
e
nu

m
be

r
of

tr
ip
s,
VM

T,
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Ri
de

sh
ar
in
g
m
us
tb

e
pr
om

ot
ed

th
ro
ug
h
a
m
ul
tif
ac
et
ed

ap
pr
oa
ch
.E
xa
m
pl
es

in
clu

de
th
e

fo
llo
w
in
g.

De
sig

na
tin

g
a
ce
rt
ai
n
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

of
de

sir
ab
le
pa
rk
in
g
sp
ac
es

fo
rr
id
es
ha
rin

g
ve
hi
cle

s.
De

sig
na
tin

g
ad
eq

ua
te

pa
ss
en

ge
rl
oa
di
ng

an
d
un

lo
ad
in
g
an
d
w
ai
tin

g
ar
ea
sf
or

rid
es
ha
rin

g
ve
hi
cle

s.
Pr
ov
id
in
g
an

ap
p
or

w
eb

sit
e
fo
rc
oo

rd
in
at
in
g
rid

es
.

W
he

n
pr
ov
id
in
g
a
rid

es
ha
rin

g
pr
og
ra
m
,a

be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

es
ta
bl
ish

fu
nd

in
g
by

a
no

n
re
vo
ca
bl
e
fu
nd

in
g
m
ec
ha
ni
sm

fo
r

em
pl
oy
er

pr
ov
id
ed

su
bs
id
ie
s.
In
ad
di
tio

n,
en

co
ur
ag
e
us
e
of

lo
w

em
iss
io
n
rid

es
ha
rin

g
ve
hi
cle

s(
e.
g.
,s
ha
re
d
Ub

er
Gr
ee
n)
.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

an
y
co
m
bi
na
tio

n
of

th
e

ot
he

rc
om

m
ut
e
tr
ip
re
du

ct
io
n
st
ra
te
gi
es

(M
ea
su
re
sT

7
th
ro
ug
h
T
13
)f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d
re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

93
.

Up
to

8.
0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

9
T
9
Im

pl
em

en
tS

ub
sid

ize
d
or

Di
sc
ou

nt
ed

Tr
an
sit

Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
su
bs
id
ize

d
or

di
sc
ou

nt
ed

,o
rf
re
e
tr
an
sit

pa
ss
es

fo
re

m
pl
oy
ee
s

an
d/
or

re
sid

en
ts
.R

ed
uc
in
g
th
e
ou

to
fp

oc
ke
tc
os
tf
or

ch
oo

sin
g
tr
an
sit

im
pr
ov
es

th
e

co
m
pe

tit
iv
en

es
so

ft
ra
ns
it
ag
ai
ns
td

riv
in
g,
in
cr
ea
sin

g
th
e
to
ta
ln
um

be
ro

ft
ra
ns
it
tr
ip
sa

nd
de

cr
ea
sin

g
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
s.
Th
is
de

cr
ea
se

in
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
sr
es
ul
ts
in
re
du

ce
d
VM

T
an
d
th
us

a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
e
pr
oj
ec
ts
ho

ul
d
be

ac
ce
ss
ib
le
ei
th
er

w
ith

in
1
m
ile

of
hi
gh

qu
al
ity

tr
an
sit

se
rv
ice

(ra
il

or
bu

sw
ith

he
ad
w
ay
so

fl
es
st
ha
n
15

m
in
ut
es
),
0.
5
m
ile

of
lo
ca
l o
rl
es
sf
re
qu

en
tt
ra
ns
it

se
rv
ice

,o
ra

lo
ng

a
de

sig
na
te
d
sh
ut
tle

ro
ut
e
pr
ov
id
in
g
la
st

m
ile

co
nn

ec
tio

ns
to

ra
il

se
rv
ice

.I
fa

w
el
le

st
ab
lis
he

d
bi
ke
sh
ar
e
se
rv
ice

(M
ea
su
re

T
22

A)
is
av
ai
la
bl
e,
th
e
sit
e

m
ay

be
lo
ca
te
d
up

to
2
m
ile
sf
ro
m

a
hi
gh

qu
al
ity

tr
an
sit

se
rv
ice

.
If
m
or
e
th
an

on
e
tr
an
sit

ag
en

cy
se
rv
es

th
e
sit
e,
su
bs
id
ie
ss

ho
ul
d
be

pr
ov
id
ed

th
at

ca
n
be

ap
pl
ie
d
to

ea
ch

of
th
e
se
rv
ice

sa
va
ila
bl
e.
If
su
bs
id
ie
sa

re
ap
pl
ie
d
fo
ro

nl
y
on

e
se
rv
ice

,a
ll

va
ria

bl
e
in
pu

ts
be

lo
w
sh
ou

ld
al
so

pe
rt
ai
n
on

ly
to

th
e
se
rv
ice

th
at

is
su
bs
id
ize

d.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

an
y
co
m
bi
na
tio

n
of

th
e

ot
he

rc
om

m
ut
e
tr
ip
re
du

ct
io
n
st
ra
te
gi
es

(M
ea
su
re
sT

7
th
ro
ug
h
T
13
)f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d
re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

96
.

Up
to

5.
5
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

em
pl
oy
ee
/r
es
id
en

tv
eh

icl
es

ac
ce
ss
in
g
th
e
sit
e

10
T
10

Pr
ov
id
e
En
d
of

Tr
ip
Bi
cy
cle

Fa
cil
iti
es

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
in
st
al
la
nd

m
ai
nt
ai
n
en

d
of

tr
ip
fa
cil
iti
es

fo
re

m
pl
oy
ee

us
e.
En
d
of

tr
ip

fa
cil
iti
es

in
clu

de
bi
ke

pa
rk
in
g,
bi
ke

lo
ck
er
s,
sh
ow

er
s,
an
d
pe

rs
on

al
lo
ck
er
s.
Th
e
pr
ov
isi
on

an
d

m
ai
nt
en

an
ce

of
se
cu
re

bi
ke

pa
rk
in
g
an
d
re
la
te
d
fa
cil
iti
es

en
co
ur
ag
es

co
m
m
ut
in
g
by

bi
cy
cle

,
th
er
eb

y
re
du

cin
g
VM

T
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

En
d
of

tr
ip
fa
cil
iti
es

sh
ou

ld
be

in
st
al
le
d
at

a
siz
e
pr
op

or
tio

na
lt
o
th
e
nu

m
be

ro
f

co
m
m
ut
in
g
bi
cy
cli
st
sa

nd
re
gu
la
rly

m
ai
nt
ai
ne

d.

Be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

in
clu

de
an

on
sit
e
bi
cy
cle

re
pa
ir
st
at
io
n
an
d

po
st
sig

na
ge

on
or

ne
ar

se
cu
re

pa
rk
in
g
an
d
pe

rs
on

al
lo
ck
er
s

w
ith

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
ab
ou

th
ow

to
re
se
rv
e
or

ob
ta
in
ac
ce
ss
to

th
es
e
am

en
iti
es
.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

an
y
co
m
bi
na
tio

n
of

th
e

ot
he

rc
om

m
ut
e
tr
ip
re
du

ct
io
n
st
ra
te
gi
es

(M
ea
su
re
sT

7
th
ro
ug
h
T
13
)f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d
re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

10
1.

Up
to

4.
4
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

11
T
11

Pr
ov
id
e
Em

pl
oy
er

Sp
on

so
re
d

Va
np

oo
l

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
im

pl
em

en
ta

n
em

pl
oy
er

sp
on

so
re
d
va
np

oo
ls
er
vi
ce
.V

an
po

ol
in
g
is
a
fle

xi
bl
e

fo
rm

of
pu

bl
ic
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
th
at

pr
ov
id
es

gr
ou

ps
of

5
to

15
pe

op
le
w
ith

a
co
st

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
an
d

co
nv
en

ie
nt

rid
es
ha
re

op
tio

n
fo
rc
om

m
ut
in
g.
Th
e
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

lo
ng

di
st
an
ce
,s
in
gl
e

oc
cu
pi
ed

ve
hi
cle

st
o
sh
ar
ed

ve
hi
cle

sr
ed

uc
es

ov
er
al
lc
om

m
ut
e
VM

T,
th
er
eb

y
re
du

cin
g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Va
np

oo
lp
ro
gr
am

sa
re

m
or
e
ap
pr
op

ria
te

fo
rt
he

bu
ild
in
g
oc
cu
pa
nt

or
te
na
nt

(i.
e.
,

em
pl
oy
er
)t
o
im

pl
em

en
ta

nd
m
on

ito
rt
ha
n
th
e
bu

ild
in
g
ow

ne
r o

rd
ev
el
op

er
.

W
he

n
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
a
va
np

oo
ls
er
vi
ce
,b
es
tp

ra
ct
ice

is
to

su
bs
id
ize

th
e
co
st
fo
re

m
pl
oy
ee
st
ha
th

av
e
a
sim

ila
ro

rig
in

an
d
de

st
in
at
io
n
an
d
pr
ov
id
e
pr
io
rit
y
pa
rk
in
g
fo
re

m
pl
oy
ee
s

th
at

va
np

oo
l.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

an
y
co
m
bi
na
tio

n
of

th
e

ot
he

rc
om

m
ut
e
tr
ip
re
du

ct
io
n
st
ra
te
gi
es

(M
ea
su
re
sT

7
th
ro
ug
h
T
13
)f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d
re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

10
5.

Up
to

20
.4
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

12
T
12

Pr
ice

W
or
kp
la
ce

Pa
rk
in
g

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
pr
ice

on
sit
e
pa
rk
in
g
at

w
or
kp
la
ce
s.
Be

ca
us
e
fre

e
em

pl
oy
ee

pa
rk
in
g
is
a

co
m
m
on

be
ne

fit
,c
ha
rg
in
g
em

pl
oy
ee
st
o
pa
rk

on
sit
e
in
cr
ea
se
st
he

co
st
of

ch
oo

sin
g
to

dr
iv
e
to

w
or
k.
Th
is
is
ex
pe

ct
ed

to
re
du

ce
sin

gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

co
m
m
ut
e
tr
ip
s,
re
su
lti
ng

in
de

cr
ea
se
d
VM

T,
th
er
eb

y
re
du

cin
g
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
m
ay

in
clu

de
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g.

Ex
pl
ici
tly

ch
ar
gi
ng

fo
re

m
pl
oy
ee

pa
rk
in
g.

Im
pl
em

en
tin

g
ab
ov
e
m
ar
ke
tr
at
e
pr
ici
ng
.

Va
lid
at
in
g
pa
rk
in
g
on

ly
fo
ri
nv
ite

d
gu
es
ts
(o
rn

ot
pr
ov
id
in
g
pa
rk
in
g
va
lid
at
io
n
at

al
l).

No
tp

ro
vi
di
ng

em
pl
oy
ee

pa
rk
in
g
an
d
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
al
lo
w
an
ce
s.

In
ad
di
tio

n,
th
is
m
ea
su
re

sh
ou

ld
in
clu

de
m
ar
ke
tin

g
an
d
ed

uc
at
io
n
re
ga
rd
in
g
av
ai
la
bl
e

al
te
rn
at
iv
es

to
dr
iv
in
g.

Be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

en
su
re

th
at

ot
he

rt
ra
ns
po

rt
at
io
n
op

tio
ns

ar
e
av
ai
la
bl
e,
co
nv
en

ie
nt
,a
nd

ha
ve

co
m
pe

tit
iv
e
tr
av
el
tim

es
(i.
e.
,t
ra
ns
it
se
rv
ice

ne
ar

th
e
pr
oj
ec
ts
ite

,s
hu

tt
le
se
rv
ice

,o
ra

co
m
pl
et
e
ac
tiv

e
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
ne

tw
or
k
se
rv
in
g
th
e
sit
e
an
d

su
rr
ou

nd
in
g
co
m
m
un

ity
),
an
d
th
at

th
er
e
is
no

ta
lte

rn
at
iv
e

fre
e
pa
rk
in
g
av
ai
la
bl
e
ne

ar
by

(s
uc
h
as

on
st
re
et
).
Th
is

m
ea
su
re

is
su
bs
ta
nt
ia
lly

le
ss
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
in
en

vi
ro
nm

en
ts
th
at

do
no

th
av
e
ot
he

rm
od

es
av
ai
la
bl
e
or

w
he

re
un

re
st
ric
te
d

st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g
or

ot
he

ro
ffs
ite

pa
rk
in
g
is
av
ai
la
bl
e
ne

ar
by

an
d

ha
sa

de
qu

at
e
ca
pa
cit
y
to

ac
co
m
m
od

at
e
pr
oj
ec
tr
el
at
ed

ve
hi
cle

pa
rk
in
g
de

m
an
d.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

11
0.

Up
to

20
.0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

13
T
13

Im
pl
em

en
tE

m
pl
oy
ee

Pa
rk
in
g

Ca
sh

O
ut

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
re
qu

ire
pr
oj
ec
te

m
pl
oy
er
st
o
of
fe
re

m
pl
oy
ee

pa
rk
in
g
ca
sh

ou
t.
Ca
sh

ou
ti
s

w
he

n
em

pl
oy
er
sp

ro
vi
de

em
pl
oy
ee
sw

ith
a
ch
oi
ce

of
fo
rg
oi
ng

th
ei
rc
ur
re
nt

su
bs
id
ize

d/
fre

e
pa
rk
in
g
fo
ra

ca
sh

pa
ym

en
te

qu
iv
al
en

tt
o
or

gr
ea
te
rt
ha
n
th
e
co
st
of

th
e
pa
rk
in
g
sp
ac
e.
Th
is

en
co
ur
ag
es

em
pl
oy
ee
st
o
us
e
ot
he

rm
od

es
of

tr
av
el
in
st
ea
d
of

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

s.
Th
is

m
od

e
sh
ift

re
su
lts

in
pe

op
le
dr
iv
in
g
le
ss
an
d
th
er
eb

y
re
du

ce
sV

M
T
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

To
pr
ev
en

ts
pi
ll
ov
er

pa
rk
in
g
an
d
co
nt
in
ue

d
us
e
of

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

s,
re
sid

en
tia

l
pa
rk
in
g
in
th
e
su
rr
ou

nd
in
g
ar
ea

m
us
tb

e
pe

rm
itt
ed

,a
nd

pu
bl
ic
on

st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g
m
us
t

be
m
ar
ke
tr
at
e.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

m
an
y
ot
he

rc
om

m
ut
e
tr
ip

re
du

ct
io
n
st
ra
te
gi
es

(M
ea
su
re
sT

7
th
ro
ug
h
T
11
)f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d
re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

11
4.

Up
to

12
.0
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
/s
ite

em
pl
oy
ee

co
m
m
ut
e
VM

T

14
T
14

Pr
ov
id
e
El
ec
tr
ic
Ve

hi
cle

Ch
ar
gi
ng

In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

In
st
al
lo
ns
ite

el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

ch
ar
ge
rs
in
an

am
ou

nt
be

yo
nd

w
ha
ti
sr
eq

ui
re
d
by

th
e
20
19

Ca
lif
or
ni
a
Gr
ee
n
Bu

ild
in
g
St
an
da
rd
s(
CA

LG
re
en

)a
tb

ui
ld
in
gs

w
ith

de
sig

na
te
d
pa
rk
in
g
ar
ea
s

(e
.g
.,
co
m
m
er
cia

l,
ed

uc
at
io
na
l,
re
ta
il,
m
ul
tif
am

ily
).
Th
is
w
ill
en

ab
le
dr
iv
er
so

fp
lu
g
in
hy
br
id

el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

s(
PH

EV
s)
to

dr
iv
e
a
la
rg
er

sh
ar
e
of

m
ile
si
n
el
ec
tr
ic
m
od

e
(e
VM

T)
,a
so

pp
os
ed

to
ga
so
lin
e
po

w
er
ed

m
od

e,
th
er
eb

y
di
sp
la
cin

g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns

fro
m

ga
so
lin
e
co
ns
um

pt
io
n
w
ith

a
le
ss
er

am
ou

nt
of

in
di
re
ct
em

iss
io
ns

fro
m

el
ec
tr
ici
ty
.M

os
tP

HE
Vs

ow
ne

rs
ch
ar
ge

th
ei
rv

eh
icl
es

at
ho

m
e
ov
er
ni
gh
t.
W
he

n
m
ak
in
g
tr
ip
sd

ur
in
g
th
e
da
y,
th
e
ve
hi
cle

w
ill
sw

itc
h
to

ga
so
lin
e
m
od

e
if/
w
he

n
it
re
ac
he

si
ts
m
ax
im

um
al
le

le
ct
ric

ra
ng
e.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Pa
rk
in
g
at

th
e
ch
ar
ge
rs
m
us
tb

e
lim

ite
d
to

el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

s.

In
ad
di
tio

n
to

in
cr
ea
sin

g
th
e
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

of
el
ec
tr
ic
m
ile
sf
or

PH
EV

s,
th
e
in
cr
ea
se
d
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
of

ch
ar
ge
rs
fro

m
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
m
iti
ga
te

co
ns
um

er
“r
an
ge

an
xi
et
y”

co
nc
er
ns

an
d
in
cr
ea
se

th
e
ad
op

tio
n
an
d
us
e

of
ba
tt
er
y
el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

s(
BE

Vs
),
bu

tt
hi
sp

ot
en

tia
le
ffe

ct
is

no
ti
nc
lu
de

d
in
th
e
ca
lcu

la
tio

ns
as

a
co
ns
er
va
tiv
e

as
su
m
pt
io
n.
Ex
pa
nd

ed
m
iti
ga
tio

n
co
ul
d
in
clu

de
qu

an
tif
ica

tio
n
of

th
e
ef
fe
ct
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re

on
BE

V
us
e.

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

15
T
15

Lim
it
Re

sid
en

tia
lP
ar
ki
ng

Su
pp

ly

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
re
du

ce
th
e
to
ta
lp
ar
ki
ng

su
pp

ly
av
ai
la
bl
e
at

a
re
sid

en
tia

lp
ro
je
ct
or

sit
e.

Lim
iti
ng

th
e
am

ou
nt

of
pa
rk
in
g
av
ai
la
bl
e
cr
ea
te
ss
ca
rc
ity

an
d
ad
ds

ad
di
tio

na
lt
im

e
an
d

in
co
nv
en

ie
nc
e
to

tr
ip
sm

ad
e
by

pr
iv
at
e
au
to
,t
hu

sd
isi
nc
en

tiv
izi
ng

dr
iv
in
g
as

a
m
od

e
of

tr
av
el
.

Re
du

cin
g
th
e
co
nv
en

ie
nc
e
of

dr
iv
in
g
re
su
lts

in
a
sh
ift

to
ot
he

rm
od

es
an
d
de

cr
ea
se
d
VM

T
an
d

th
us

a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.E
vi
de

nc
e
of

th
e
ef
fe
ct
so

fr
ed

uc
ed

pa
rk
in
g
su
pp

ly
is

st
ro
ng
es
tf
or

re
sid

en
tia

ld
ev
el
op

m
en

ts
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
in
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
in
lo
ca
tio

ns
w
he

re
un

re
st
ric
te
d
st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g
or

ot
he

ro
ffs
ite

pa
rk
in
g
is
av
ai
la
bl
e
ne

ar
by

an
d
ha
sa

de
qu

at
e
ca
pa
cit
y
to

ac
co
m
m
od

at
e
pr
oj
ec
tr
el
at
ed

ve
hi
cle

pa
rk
in
g
de

m
an
d.

W
he

n
lim

iti
ng

pa
rk
in
g
su
pp

ly
,a

be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

do
so

at
sit
es

th
at

ar
e
lo
ca
te
d
ne

ar
hi
gh

qu
al
ity

al
te
rn
at
iv
e
m
od

es
of

tr
av
el
(s
uc
h
as

a
ra
il
st
at
io
n,
fre

qu
en

tb
us

lin
e,
or

in
a
hi
gh
er

de
ns
ity

ar
ea

w
ith

m
ul
tip

le
w
al
ka
bl
e
lo
ca
tio

ns
ne

ar
by
).

Lim
iti
ng

pa
rk
in
g
su
pp

ly
m
ay

al
so

al
lo
w
fo
rm

or
e
ac
tiv

e
us
es

on
an
y
gi
ve
n
lo
t,
w
hi
ch

m
ay

su
pp

or
tM

ea
su
re
sT

1
an
d
T
2

by
al
lo
w
in
g
fo
rh

ig
he

rd
en

sit
y
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

12
3.

Up
to

13
.7
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

re
sid

en
t

ve
hi
cle

sa
cc
es
sin

g
th
e
sit
e

16
T
16

Un
bu

nd
le
Re

sid
en

tia
lP
ar
ki
ng

Co
st
sf
ro
m

Pr
op

er
ty
Co

st

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
un

bu
nd

le
,o

rs
ep

ar
at
e,
a
re
sid

en
tia

lp
ro
je
ct
’s
pa
rk
in
g
co
st
sf
ro
m

pr
op

er
ty

co
st
s,
re
qu

iri
ng

th
os
e
w
ho

w
ish

to
pu

rc
ha
se

pa
rk
in
g
sp
ac
es

to
do

so
at

an
ad
di
tio

na
lc
os
t.
O
n

th
e
as
su
m
pt
io
n
th
at

pa
rk
in
g
co
st
sa

re
pa
ss
ed

th
ro
ug
h
to

th
e
ve
hi
cle

ow
ne

rs
/d
riv

er
su

til
izi
ng

th
e
pa
rk
in
g
sp
ac
es
,t
hi
sm

ea
su
re

re
su
lts

in
de

cr
ea
se
d
ve
hi
cle

ow
ne

rs
hi
p
an
d,
th
er
ef
or
e,
a

re
du

ct
io
n
in
VM

T
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.U

nb
un

dl
in
g
m
ay

no
tb

e
av
ai
la
bl
e
to

al
lr
es
id
en

tia
l

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
,d
ep

en
di
ng

on
fu
nd

in
g
so
ur
ce
s.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Pa
rk
in
g
co
st
sm

us
tb

e
pa
ss
ed

th
ro
ug
h
to

th
e
ve
hi
cle

ow
ne

rs
/d
riv

er
su

til
izi
ng

th
e
pa
rk
in
g

sp
ac
es

fo
rt
hi
sm

ea
su
re

to
re
su
lt
in
de

cr
ea
se
d
ve
hi
cle

ow
ne

rs
hi
p.

Pa
ir
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
19

A
or

T
19

B
to

en
su
re

th
at

re
sid

en
ts

w
ho

el
im

in
at
e
th
ei
rv

eh
icl
e
an
d
sh
ift

to
a
bi
cy
cle

ca
n
sa
fe
ly

ac
ce
ss
th
e
ar
ea
’s
bi
ke
w
ay

ne
tw

or
k.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

12
7.

Up
to

15
.7
pe

rc
en

tp
ro
je
ct
VM

T
in

th
e
st
ud

y
ar
ea

17
T
17

Im
pr
ov
e
St
re
et

Co
nn

ec
tiv

ity

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

ac
co
un

ts
fo
rt
he

VM
T
re
du

ct
io
n
ac
hi
ev
ed

by
a
pr
oj
ec
tt
ha
ti
sd

es
ig
ne

d
w
ith

a
hi
gh
er

de
ns
ity

of
ve
hi
cle

in
te
rs
ec
tio

ns
co
m
pa
re
d
to

th
e
av
er
ag
e
in
te
rs
ec
tio

n
de

ns
ity

in
th
e
U.
S.

In
cr
ea
se
d
ve
hi
cle

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n
de

ns
ity

is
a
pr
ox
y
fo
rs
tr
ee
tc
on

ne
ct
iv
ity

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
,w

hi
ch

he
lp
to

fa
cil
ita

te
a
gr
ea
te
rn

um
be

ro
fs
ho

rt
er

tr
ip
sa

nd
th
us

a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Pr
oj
ec
ts
th
at

in
cr
ea
se

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n
de

ns
ity

w
ou

ld
be

bu
ild
in
g
a
ne

w
st
re
et

ne
tw

or
k
in
a

su
bd

iv
isi
on

or
re
tr
of
itt
in
g
an

ex
ist
in
g
st
re
et

ne
tw

or
k
to

im
pr
ov
e
co
nn

ec
tiv

ity
(e
.g
.,

co
nv
er
tin

g
cu
ld

e
sa
cs

or
de

ad
en

d
st
re
et
st
o
gr
id
st
re
et
s)
.

Pa
ir
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
18
,P
ro
vi
de

Pe
de

st
ria

n
Ne

tw
or
k

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t,
to

be
st
su
pp

or
tu

se
of

th
e
lo
ca
lp
ed

es
tr
ia
n

ne
tw

or
k.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

13
1.

Up
to

30
.0
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

18
T
18

Pr
ov
id
e
Pe

de
st
ria

n
Ne

tw
or
k

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
in
cr
ea
se

th
e
sid

ew
al
k
co
ve
ra
ge

to
im

pr
ov
e
pe

de
st
ria

n
ac
ce
ss
.P
ro
vi
di
ng

sid
ew

al
ks

an
d
an

en
ha
nc
ed

pe
de

st
ria

n
ne

tw
or
k
en

co
ur
ag
es

pe
op

le
to

w
al
k
in
st
ea
d
of

dr
iv
e.

Th
is
m
od

e
sh
ift

re
su
lts

in
a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
VM

T
an
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

Th
e
GH

G
re
du

ct
io
n
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
ba
se
d
on

th
e
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n
as
so
cia

te
d
w
ith

ex
pa
ns
io
n
of

sid
ew

al
k
co
ve
ra
ge

ex
pa
ns
io
n,
w
hi
ch

in
clu

de
sn

ot
on

ly
bu

ild
in
g
of

ne
w

sid
ew

al
ks

bu
ta

lso
im

pr
ov
in
g
de

gr
ad
ed

or
su
bs
ta
nd

ar
d
sid

ew
al
k
(e
.g
.,
da
m
ag
ed

fro
m

st
re
et

tr
ee

ro
ot
s)
.H

ow
ev
er
,p
ed

es
tr
ia
n
ne

tw
or
k
en

ha
nc
em

en
ts
w
ith

no
n
qu

an
tif
ia
bl
e

GH
G
re
du

ct
io
ns

ar
e
en

co
ur
ag
ed

to
be

im
pl
em

en
te
d,
as

di
sc
us
se
d
un

de
rE

xp
an
de

d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns
.

W
he

n
im

pr
ov
in
g
sid

ew
al
ks
,a

be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

en
su
re

th
ey

ar
e
co
nt
ig
uo

us
an
d
lin
k
ex
te
rn
al
ly
w
ith

ex
ist
in
g
an
d
pl
an
ne

d
pe

de
st
ria

n
fa
cil
iti
es
.B

ar
rie

rs
to

pe
de

st
ria

n
ac
ce
ss
an
d

in
te
rc
on

ne
ct
iv
ity

,s
uc
h
as

w
al
ls,

la
nd

sc
ap
in
g
bu

ffe
rs
,s
lo
pe

s,
an
d
un

pr
ot
ec
te
d
cr
os
sin

gs
sh
ou

ld
be

m
in
im

ize
d.
O
th
er

be
st

pr
ac
tic
e
fe
at
ur
es

co
ul
d
in
clu

de
hi
gh

vi
sib

ili
ty

cr
os
sw

al
ks
,

pe
de

st
ria

n
hy
br
id
be

ac
on

s,
an
d
ot
he

rp
ed

es
tr
ia
n
sig

na
ls,

m
id

bl
oc
k
cr
os
sin

g
w
al
ks
,p
ed

es
tr
ia
n
re
fu
ge

isl
an
ds
,s
pe

ed
ta
bl
es
,

bu
lb

ou
ts
(c
ur
b
ex
te
ns
io
ns
),
cu
rb

ra
m
ps
,s
ig
na
ge
,p

av
em

en
t

m
ar
ki
ng
s,
pe

de
st
ria

n
on

ly
co
nn

ec
tio

ns
an
d
di
st
ric
ts
,

la
nd

sc
ap
in
g,
an
d
ot
he

ri
m
pr
ov
em

en
ts
to

pe
de

st
ria

n
sa
fe
ty

(s
ee

M
ea
su
re

T
35
,P
ro
vi
de

Tr
af
fic

Ca
lm

in
g
M
ea
su
re
s)
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

13
4.

Up
to

6.
4
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

19
T
19

A
Co

ns
tr
uc
to

rI
m
pr
ov
e
Bi
ke

Fa
cil
ity

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
co
ns
tr
uc
to

ri
m
pr
ov
e
a
sin

gl
e
bi
cy
cle

la
ne

fa
cil
ity

(o
nl
y
Cl
as
sI
,I
I,
or

IV
)t
ha
t

co
nn

ec
ts
to

a
la
rg
er

ex
ist
in
g
bi
ke
w
ay

ne
tw

or
k.
Pr
ov
id
in
g
bi
cy
cle

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
he

lp
st
o

im
pr
ov
e
bi
ki
ng

co
nd

iti
on

sw
ith

in
an

ar
ea
.T
hi
se

nc
ou

ra
ge
sa

m
od

e
sh
ift

on
th
e
ro
ad
w
ay

pa
ra
lle
lt
o
th
e
bi
cy
cle

fa
cil
ity

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

st
o
bi
cy
cle

s,
di
sp
la
cin

g
VM

T
an
d
th
us

re
du

cin
g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.W

he
n
co
ns
tr
uc
tin

g
or

im
pr
ov
in
g
a
bi
cy
cle

fa
cil
ity

,a
be

st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

co
ns
id
er

lo
ca
l

or
st
at
e
bi
ke

la
ne

w
id
th

st
an
da
rd
s.
A
va
ria

tio
n
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
pr
ov
id
ed

as
T
19

B,
Co

ns
tr
uc
t

or
Im

pr
ov
e
Bi
ke

Bo
ul
ev
ar
d.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
.T
hi
s

m
ea
su
re

re
du

ce
sV

M
T
on

th
e
ro
ad
w
ay

se
gm

en
t

pa
ra
lle
lt
o
th
e
bi
cy
cle

fa
cil
ity

(i.
e.
,t
he

co
rr
id
or
).

An
ad
ju
st
m
en

tf
ac
to
ri
s

in
clu

de
d
in
th
e
fo
rm

ul
a
to

sc
al
e
th
e
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n

fro
m

th
e
co
rr
id
or

le
ve
lt
o

th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
le
ve
l.

Th
e
bi
cy
cle

la
ne

fa
cil
ity

m
us
tb

e
ei
th
er

Cl
as
sI
,I
I,
or

IV
.C

la
ss
Ib
ik
e
pa
th
sa

re
ph

ys
ica

lly
se
pa
ra
te
d
fro

m
m
ot
or

ve
hi
cle

tr
af
fic
.C

la
ss
IV

bi
ke
w
ay
sa

re
pr
ot
ec
te
d
on

st
re
et

bi
ke
w
ay
s,
al
so

ca
lle
d
cy
cle

tr
ac
ks
.C
la
ss
II
bi
ke

la
ne

sa
re

st
rip

ed
bi
cy
cle

la
ne

st
ha
t

pr
ov
id
e
ex
clu

siv
e
us
e
to

bi
cy
cle

so
n
a
ro
ad
w
ay
.

Im
pl
em

en
ta

lo
ng
sid

e
M
ea
su
re
sT

22
A,

T
22

B,
an
d/
or

T
22

C
to

en
su
re

th
at

m
icr
om

ob
ili
ty

us
er
sc

an
rid

e
sa
fe
ly
al
on

g
bi
cy
cle

la
ne

fa
cil
iti
es

an
d
no

th
av
e
to

rid
e
al
on

g
pe

de
st
ria

n
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e,
w
hi
ch

is
a
ris
k
to

pe
de

st
ria

n
sa
fe
ty
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

13
8.

Up
to

0.
8
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

s
on

pa
ra
lle
lr
oa
dw

ay
s

20
T
19

B
Co

ns
tr
uc
to

rI
m
pr
ov
e
Bi
ke

Bo
ul
ev
ar
d

Co
ns
tr
uc
to

ri
m
pr
ov
e
a
sin

gl
e
bi
cy
cle

bo
ul
ev
ar
d
th
at

co
nn

ec
ts
to

a
la
rg
er

ex
ist
in
g
bi
ke
w
ay

ne
tw

or
k.
Bi
cy
cle

bo
ul
ev
ar
ds

ar
e
a
de

sig
na
tio

n
w
ith

in
Cl
as
sI
II
Bi
ke
w
ay

th
at

cr
ea
te

sa
fe
,l
ow

st
re
ss
co
nn

ec
tio

ns
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
bi
ki
ng

an
d
w
al
ki
ng

on
st
re
et
s.
Th
is
en

co
ur
ag
es

a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

st
o
bi
cy
cle

s,
di
sp
la
cin

g
VM

T
an
d
th
us

re
du

cin
g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.A

va
ria

tio
n
of

th
is

m
ea
su
re

is
pr
ov
id
ed

as
T
19

A,
Co

ns
tr
uc
to

rI
m
pr
ov
e
Bi
ke

Fa
cil
ity

,w
hi
ch

is
fo
rC

la
ss
I,
II,
or

IV
bi
cy
cle

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
.T
hi
s

m
ea
su
re

re
du

ce
sV

M
T
on

th
e
ro
ad
w
ay

se
gm

en
t

pa
ra
lle
lt
o
th
e
bi
cy
cle

fa
cil
ity

(i.
e.
,t
he

co
rr
id
or
).

An
ad
ju
st
m
en

tf
ac
to
r i
s

in
clu

de
d
in
th
e
fo
rm

ul
a
to

sc
al
e
th
e
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n

fro
m

th
e
co
rr
id
or

le
ve
lt
o

th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
le
ve
l.

Th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
ro
ad
w
ay

co
nd

iti
on

sm
us
tb

e
m
et
.

Fu
nc
tio

na
lc
la
ss
ifi
ca
tio

n:
lo
ca
la
nd

co
lle
ct
or

if
th
er
e
is
no

m
or
e
th
an

a
sin

gl
e
ge
ne

ra
l

pu
rp
os
e
tr
av
el
la
ne

in
ea
ch

di
re
ct
io
n.

De
sig

n
sp
ee
d:

<=
25

m
ile
sp

er
ho

ur
.

De
sig

n
vo
lu
m
e
<=

5,
00

0
av
er
ag
e
da
ily

tr
af
fic
.

Tr
ea
tm

en
ts
at

m
aj
or

in
te
rs
ec
tio

ns
:b

ot
h
di
re
ct
io
ns

ha
ve

tr
af
fic

sig
na
ls
(o
ra

n
ef
fe
ct
iv
e

co
nt
ro
ld
ev
ice

th
at

pr
io
rit
ize

sp
ed

es
tr
ia
n
an
d
bi
cy
cle

ac
ce
ss
su
ch

as
ra
pi
d
fla

sh
in
g

be
ac
on

s,
pe

de
st
ria

n
hy
br
id
be

ac
on

s,
hi
gh

in
te
ns
ity

ac
tiv
at
ed

cr
os
sw

al
ks
,T
O
UC

AN
s)
,

bi
ke

ro
ut
e
sig

ns
,“
sh
ar
ro
w
ed

”r
oa
dw

ay
m
ar
ki
ng
s,
an
d
pe

de
st
ria

n
cr
os
sw

al
ks
.

Co
ns
tr
uc
t b

ou
le
va
rd
sw

ith
fo
rc
ed

tu
rn
sf
or

ve
hi
cle

se
ve
ry

fe
w
bl
oc
ks

to
m
in
im

ize
th
ro
ug
h
tr
af
fic

w
hi
le
en

su
rin

g
th
at

sp
ee
d
an
d
vo
lu
m
e
m
et
ric
sa

re
m
et
.I
m
pl
em

en
ta

lo
ng
sid

e
M
ea
su
re
sT

22
A,

T
22

B,
an
d/
or

T
22

C
to

en
su
re

th
at

m
icr
om

ob
ili
ty

us
er
sc

an
rid

e
sa
fe
ly
al
on

g
bi
cy
cle

la
ne

fa
cil
iti
es

an
d
no

tp
ed

es
tr
ia
n
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e,
w
hi
ch

is
a
ris
k
to

pe
de

st
ria

n
sa
fe
ty
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

14
3.

Up
to

0.
2
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

s
on

ro
ad
w
ay
s

21
T
20

Ex
pa
nd

Bi
ke
w
ay

Ne
tw

or
k

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
in
cr
ea
se

th
e
le
ng
th

of
a
cit
y
or

co
m
m
un

ity
bi
ke
w
ay

ne
tw

or
k.
A
bi
cy
cle

ne
tw

or
k
is
an

in
te
rc
on

ne
ct
ed

sy
st
em

of
bi
ke

la
ne

s,
bi
ke

pa
th
s,
bi
ke

ro
ut
es
,a
nd

cy
cle

tr
ac
ks
.

Pr
ov
id
in
g
bi
cy
cle

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
w
ith

m
ar
ki
ng
sa

nd
sig

na
ge

on
ap
pr
op

ria
te
ly
siz
ed

ro
ad
sw

ith
ve
hi
cle

tr
af
fic

tr
av
el
in
g
at

sa
fe

sp
ee
ds

he
lp
st
o
im

pr
ov
e
bi
ki
ng

co
nd

iti
on

s(
e.
g.
,s
af
et
y
an
d

co
nv
en

ie
nc
e)
.I
n
ad
di
tio

n,
ex
pa
nd

ed
bi
ke
w
ay

ne
tw

or
ks

ca
n
in
cr
ea
se

ac
ce
ss
to

an
d
fro

m
tr
an
sit

hu
bs
,t
he

re
by

ex
pa
nd

in
g
th
e
“c
at
ch
m
en

ta
re
a”

of
th
e
tr
an
sit

st
op

or
st
at
io
n
an
d
in
cr
ea
sin

g
rid

er
sh
ip
.T
hi
se

nc
ou

ra
ge
sa

m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

st
o
bi
cy
cle

s,
di
sp
la
cin

g
VM

T
an
d
th
us

re
du

cin
g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.W

he
n
ex
pa
nd

in
g
a
bi
cy
cle

ne
tw

or
k,
a
be

st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

co
ns
id
er

bi
ke

la
ne

w
id
th

st
an
da
rd
sf
ro
m

lo
ca
la
ge
nc
ie
s,
st
at
e
ag
en

cie
s,
or

th
e
Na

tio
na
lA

ss
oc
ia
tio

n
of

Ci
ty

Tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
O
ffi
cia

ls’
Ur
ba
n
Bi
ke
w
ay

De
sig

n
Gu

id
e.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Th
e
bi
ke
w
ay

ne
tw

or
k
m
us
tc
on

sis
to

fe
ith

er
Cl
as
sI
,I
I,
or

IV
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e.

As
ne

tw
or
ks

ex
pa
nd

,e
ns
ur
e
sa
fe
,s
ec
ur
e,
an
d
w
ea
th
er

pr
ot
ec
te
d
bi
cy
cle

pa
rk
in
g
fa
cil
iti
es

at
or
ig
in
sa

nd
de

st
in
at
io
ns
.A

lso
,i
m
pl
em

en
ta

lo
ng
sid

e
T
22

A,
T
22

B,
an
d/
or

T
22

C
to

en
su
re

th
at

m
icr
om

ob
ili
ty

op
tio

ns
ca
n
rid

e
sa
fe
ly
al
on

g
bi
cy
cle

la
ne

fa
cil
iti
es

an
d
no

th
av
e
to

rid
e
al
on

g
pe

de
st
ria

n
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e,
w
hi
ch

is
a
ris
k
to

pe
de

st
ria

n
sa
fe
ty
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

14
7.

Up
to

0.
5
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

22
T
21

A
Im

pl
em

en
tC

on
ve
nt
io
na
l

Ca
rs
ha
re

Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
in
cr
ea
se

ca
rs
ha
re

ac
ce
ss
in
th
e
us
er
’s
co
m
m
un

ity
by

de
pl
oy
in
g
co
nv
en

tio
na
l

ca
rs
ha
re

ve
hi
cle

s.
Ca
rs
ha
rin

g
of
fe
rs
pe

op
le
co
nv
en

ie
nt

ac
ce
ss
to

a
ve
hi
cle

fo
rp

er
so
na
lo
r

co
m
m
ut
in
g
pu

rp
os
es
.T
hi
sh

el
ps

en
co
ur
ag
e
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
al
te
rn
at
iv
es

an
d
re
du

ce
sv

eh
icl
e

ow
ne

rs
hi
p,
th
er
eb

y
av
oi
di
ng

VM
T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.A

va
ria

tio
n
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re
,

el
ec
tr
ic
ca
rs
ha
rin

g,
is
de

sc
rib

ed
in
M
ea
su
re

T
21

B,
Im

pl
em

en
tE

le
ct
ric

Ca
rs
ha
re

Pr
og
ra
m
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

Th
e
GH

G
m
iti
ga
tio

n
po

te
nt
ia
li
sb

as
ed

,i
n
pa
rt
,o
n
lit
er
at
ur
e
an
al
yz
in
g
on

e
w
ay

ca
rs
ha
rin

g
se
rv
ice

w
ith

a
fre

e
flo

at
in
g
op

er
at
io
na
lm

od
el
.T
hi
sm

ea
su
re

sh
ou

ld
be

ap
pl
ie
d
w
ith

ca
ut
io
n
if
us
in
g
a
di
ffe

re
nt

fo
rm

of
ca
rs
ha
rin

g
(e
.g
.,
ro
un

dt
rip

,p
ee
rt
o

pe
er
,f
ra
ct
io
na
l).

W
he

n
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
a
ca
rs
ha
re

pr
og
ra
m
,b
es
tp

ra
ct
ice

is
to

di
sc
ou

nt
ca
rs
ha
re

m
em

be
rs
hi
p
an
d
pr
ov
id
e
pr
io
rit
y
pa
rk
in
g

fo
rc
ar
sh
ar
e
ve
hi
cle

st
o
en

co
ur
ag
e
us
e
of

th
e
se
rv
ice

.
Re

fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

15
1.

Up
to

0.
15

pe
rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

23
T
21

B
Im

pl
em

en
tE

le
ct
ric

Ca
rs
ha
re

Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
in
cr
ea
se

ca
rs
ha
re

ac
ce
ss
in
th
e
us
er
’s
co
m
m
un

ity
by

de
pl
oy
in
g
el
ec
tr
ic

ca
rs
ha
re

ve
hi
cle

s.
Ca
rs
ha
rin

g
of
fe
rs
pe

op
le
co
nv
en

ie
nt

ac
ce
ss
to

a
ve
hi
cle

fo
rp

er
so
na
lo
r

co
m
m
ut
in
g
pu

rp
os
es
.T
hi
sh

el
ps

en
co
ur
ag
e
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
al
te
rn
at
iv
es

an
d
re
du

ce
sv

eh
icl
e

ow
ne

rs
hi
p,
th
er
eb

y
av
oi
di
ng

VM
T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.T
hi
sa

lso
en

co
ur
ag
es

a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

in
te
rn
al
co
m
bu

st
io
n
en

gi
ne

ve
hi
cle

st
o
el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

s,
di
sp
la
cin

g
th
e
em

iss
io
ns

in
te
ns
iv
e
fo
ss
il
fu
el
en

er
gy

w
ith

le
ss
em

iss
io
ns

in
te
ns
iv
e
el
ec
tr
ici
ty
.E
le
ct
ric

ca
rs
ha
re

ve
hi
cle

s
re
qu

ire
m
or
e
st
af
fin

g
su
pp

or
tc
om

pa
re
d
to

co
nv
en

tio
na
lc
ar
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
sf
or

sh
ut
tli
ng

el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

st
o
an
d
fro

m
ch
ar
gi
ng

po
in
ts
.A

va
ria

tio
n
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re
,c
on

ve
nt
io
na
l

ca
rs
ha
rin

g,
is
de

sc
rib

ed
in
M
ea
su
re

T
21

A,
Im

pl
em

en
tC

on
ve
nt
io
na
lC
ar
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

Th
e
GH

G
m
iti
ga
tio

n
po

te
nt
ia
li
sb

as
ed

,i
n
pa
rt
,o
n
lit
er
at
ur
e
an
al
yz
in
g
on

e
w
ay

ca
rs
ha
rin

g
se
rv
ice

w
ith

a
fre

e
flo

at
in
g
op

er
at
io
na
lm

od
el
.T
hi
sm

ea
su
re

sh
ou

ld
be

ap
pl
ie
d
w
ith

ca
ut
io
n
if
us
in
g
a
di
ffe

re
nt

fo
rm

of
ca
rs
ha
rin

g
(e
.g
.,
ro
un

dt
rip

,p
ee
r t
o

pe
er
,f
ra
ct
io
na
l).

W
he

n
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
a
ca
rs
ha
re

pr
og
ra
m
,b
es
tp

ra
ct
ice

is
to

di
sc
ou

nt
ca
rs
ha
re

m
em

be
rs
hi
p
an
d
pr
ov
id
e
pr
io
rit
y
pa
rk
in
g

fo
rc
ar
sh
ar
e
ve
hi
cle

st
o
en

co
ur
ag
e
us
e
of

th
e
se
rv
ice

.
Re

fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

15
8.

Up
to

0.
18

pe
rc
en

tG
HG

re
du

ct
io
n
fro

m
ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in

th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.P
le
as
e
re
fe
r

to
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n
fo
rm

ul
a
on

CA
PC

O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

15
8.

24
T
22

A
Im

pl
em

en
tP

ed
al
(N
on

El
ec
tr
ic)

Bi
ke
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
es
ta
bl
ish

a
bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
.B

ik
es
ha
re

pr
og
ra
m
sp

ro
vi
de

us
er
sw

ith
on

de
m
an
d
ac
ce
ss
to

bi
ke
sf
or

sh
or
tt
er
m

re
nt
al
s.
Th
is
en

co
ur
ag
es

a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

st
o

bi
cy
cle

s,
di
sp
la
cin

g
VM

T
an
d
th
us

re
du

cin
g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.V

ar
ia
tio

ns
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re

ar
e

de
sc
rib

ed
in
M
ea
su
re

T
22

B,
Im

pl
em

en
tE

le
ct
ric

Bi
ke
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
,a
nd

M
ea
su
re

T
22

C,
Im

pl
em

en
tS

co
ot
er
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Th
e
GH

G
m
iti
ga
tio

n
po

te
nt
ia
li
sb

as
ed

,i
n
pa
rt
,o
n
lit
er
at
ur
e
an
al
yz
in
g
do

ck
ed

(i.
e.
,

st
at
io
n
ba
se
d)

bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
s.
Th
is
m
ea
su
re

sh
ou

ld
be

ap
pl
ie
d
w
ith

ca
ut
io
n
if

us
in
g
do

ck
le
ss

(fr
ee

flo
at
in
g)
bi
ke
sh
ar
e.

Be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

di
sc
ou

nt
bi
ke
sh
ar
e
m
em

be
rs
hi
p
an
d

de
di
ca
te

bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pa
rk
in
g
to

en
co
ur
ag
e
us
e
of

th
e
se
rv
ice

.
Al
so

co
ns
id
er

in
clu

di
ng

sp
ac
e
on

th
e
ve
hi
cle

to
st
or
e

pe
rs
on

al
ite

m
sw

hi
le
tr
av
el
in
g,
su
ch

as
a
ba
sk
et
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

16
0.

Up
to

0.
02

pe
rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

25
T
22

B
Im

pl
em

en
tE

le
ct
ric

Bi
ke
sh
ar
e

Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
es
ta
bl
ish

an
el
ec
tr
ic
bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
.E
le
ct
ric

bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
sp

ro
vi
de

us
er
sw

ith
on

de
m
an
d
ac
ce
ss
to

el
ec
tr
ic
pe

da
la
ss
ist

bi
ke
sf
or

sh
or
tt
er
m

re
nt
al
s.
Th
is

en
co
ur
ag
es

a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

st
o
el
ec
tr
ic
bi
cy
cle

s,
di
sp
la
cin

g
VM

T
an
d
re
du

cin
g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.V

ar
ia
tio

ns
of

th
is
m
ea
su
re

ar
e
de

sc
rib

ed
in
M
ea
su
re

T
22

A,
Im

pl
em

en
tP

ed
al
(N
on

El
ec
tr
ic)

Bi
ke
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
,a
nd

M
ea
su
re

T
22

C,
Im

pl
em

en
tS

co
ot
er
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Th
e
GH

G
m
iti
ga
tio

n
po

te
nt
ia
li
sb

as
ed

,i
n
pa
rt
,o
n
lit
er
at
ur
e
an
al
yz
in
g
do

ck
ed

(i.
e.
,

st
at
io
n
ba
se
d)

bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
s.
Th
is
m
ea
su
re

sh
ou

ld
be

ap
pl
ie
d
w
ith

ca
ut
io
n
if

us
in
g
do

ck
le
ss

(fr
ee

flo
at
in
g)
bi
ke
sh
ar
e.

Be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

di
sc
ou

nt
el
ec
tr
ic
bi
ke
sh
ar
e
m
em

be
rs
hi
p

an
d
de

di
ca
te

el
ec
tr
ic
bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pa
rk
in
g
to

en
co
ur
ag
e
us
e
of

th
e
se
rv
ice

.C
on

sid
er

al
so

in
clu

di
ng

sp
ac
e
on

th
e
ve
hi
cle

to
st
or
e
pe

rs
on

al
ite

m
sw

hi
le
tr
av
el
in
g,
su
ch

as
a
ba
sk
et
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

16
4.

Up
to

0.
06

pe
rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.

Th
is
qu

an
tif
ica

tio
n
m
et
ho

do
lo
gy

do
es

no
ta

cc
ou

nt
fo
rt
he

m
ile
s

tr
av
el
ed

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
of

pr
og
ra
m

em
pl
oy
ee
sp

ick
in
g
up

an
d
dr
op

pi
ng

of
fb

ik
es
.

26
T
22

C
Im

pl
em

en
tS

co
ot
er
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
es
ta
bl
ish

a
sc
oo

te
rs
ha
re

pr
og
ra
m
.S
co
ot
er
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
sp

ro
vi
de

us
er
sw

ith
on

de
m
an
d
ac
ce
ss
to

el
ec
tr
ic
sc
oo

te
rs
fo
rs
ho

rt
te
rm

re
nt
al
s.
Th
is
en

co
ur
ag
es

a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

st
o
sc
oo

te
rs
,d
isp

la
cin

g
VM

T
an
d
th
us

re
du

cin
g
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.V

ar
ia
tio

ns
of

th
is

m
ea
su
re

ar
e
de

sc
rib

ed
in
M
ea
su
re

T
22

A,
Im

pl
em

en
tP

ed
al
(N
on

El
ec
tr
ic)

Bi
ke
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
,

an
d
M
ea
su
re

T
22

B,
Im

pl
em

en
tE

le
ct
ric

Bi
ke
sh
ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Th
e
GH

G
m
iti
ga
tio

n
po

te
nt
ia
li
sb

as
ed

,i
n
pa
rt
,o
n
lit
er
at
ur
e
an
al
yz
in
g
do

ck
ed

(i.
e.
,

st
at
io
n
ba
se
d)

bi
ke
sh
ar
e
pr
og
ra
m
s.
Th
is
m
ea
su
re

sh
ou

ld
be

ap
pl
ie
d
w
ith

ca
ut
io
n
gi
ve
n

th
e
lik
el
y
hi
gh
er

po
pu

la
rit
y
of

sc
oo

te
rs
ha
re

co
m
pa
re
d
to

bi
ke
sh
ar
e.

Be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

di
sc
ou

nt
sc
oo

te
rs
ha
re

m
em

be
rs
hi
p
an
d

de
di
ca
te

sc
oo

te
rs
ha
re

pa
rk
in
g
to

en
co
ur
ag
e
us
e
of

th
e

se
rv
ice

.C
on

sid
er

al
so

in
clu

di
ng

sp
ac
e
on

th
e
ve
hi
cle

to
st
or
e

pe
rs
on

al
ite

m
sw

hi
le
tr
av
el
in
g,
su
ch

as
a
ba
sk
et
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

16
8.

Up
to

0.
07

pe
rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.

Th
is
qu

an
tif
ica

tio
n
m
et
ho

do
lo
gy

do
es

no
ta

cc
ou

nt
fo
rt
he

m
ile
s

tr
av
el
ed

fro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
of

pr
og
ra
m

em
pl
oy
ee
sp

ick
in
g
up

an
d
dr
op

pi
ng

of
fs
co
ot
er
s.

27
T
23

Pr
ov
id
e
Co

m
m
un

ity
Ba

se
d
Tr
av
el

Pl
an
ni
ng

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
ta
rg
et

re
sid

en
ce
si
n
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
w
ith

co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
tr
av
el

pl
an
ni
ng

(C
BT

P)
.C
BT

P
is
a
re
sid

en
tia

lb
as
ed

ap
pr
oa
ch

to
ou

tr
ea
ch

th
at

pr
ov
id
es

ho
us
eh

ol
ds

w
ith

cu
st
om

ize
d
in
fo
rm

at
io
n,

in
ce
nt
iv
es
,a
nd

su
pp

or
tt
o
en

co
ur
ag
e
th
e
us
e
of

tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
al
te
rn
at
iv
es

in
pl
ac
e
of

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

s,
th
er
eb

y
re
du

cin
g
ho

us
eh

ol
d
VM

T
an
d

as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

CB
TP

in
vo
lv
es

te
am

so
ft
ra
in
ed

tr
av
el
ad
vi
so
rs
vi
sit
in
g
al
lh
ou

se
ho

ld
sw

ith
in
a
ta
rg
et
ed

ge
og
ra
ph

ic
ar
ea
,h
av
in
g
ta
ilo
re
d
co
nv
er
sa
tio

ns
ab
ou

tr
es
id
en

ts
’t
ra
ve
ln
ee
ds
,a
nd

ed
uc
at
in
g
re
sid

en
ts
ab
ou

tt
he

va
rio

us
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
op

tio
ns

av
ai
la
bl
e
to

th
em

.D
ue

to
th
e
pe

rs
on

al
ize

d
ou

tr
ea
ch

m
et
ho

d,
co
m
m
un

iti
es

ar
e
ty
pi
ca
lly

ta
rg
et
ed

in
ph

as
es
.

Pa
ir
w
ith

an
y
of

th
e
M
ea
su
re
sf
ro
m

T
17

th
ro
ug
h
T
22

C
to

en
su
re

th
at

re
sid

en
ts
th
at

ar
e
ta
rg
et
ed

by
CB

TP
w
ho

w
an
tt
o

us
e
al
te
rn
at
iv
e
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
ha
ve

th
e
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
an
d

te
ch
no

lo
gy

to
do

so
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

17
2.

Up
to

2.
3
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

28
T
24

Im
pl
em

en
tM

ar
ke
tP

ric
e
Pu

bl
ic

Pa
rk
in
g
(O
n
St
re
et
)

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
pr
ice

al
lo
n
st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g
in
a
gi
ve
n
co
m
m
un

ity
,w

ith
a
fo
cu
so

n
pa
rk
in
g

ne
ar

ce
nt
ra
lb
us
in
es
sd

ist
ric
ts
,e
m
pl
oy
m
en

tc
en

te
rs
,a
nd

re
ta
il
ce
nt
er
s.
In
cr
ea
sin

g
th
e
co
st
of

pa
rk
in
g
in
cr
ea
se
st
he

to
ta
lc
os
to

fd
riv

in
g
to

a
lo
ca
tio

n,
in
ce
nt
iv
izi
ng

sh
ift
st
o
ot
he

rm
od

es
an
d

th
us

de
cr
ea
sin

g
to
ta
lV

M
T
to

an
d
fro

m
th
e
pr
ice

d
ar
ea
s.
Th
is
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n
re
su
lts

in
a

co
rr
es
po

nd
in
g
re
du

ct
io
n
in
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

W
he

n
pr
ici
ng

on
st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g,
be

st
pr
ac
tic
e
is
to

al
lo
w
fo
rd

yn
am

ic
ad
ju
st
m
en

to
f

pr
ice

st
o
en

su
re

ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
85

pe
rc
en

to
cc
up

an
cy
,w

hi
ch

he
lp
sp

re
ve
nt

in
du

ce
d

VM
T
du

e
to

cir
cli
ng

be
ha
vi
or
sa

si
nd

iv
id
ua
ls
se
ar
ch

fo
ra

va
ca
nt

pa
rk
in
g
sp
ac
e.
In

ad
di
tio

n,
th
is
m
et
ho

d
sh
ou

ld
pr
im

ar
ily

be
im

pl
em

en
te
d
in
ar
ea
sw

ith
av
ai
la
bl
e

al
te
rn
at
iv
es

to
dr
iv
in
g,
su
ch

as
tr
an
sit

av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
w
ith

in
0.
5.
m
ile

or
ar
ea
so

fh
ig
h

re
sid

en
tia

ld
en

sit
y
ne

ar
by

(a
llo
w
in
g
fo
ri
nc
re
as
ed

w
al
ki
ng
/b
ik
in
g)
.I
ft
he

m
ea
su
re

is
im

pl
em

en
te
d
in
a
sm

al
la
re
a,
re
sid

en
tia

lp
ar
ki
ng

pe
rm

it
pr
og
ra
m
ss
ho

ul
d
be

co
ns
id
er
ed

to
pr
ev
en

tp
ar
ki
ng

in
tr
us
io
n
on

ne
ar
by

st
re
et
si
n
re
sid

en
tia

la
re
as

w
ith

ou
tp

ric
ed

pa
rk
in
g.

Pr
ici
ng

on
st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g
al
so

he
lp
ss

up
po

rt
in
di
vi
du

al
pr
oj
ec
ts
w
ith

pr
ice

d
on

sit
e
pa
rk
in
g
by

re
m
ov
in
g
po

te
nt
ia
l

al
te
rn
at
iv
e
pa
rk
in
g
lo
ca
tio

ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

17
5.

Up
to

30
.0
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

29
T
25

Ex
te
nd

Tr
an
sit

Ne
tw

or
k
Co

ve
ra
ge

or
Ho

ur
s

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
ex
pa
nd

th
e
lo
ca
lt
ra
ns
it
ne

tw
or
k
by

ei
th
er

ad
di
ng

or
m
od

ify
in
g
ex
ist
in
g

tr
an
sit

se
rv
ice

or
ex
te
nd

in
g
th
e
op

er
at
io
n
ho

ur
st
o
en

ha
nc
e
th
e
se
rv
ice

ne
ar

th
e
pr
oj
ec
ts
ite

.
St
ar
tin

g
se
rv
ice

se
ar
lie
ri
n
th
e
m
or
ni
ng

an
d/
or

ex
te
nd

in
g
se
rv
ice

st
o
la
te

ni
gh
th

ou
rs
ca
n

ac
co
m
m
od

at
e
th
e
co
m
m
ut
in
g
tim

es
of

al
te
rn
at
iv
e
sh
ift

w
or
ke
rs
.T
hi
sw

ill
en

co
ur
ag
e
th
e
us
e
of

tr
an
sit

an
d
th
er
ef
or
e
re
du

ce
VM

T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Th
er
e
ar
e
tw

o
pr
im

ar
y
m
ea
ns

of
ex
pa
nd

in
g
th
e
tr
an
sit

ne
tw

or
k:
by

in
cr
ea
sin

g
th
e

fre
qu

en
cy

of
se
rv
ice

,t
he

re
by

re
du

cin
g
av
er
ag
e
w
ai
tt
im

es
an
d
in
cr
ea
sin

g
co
nv
en

ie
nc
e,

or
by

ex
te
nd

in
g
se
rv
ice

to
co
ve
rn

ew
ar
ea
sa

nd
tim

es
.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
fo
cu
se
d
on

pr
ov
id
in
g
ad
di
tio

na
lt
ra
ns
it

ne
tw

or
k
co
ve
ra
ge
,w

ith
no

ch
an
ge
st
o
tr
an
sit

fre
qu

en
cy
.T
hi
s

m
ea
su
re

ca
n
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
26
,I
nc
re
as
e
Tr
an
sit

Se
rv
ice

Fr
eq

ue
nc
y,
w
hi
ch

is
fo
cu
se
d
on

in
cr
ea
sin

g
tr
an
sit

se
rv
ice

fre
qu

en
cy
,f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d
re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

17
9.

Up
to

4.
6
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

30
T
26

In
cr
ea
se

Tr
an
sit

Se
rv
ice

Fr
eq

ue
nc
y

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
in
cr
ea
se

tr
an
sit

fre
qu

en
cy

on
on

e
or

m
or
e
tr
an
sit

lin
es

se
rv
in
g
th
e

pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.I
nc
re
as
ed

tr
an
sit

fre
qu

en
cy

re
du

ce
sw

ai
tin

g
an
d
ov
er
al
lt
ra
ve
lt
im

es
,w

hi
ch

im
pr
ov
es

th
e
us
er

ex
pe

rie
nc
e
an
d
in
cr
ea
se
st
he

at
tr
ac
tiv
en

es
so

ft
ra
ns
it
se
rv
ice

.T
hi
sr
es
ul
ts
in

a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

st
o
tr
an
sit
,w

hi
ch

re
du

ce
sV

M
T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d

GH
G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Re

fe
rt
o
m
ea
su
re

de
sc
rip

tio
n.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
fo
cu
se
d
on

pr
ov
id
in
g
in
cr
ea
se
d
tr
an
sit

fre
qu

en
cy
,w

ith
no

ch
an
ge
st
o
tr
an
sit

ne
tw

or
k
co
ve
ra
ge
.T
hi
s

m
ea
su
re

ca
n
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
25
,E
xt
en

d
Tr
an
sit

Ne
tw

or
k
Co

ve
ra
ge

or
Ho

ur
s,
w
hi
ch

is
fo
cu
se
d
on

in
cr
ea
sin

g
tr
an
sit

ne
tw

or
k
co
ve
ra
ge
,f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d
re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

18
5.

Up
to

11
.3
pe

rc
en

tG
HG

re
du

ct
io
n
fro

m
ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in

th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.P
le
as
e
re
fe
r

to
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n
fo
rm

ul
a
on

CA
PC

O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

18
5.

31
T
27

Im
pl
em

en
tT

ra
ns
it
Su
pp

or
tiv

e
Ro

ad
w
ay

Tr
ea
tm

en
ts

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
im

pl
em

en
tt
ra
ns
it
su
pp

or
tiv

e
tr
ea
tm

en
ts
on

th
e
tr
an
sit

ro
ut
es

se
rv
in
g
th
e

pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.T
ra
ns
it
su
pp

or
tiv

e
tr
ea
tm

en
ts
in
co
rp
or
at
e
a
m
ix
of

ro
ad
w
ay

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
an
d/
or

tr
af
fic

sig
na
lm

od
ifi
ca
tio

ns
to

im
pr
ov
e
tr
an
sit

tr
av
el
tim

es
an
d
re
lia
bi
lit
y.

Th
is
re
su
lts

in
a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y
ve
hi
cle

st
o
tr
an
sit
,w

hi
ch

re
du

ce
sV

M
T
an
d

th
e
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Tr
ea
tm

en
ts
ca
n
in
clu

de
tr
an
sit

sig
na
lp
rio

rit
y,
bu

s
on

ly
sig

na
lp
ha
se
s,
qu

eu
e
ju
m
ps
,c
ur
b

ex
te
ns
io
ns

to
sp
ee
d
pa
ss
en

ge
rl
oa
di
ng
,a
nd

de
di
ca
te
d
bu

sl
an
es
.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

ot
he

rT
ra
ns
it
su
bs
ec
to
r

st
ra
te
gi
es

(M
ea
su
re

T
25

an
d
M
ea
su
re

T
29
)f
or

in
cr
ea
se
d

re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

18
9.

Up
to

0.
6
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

32
T
28

Pr
ov
id
e
Bu

sR
ap
id
Tr
an
sit

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
co
nv
er
ta

n
ex
ist
in
g
bu

sr
ou

te
to

a
bu

sr
ap
id
tr
an
sit

(B
RT

)s
ys
te
m
.B

RT
in
clu

de
st
he

fo
llo
w
in
g
ad
di
tio

na
lc
om

po
ne

nt
s,
co
m
pa
re
d
to

tr
ad
iti
on

al
bu

ss
er
vi
ce
:e
xc
lu
siv

e
rig

ht
of

w
ay

(e
.g
.,
bu

sw
ay
s,
qu

eu
e
ju
m
pi
ng

la
ne

s)
at

co
ng
es
te
d
in
te
rs
ec
tio

ns
,i
nc
re
as
ed

lim
ite

d
st
op

se
rv
ice

(e
.g
.,
ex
pr
es
ss
er
vi
ce
),
in
te
lli
ge
nt

tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
te
ch
no

lo
gy

(e
.g
.,
tr
an
sit

sig
na
l

pr
io
rit
y,
au
to
m
at
ic
ve
hi
cle

lo
ca
tio

n
sy
st
em

s)
,a
dv
an
ce
d
te
ch
no

lo
gy

ve
hi
cle

s(
e.
g.
,a
rt
icu

la
te
d

bu
se
s,
lo
w

flo
or

bu
se
s)
,e
nh

an
ce
d
st
at
io
n
de

sig
n,
ef
fic
ie
nt

fa
re

pa
ym

en
ts
m
ar
tc
ar
ds

or
sm

ar
tp
ho

ne
ap
ps
,b
ra
nd

in
g
of

th
e
sy
st
em

,a
nd

us
e
of

ve
hi
cle

gu
id
an
ce

sy
st
em

s.
BR

T
ca
n

in
cr
ea
se

th
e
tr
an
sit

m
od

e
sh
ar
e
in
a
co
m
m
un

ity
du

e
to

im
pr
ov
ed

tr
av
el
tim

es
,s
er
vi
ce

fre
qu

en
cie

s,
an
d
th
e
un

iq
ue

co
m
po

ne
nt
so

ft
he

BR
T
sy
st
em

.T
hi
sm

od
e
sh
ift

re
du

ce
sV

M
T
an
d

th
e
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

Th
e
m
ea
su
re

qu
an
tif
ica

tio
n
m
et
ho

do
lo
gy

ac
co
un

ts
fo
rt
he

in
cr
ea
se

in
rid

er
sh
ip
fro

m
(1
)

im
pr
ov
ed

tr
av
el
tim

es
fro

m
tr
an
sit

sig
na
lp
rio

rit
iza

tio
n,

(2
)i
nc
re
as
ed

se
rv
ice

fre
qu

en
cy
,

an
d
(3
)t
he

un
iq
ue

rid
er
sh
ip
in
cr
ea
se

as
so
cia

te
d
w
ith

a
fu
ll
fe
at
ur
ed

BR
T
se
rv
ice

op
er
at
in
g
on

a
fu
lly

se
gr
eg
at
ed

ru
nn

in
g
w
ay

w
ith

sp
ec
ia
liz
ed

(o
rs
ty
liz
ed

)v
eh

icl
es
,

at
tr
ac
tiv
e
st
at
io
ns
,a
nd

ef
fic
ie
nt

fa
re

co
lle
ct
io
n
pr
ac
tic
es
.T
o
ta
ke

cr
ed

it
fo
rt
he

es
tim

at
ed

em
iss
io
ns

re
du

ct
io
n,
th
e
us
er

sh
ou

ld
im

pl
em

en
t,
at

m
in
im

um
,t
he

se
co
m
po

ne
nt
s.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
25
,E
xt
en

d
Tr
an
sit

Ne
tw

or
k
Co

ve
ra
ge

or
Ho

ur
s,
an
d
M
ea
su
re

T
29
,

Re
du

ce
Tr
an
sit

Fa
re
s,
fo
ri
nc
re
as
ed

re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

19
3.

Up
to

13
.8
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.

Pl
ea
se

re
fe
rt
o
VM

T
re
du

ct
io
n

fo
rm

ul
a
on

CA
PC

O
A
M
an
ua
l,

pa
ge

19
5.

33
T
29

Re
du

ce
Tr
an
sit

Fa
re
s

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
re
du

ce
tr
an
sit

fa
re
so

n
th
e
tr
an
sit

lin
es

se
rv
in
g
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity
.A

re
du

ct
io
n
in
tr
an
sit

fa
re
sc

re
at
es

in
ce
nt
iv
es

to
sh
ift

tr
av
el
to

tr
an
sit

fro
m

sin
gl
e
oc
cu
pa
nc
y

ve
hi
cle

sa
nd

ot
he

rt
ra
ve
lin
g
m
od

es
,w

hi
ch

re
du

ce
sV

M
T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.T
hi
s

m
ea
su
re

di
ffe

rs
fro

m
M
ea
su
re

T
8,
Im

pl
em

en
tS

ub
sid

ize
d
or

Di
sc
ou

nt
ed

Tr
an
sit

Pr
og
ra
m
,

w
hi
ch

ca
n
be

of
fe
re
d
th
ro
ug
h
em

pl
oy
er

ba
se
d
be

ne
fit
sp

ro
gr
am

si
n
w
hi
ch

th
e
em

pl
oy
er

fu
lly

or
pa
rt
ia
lly

pa
ys

th
e
em

pl
oy
ee
’s
co
st
of

tr
an
sit
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Tr
an
sit

fa
re

re
du

ct
io
ns

ca
n
be

im
pl
em

en
te
d
sy
st
em

w
id
e
or

in
sp
ec
ifi
cf
ar
e
fre

e
or

re
du

ce
d
fa
re

zo
ne

s.

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

co
ul
d
be

pa
ire

d
w
ith

ot
he

rT
ra
ns
it
su
bs
ec
to
r

st
ra
te
gi
es

(M
ea
su
re

T
25
,E
xt
en

d
Tr
an
sit

Ne
tw

or
k
Co

ve
ra
ge

or
Ho

ur
s,
an
d
M
ea
su
re

T
26
,I
nc
re
as
e
Tr
an
sit

Se
rv
ice

Fr
eq

ue
nc
y)
fo
ri
nc
re
as
ed

re
du

ct
io
ns
.

Re
fe
rt
o
CA

PC
O
A
M
an
ua
l,
pa
ge

20
0.

Up
to

1.
2
pe

rc
en

tf
ro
m

ve
hi
cle

tr
av
el
in
th
e
pl
an
/c
om

m
un

ity

34
T
30

Us
e
Cl
ea
ne

rF
ue

lV
eh

icl
es

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
su

se
of

cle
an
er

fu
el
ve
hi
cle

si
n
lie
u
of

sim
ila
rv

eh
icl
es

po
w
er
ed

by
ga
so
lin
e
or

di
es
el
fu
el
.C

le
an
er

fu
el
ve
hi
cle

sa
dd

re
ss
ed

in
th
is
m
ea
su
re

in
clu

de
el
ec
tr
ic

ve
hi
cle

s,
na
tu
ra
lg
as

an
d
pr
op

an
e
ve
hi
cle

s,
an
d
ve
hi
cle

sp
ow

er
ed

by
bi
of
ue

ls
su
ch

as
co
m
po

sit
e
di
es
el
(b
le
nd

of
re
ne

w
ab
le
di
es
el
,b
io
di
es
el
,a
nd

co
nv
en

tio
na
lf
os
sil

di
es
el
),
et
ha
no

l,
an
d
re
ne

w
ab
le
na
tu
ra
lg
as
.

Th
e
fu
ll
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns

im
pa
ct
of

cle
an
er

fu
el
sd

ep
en

ds
on

th
e
em

iss
io
ns

fro
m

th
e
ve
hi
cle

’s
ta
ilp
ip
e
as

w
el
la
st
he

em
iss
io
ns

as
so
cia

te
d
w
ith

pr
od

uc
tio

n
of

th
e
fu
el
(s
om

et
im

es
te
rm

ed
“u
ps
tr
ea
m
”e

m
iss
io
ns
).
Fo
re

xa
m
pl
e,
ta
ilp
ip
e
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns

fro
m

re
ne

w
ab
le
na
tu
ra
lg
as

ar
e

id
en

tic
al
to

ta
ilp
ip
e
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns

fro
m

co
nv
en

tio
na
ln
at
ur
al
ga
s;
th
e
GH

G
be

ne
fit
so

f
re
ne

w
ab
le
na
tu
ra
lg
as

co
m
e
fro

m
th
e
fa
ct
th
at

it
is
pr
od

uc
ed

fro
m

bi
om

as
s.
Si
m
ila
rly

,B
EV

s
ha
ve

ze
ro

ta
ilp
ip
e
em

iss
io
ns
,b

ut
pr
op

er
ly
ac
co
un

tin
g
fo
rt
he

ir
GH

G
im

pa
ct
sr
eq

ui
re
s

qu
an
tif
yi
ng

th
e
em

iss
io
ns

as
so
cia

te
d
w
ith

th
e
el
ec
tr
ici
ty
ge
ne

ra
tio

n
ne

ed
ed

to
ch
ar
ge

th
e

ve
hi
cle

’s
ba
tt
er
ie
s.

No
ta

pp
lic
ab
le

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

or
Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

If
us
in
g
el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

s,
pa
ir
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
14

to
en

su
re

th
at

el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

sh
av
e
su
ffi
cie

nt
ac
ce
ss
to

ch
ar
gi
ng

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e.

35
T
31

A
Lo
ca
te

Pr
oj
ec
ti
n
Ar
ea

w
ith

Hi
gh

De
st
in
at
io
n
Ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty

Th
e
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sd

ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
an

ar
ea

w
ith

hi
gh

ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty

to
de

st
in
at
io
ns
.

De
st
in
at
io
n
ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty

is
m
ea
su
re
d
in
te
rm

so
ft
he

nu
m
be

ro
fj
ob

so
ro

th
er

at
tr
ac
tio

ns
(e
.g
.,

sc
ho

ol
s,
su
pe

rm
ar
ke
ts
,a
nd

he
al
th

ca
re

se
rv
ice

s)
th
at

ar
e
re
ac
ha
bl
e
w
ith

in
a
gi
ve
n
tr
av
el
tim

e
or

tr
av
el
di
st
an
ce
,a
nd

te
nd

st
o
be

hi
gh
es
ta

tc
en

tr
al
lo
ca
tio

ns
an
d
lo
w
es
ta

tp
er
ip
he

ra
lo
ne

s.
W
he

n
de

st
in
at
io
ns

ar
e
ne

ar
by
,t
he

tr
av
el
tim

e
be

tw
ee
n
th
em

is
le
ss
,t
hu

si
nc
re
as
in
g
th
e

po
te
nt
ia
lf
or

pe
op

le
to

w
al
k
an
d
bi
ke

to
th
os
e
de

st
in
at
io
ns

an
d,
th
er
ef
or
e,
re
du

cin
g
th
e
VM

T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.A

sa
n
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
co
ns
id
er
at
io
n,
pr
oj
ec
ts
sh
ou

ld
co
ns
id
er

ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty

by
pe

op
le
of

al
lf
un

ct
io
na
la
bi
lit
ie
sa

nd
in
co
rp
or
at
e
de

sig
n
pr
in
cip

le
ss

uc
h
as

Un
iv
er
sa
lD

es
ig
n.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
is
is
a
va
ria

tio
n
of

m
ea
su
re

T
31

B.

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

36
T
31

B
Im

pr
ov
e
De

st
in
at
io
n
Ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty

in
Un

de
se
rv
ed

Ar
ea
s

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

ac
co
un

ts
fo
rt
he

VM
T
re
du

ct
io
n
th
at

w
ou

ld
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

by
co
ns
tr
uc
tin

g
jo
b

ce
nt
er
so

ro
th
er

at
tr
ac
tio

ns
(e
.g
.,
sc
ho

ol
s,
su
pe

rm
ar
ke
ts
,a
nd

he
al
th

ca
re

se
rv
ice

s)
fo
r

re
sid

en
ts
in
un

de
rs
er
ve
d
ar
ea
s(
e.
g.
,f
oo

d
de

se
rt
s)
.W

he
n
de

st
in
at
io
ns

ar
e
ne

ar
by
,t
he

tr
av
el

tim
e
be

tw
ee
n
th
em

is
le
ss
,t
hu

si
nc
re
as
in
g
th
e
po

te
nt
ia
lf
or

pe
op

le
to

w
al
k
an
d
bi
ke

to
th
os
e

de
st
in
at
io
ns
,r
ed

uc
in
g
VM

T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.A

sa
n
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
co
ns
id
er
at
io
n,
pr
oj
ec
ts
sh
ou

ld
co
ns
id
er

ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty

by
pe

op
le
of

al
lf
un

ct
io
na
la
bi
lit
ie
sa

nd
in
co
rp
or
at
e
de

sig
n
pr
in
cip

le
ss

uc
h
as

Un
iv
er
sa
lD

es
ig
n.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity
Th
is
is
a
va
ria

tio
n
of

m
ea
su
re

T
31

A.

37
T
32

O
rie

nt
Pr
oj
ec
tT

ow
ar
d
Tr
an
sit
,

Bi
cy
cle

,o
rP

ed
es
tr
ia
n
Fa
cil
ity

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
st
o
m
in
im

ize
se
tb
ac
k
di
st
an
ce

be
tw

ee
n
th
e
pr
oj
ec
ta

nd
pl
an
ne

d
or

ex
ist
in
g
tr
an
sit
,b
icy

cle
,o
rp

ed
es
tr
ia
n
co
rr
id
or
s.
A
pr
oj
ec
tt
ha
ti
sd

es
ig
ne

d
ar
ou

nd
an

ex
ist
in
g
or

pl
an
ne

d
tr
an
sit
,b
icy

cle
,o
rp

ed
es
tr
ia
n
co
rr
id
or

en
co
ur
ag
es

su
st
ai
na
bl
e
m
od

e
us
e.

As
an

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
co
ns
id
er
at
io
n,
pr
oj
ec
ts
sh
ou

ld
co
ns
id
er

ac
ce
ss
ib
ili
ty

by
pe

op
le
of

al
l

fu
nc
tio

na
la
bi
lit
ie
sa

nd
in
co
rp
or
at
e
de

sig
n
pr
in
cip

le
ss

uc
h
as

Un
iv
er
sa
lD

es
ig
n.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

38
T
33

Lo
ca
te

Pr
oj
ec
tn

ea
rB

ik
e

Pa
th
/B
ik
e
La
ne

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
st
o
be

lo
ca
te
d
w
ith

in
0.
5
m
ile

bi
cy
cli
ng

di
st
an
ce

to
an

ex
ist
in
g

Cl
as
sI

or
IV

pa
th

or
Cl
as
sI
Ib
ik
e
la
ne

.A
pr
oj
ec
tt
ha
ti
sd

es
ig
ne

d
ar
ou

nd
an

ex
ist
in
g
or

pl
an
ne

d
bi
cy
cle

fa
cil
ity

en
co
ur
ag
es

su
st
ai
na
bl
e
m
od

e
us
e.
Th
e
pr
oj
ec
td

es
ig
n
sh
ou

ld
in
clu

de
a

co
m
pa
ra
bl
e
ne

tw
or
k
th
at

co
nn

ec
ts
th
e
pr
oj
ec
tu

se
st
o
th
e
ex
ist
in
g
of
fs
ite

fa
cil
iti
es

th
at

co
nn

ec
tt
o
w
or
k/
re
ta
il
de

st
in
at
io
ns
.A

sa
n
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
co
ns
id
er
at
io
n,
pr
oj
ec
ts
sh
ou

ld
pr
ov
id
e
su
ffi
cie

nt
an
d
co
nv
en

ie
nt

bi
cy
cle

pa
rk
in
g
an
d
lo
ng

te
rm

st
or
ag
e,
id
ea
lly

ne
ar

th
e
bi
ke

la
ne

its
el
f,
fo
rr
es
id
en

ts
,e
m
pl
oy
ee
s,
an
d
vi
sit
or
s,
an
d
a
bi
cy
cle

re
pa
ir
st
at
io
n
w
ith

to
ol
sa

nd
eq

ui
pm

en
t.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

ca
n
be

im
pl
em

en
te
d
w
ith

M
ea
su
re

T
9.

39
T
34

Pr
ov
id
e
Bi
ke

Pa
rk
in
g

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
sp

ro
vi
de

sh
or
tt
er
m

an
d
lo
ng

te
rm

bi
cy
cle

pa
rk
in
g
fa
cil
iti
es

to
m
ee
tp

ea
k
se
as
on

m
ax
im

um
de

m
an
d.

Pa
rk
in
g
ca
n
be

pr
ov
id
ed

in
de

sig
na
te
d
ar
ea
so

ra
dd

ed
w
ith

in
rig

ht
s
of

w
ay
,i
nc
lu
di
ng

by
re
pl
ac
in
g
pa
rk
in
g
sp
ac
es

w
ith

bi
ke

pa
rk
in
g
co
rr
al
s.
En
su
re

th
at

bi
ke

pa
rk
in
g
ca
n
be

ac
ce
ss
ed

by
al
l,
no

tj
us
tp

ro
je
ct
em

pl
oy
ee
so

rr
es
id
en

ts
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

or
Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

40
T
35

Pr
ov
id
e
Tr
af
fic

Ca
lm

in
g
M
ea
su
re
s

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
st
o
in
clu

de
pe

de
st
ria

n/
bi
cy
cle

sa
fe
ty

an
d
tr
af
fic

ca
lm

in
g

m
ea
su
re
sa

bo
ve

ju
ris
di
ct
io
na
lr
eq

ui
re
m
en

ts
.R

oa
dw

ay
ss

ho
ul
d
al
so

be
de

sig
ne

d
to

re
du

ce
m
ot
or

ve
hi
cle

sp
ee
ds

an
d
en

co
ur
ag
e
pe

de
st
ria

n
an
d
bi
cy
cle

tr
ip
sw

ith
tr
af
fic

ca
lm

in
g
fe
at
ur
es
.

Tr
af
fic

ca
lm

in
g
fe
at
ur
es

m
ay

in
clu

de
m
ar
ke
d
cr
os
sw

al
ks
,c
ou

nt
do

w
n
sig

na
lt
im

er
s,
cu
rb

ex
te
ns
io
ns
,s
pe

ed
ta
bl
es
,r
ai
se
d
cr
os
sw

al
ks
,r
ai
se
d
in
te
rs
ec
tio

ns
,m

ed
ia
n
isl
an
ds
,t
ig
ht

co
rn
er

ra
di
i,
ro
un

da
bo

ut
so

rm
in
ic
irc
le
s,
on

st
re
et

pa
rk
in
g,
pl
an
te
rs
tr
ip
sw

ith
st
re
et

tr
ee
s,

ch
ica

ne
s/
ch
ok
er
s,
an
d
ot
he

rs
.P
ro
vi
di
ng

tr
af
fic

ca
lm

in
g
m
ea
su
re
se

nc
ou

ra
ge
sp

eo
pl
e
to

w
al
k

or
bi
ke

in
st
ea
d
of

us
in
g
a
ve
hi
cle

.T
hi
s m

od
e
sh
ift

w
ill
re
su
lt
in
a
de

cr
ea
se

in
ve
hi
cle

m
ile
s

tr
av
el
ed

.T
ra
ffi
cc

al
m
in
g
al
so

pr
om

ot
es

ac
tiv

e
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n,
w
hi
ch

im
pr
ov
es

ph
ys
ica

lh
ea
lth

.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

41
T
36

Cr
ea
te

Ur
ba
n
No

n
M
ot
or
ize

d
Zo
ne

s

Th
e
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
st
o
co
nv
er
ta

pe
rc
en

ta
ge

of
its

ro
ad
w
ay

m
ile
st
o
tr
an
sit

m
al
ls,

lin
ea
rp

ar
ks
,o
ro

th
er

no
n
m
ot
or
ize

d
zo
ne

s.
Th
es
e
fe
at
ur
es

en
co
ur
ag
e
no

n
m
ot
or
ize

d
tr
av
el

an
d
th
us

a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
ve
hi
cle

m
ile
st
ra
ve
le
d.
Th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
on

ly
ap
pl
ica

bl
e
to

pr
oj
ec
ts

lo
ca
te
d
in
ur
ba
n
en

vi
ro
nm

en
ts
.C

on
sid

er
ac
ce
ss
iss
ue

sf
or

pa
ra
tr
an
sit

us
er
sa

nd
th
os
e
w
ith

m
ob

ili
ty

im
pa
irm

en
ts
.

Ur
ba
n

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

42
T
37

De
di
ca
te

La
nd

fo
rB

ik
e
Tr
ai
ls

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
st
o
pr
ov
id
e
fo
r,
co
nt
rib

ut
e
to
,o
rd

ed
ica

te
la
nd

fo
rt
he

pr
ov
isi
on

of
of
fs
ite

bi
cy
cle

tr
ai
ls
lin
ki
ng

th
e
pr
oj
ec
tt
o
de

sig
na
te
d
bi
cy
cle

co
m
m
ut
in
g
ro
ut
es

in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

an
ad
op

te
d
cit
yw

id
e
or

co
un

ty
w
id
e
bi
ke
w
ay

pl
an
.E
xi
st
in
g
de

sir
e
pa
th
sc

an
m
ak
e
go
od

lo
ca
tio

ns
,a
si
tr
ep

re
se
nt
sa

co
m
m
un

ity
id
en

tif
ie
d
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
ne

ed
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

43
T
38

Pr
ov
id
e
Fi
rs
ta

nd
La
st
M
ile

TN
C

In
ce
nt
iv
es

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sa

fir
st

la
st
m
ile

pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
be

tw
ee
n
a
m
un

ici
pa
lit
y/
tr
an
sit

ag
en

cy
an
d
a

tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
ne

tw
or
k
co
m
pa
ny

(T
NC

)f
or

su
bs
id
ize

d,
sh
ar
ed

TN
C
rid

es
to

or
fro

m
th
e
lo
ca
l

tr
an
sit

st
at
io
n
w
ith

in
a
sp
ec
ifi
cg

eo
gr
ap
hi
ca

re
a.
Th
is
m
ea
su
re

en
co
ur
ag
es

a
sh
ift

to
tr
an
sit

m
od

e
fo
rl
on

ge
rt
rip

s.
Co

ns
id
er

pr
ov
id
in
g
in
clu

siv
e
m
ec
ha
ni
sm

ss
o
pe

op
le
w
ith

ou
tb

an
k

ac
co
un

ts
,c
re
di
tc
ar
ds
,o
rs
m
ar
tp

ho
ne

sc
an

ac
ce
ss
th
e
in
ce
nt
iv
es
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al
(o
nl
y
if
th
e

pr
oj
ec
ti
sa

dj
ac
en

tt
o
a
co
m
m
ut
er

ra
il
st
at
io
n
w
ith

co
nv
en

ie
nt

ra
il

se
rv
ice

to
a
m
aj
or

em
pl
oy
m
en

t
ce
nt
er
)

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

44
T
39

Im
pl
em

en
tP

re
fe
re
nt
ia
lP
ar
ki
ng

Pe
rm

it
Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
sp

ro
vi
de

pr
ef
er
en

tia
lp
ar
ki
ng

in
te
rm

so
ff
re
e
or

re
du

ce
d
pa
rk
in
g

fe
es
,p
rio

rit
y
pa
rk
in
g,
or

re
se
rv
ed

pa
rk
in
g
in
co
nv
en

ie
nt

lo
ca
tio

ns
(s
uc
h
as

ne
ar

pu
bl
ic

tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
or

bu
ild
in
g
en

tr
an
ce
s)
fo
rc
om

m
ut
er
sw

ho
ca
rp
oo

l,
va
np

oo
l,
rid

e
sh
ar
e
or

us
e

su
st
ai
na
bl
y
fu
el
ed

ve
hi
cle

s.
Pr
oj
ec
ts
sh
ou

ld
al
so

pr
ov
id
e
w
id
e
pa
rk
in
g
sp
ac
es

to
ac
co
m
m
od

at
e

va
np

oo
lv
eh

icl
es
.C
om

m
er
cia

lp
re
fe
re
nt
ia
lp
ar
ki
ng

ca
n
ac
co
m
m
od

at
e
w
or
ke
rs
w
ho

w
or
k
no

n
st
an
da
rd

ho
ur
sb

y
pr
ov
id
in
g
op

po
rt
un

iti
es

to
pa
rt
ici
pa
te
.R

es
id
en

tia
lp
re
fe
re
nt
ia
lp
ar
ki
ng

ca
n

co
ns
id
er

an
eq

ui
ta
bl
e
di
st
rib

ut
io
n
of

pe
rm

its
,g
iv
in
g
pr
io
rit
y
to

ow
ne

rs
of

su
st
ai
na
bl
y
fu
el
ed

ve
hi
cle

s.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

45
T
40

Im
pl
em

en
tS

ch
oo

lB
us

Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
sc
ho

ol
bu

s s
er
vi
ce

tr
an
sp
or
tin

g
st
ud

en
ts
to

a
sc
ho

ol
pr
oj
ec
t.
A
sc
ho

ol
bu

ss
er
vi
ce

ca
n
re
du

ce
th
e
nu

m
be

ro
fp

riv
at
e
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
st
o
dr
op

of
fo

rp
ick

up
st
ud

en
ts
,

th
er
eb

y
re
du

cin
g
VM

T
an
d
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
,a
sw

el
la
so

ns
ite

ai
rp

ol
lu
tio

n
em

iss
io
ns
,

es
pe

cia
lly

if
th
e
bu

si
sz
er
o
em

iss
io
ns
.B

es
tp

ra
ct
ice

si
nc
lu
de

co
nc
en

tr
at
in
g
se
rv
ice

fo
rs
tu
de

nt
s

w
ho

liv
e
fu
rt
he

ra
w
ay

fro
m

sc
ho

ol
s,
pr
ov
id
in
g
se
rv
ice

bo
th

be
fo
re

an
d
af
te
rs
ch
oo

l,
an
d

en
co
ur
ag
in
g
pa
re
nt
st
o
ut
ili
ze

th
e
se
rv
ice

.T
hi
sm

ea
su
re

is
m
or
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
at

sc
ho

ol
st
ha
td

ra
w

st
ud

en
ts
fro

m
a
la
rg
er

en
ro
llm

en
ta

re
a,
su
ch

as
hi
gh

sc
ho

ol
so

rp
riv

at
e
sc
ho

ol
s.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

46
T
41

Im
pl
em

en
t a

Sc
ho

ol
Po

ol
Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
sc

re
at
e
a
rid

es
ha
rin

g
pr
og
ra
m

fo
rs
ch
oo

lc
hi
ld
re
n.
M
os
ts
ch
oo

l
di
st
ric
ts
pr
ov
id
e
bu

ss
in
g
se
rv
ice

st
o
pu

bl
ic
sc
ho

ol
so

nl
y.
Sc
ho

ol
po

ol
he

lp
sm

at
ch

pa
re
nt
st
o

tr
an
sp
or
ts
tu
de

nt
st
o
pr
iv
at
e
sc
ho

ol
s,
or

to
sc
ho

ol
sw

he
re

st
ud

en
ts
ca
nn

ot
w
al
k
or

bi
ke

bu
td

o
no

tm
ee
tt
he

re
qu

ire
m
en

ts
fo
rb

us
sin

g.
A
sc
ho

ol
po

ol
pr
og
ra
m

ca
n
he

lp
re
du

ce
on

sit
e
ai
r

po
llu
ta
nt

em
iss
io
ns

at
th
e
sc
ho

ol
by

re
du

cin
g
pr
iv
at
e
ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
s,
es
pe

cia
lly

if
th
e
po

ol
ve
hi
cle

is
ze
ro

em
iss
io
ns
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

47
T
42

Im
pl
em

en
tT

el
ec
om

m
ut
e
an
d/
or

Al
te
rn
at
iv
e
W
or
k
Sc
he

du
le

Pr
og
ra
m

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
st
o
pe

rm
it
em

pl
oy
ee

te
le
co
m
m
ut
in
g
an
d/
or

al
te
rn
at
iv
e
w
or
k

sc
he

du
le
sa

nd
m
on

ito
re

m
pl
oy
ee

in
vo
lv
em

en
tt
o
en

su
re

fo
re
ca
st
ed

pa
rt
ici
pa
tio

n
m
at
ch
es

ob
se
rv
ed

pa
rt
ici
pa
tio

n.
W
hi
le
th
is
m
ea
su
re

ce
rt
ai
nl
y
re
du

ce
sc

om
m
ut
e
re
la
te
d
VM

T,
re
ce
nt

re
se
ar
ch

ha
ss
ho

w
n
th
at

to
ta
lV

M
T
fro

m
te
le
co
m
m
ut
er
sc

an
ex
ce
ed

VM
T
fro

m
no

n
te
le
co
m
m
ut
er
s.
In
ad
di
tio

n,
te
le
co
m
m
ut
in
g
af
fe
ct
sc

om
m
er
cia

la
nd

re
sid

en
tia

le
le
ct
ric
ity

us
e,

co
m
pl
ica

tin
g
th
e
ca
lcu

la
tio

n
of

th
e
ne

t e
ffe

ct
an
d
at
tr
ib
ut
io
n
of

em
iss
io
ns
.M

or
e
sp
ec
ifi
ca
lly
,

an
of
fic
e
w
ith

fe
w
er

em
pl
oy
ee
sc

ou
ld
re
su
lt
in
a
de

cr
ea
se

in
th
e
pr
oj
ec
t’s

en
er
gy

us
ed

to
op

er
at
e
eq

ui
pm

en
ta

nd
pr
ov
id
e
sp
ac
e
he

at
in
g
an
d
ai
rc
on

di
tio

ni
ng
.C

on
ve
rs
el
y,
an

in
cr
ea
se

in
te
le
co
m
m
ut
er
su

sin
g
th
ei
rp

riv
at
e
ho

m
es

as
w
or
ks
pa
ce
sc

ou
ld
re
su
lt
in
a
re
sid

en
tia

li
nc
re
as
e

in
en

er
gy

fo
rt
ho

se
sa
m
e
en

d
us
es

an
d
ap
pl
ia
nc
es
.W

hi
le
th
is
m
ea
su
re

is
cu
rr
en

tly
no

t
qu

an
tif
ie
d
an
d,
ac
co
rd
in
g
to

so
m
e
st
ud

ie
s,
co
ul
d
re
su
lt
in
to
ta
lV

M
T
in
cr
ea
se
sa

nd
ot
he

r
di
sb
en

ef
its
,i
ti
sr
ec
om

m
en

de
d
th
at

us
er
sr
ev
ie
w
th
e
m
os
tr
ec
en

tl
ite

ra
tu
re

at
th
e
tim

e
of

th
ei
r

pr
oj
ec
ti
ni
tia

tio
n
to

se
e
if
ne

w
fin

di
ng
sm

or
e
co
nc
lu
siv

el
y
su
pp

or
ta

qu
an
tif
ia
bl
e
em

iss
io
ns

re
du

ct
io
n.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

48
T
43

Pr
ov
id
e
Re

al
Ti
m
e
Tr
an
sit

In
fo
rm

at
io
n

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
sp

ro
vi
de

re
al

tim
e
bu

s/
tr
ai
n/
fe
rr
y
ar
riv

al
tim

e,
tr
av
el
tim

e,
al
te
rn
at
iv
e
ro
ut
in
gs
,o

ro
th
er

tr
an
sit

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
vi
a
el
ec
tr
on

ic
m
es
sa
ge

sig
ns
,d
ed

ica
te
d

m
on

ito
ro

ri
nt
er
ac
tiv

e
el
ec
tr
on

ic
di
sp
la
ys
,w

eb
sit
es
,o
rm

ob
ile

ap
ps
.T
hi
sm

ak
es

tr
an
sit

se
rv
ice

m
or
e
co
nv
en

ie
nt

an
d
m
ay

re
su
lt
in
a
m
od

e
sh
ift

fro
m

au
to

to
tr
an
sit
,w

hi
ch

re
du

ce
sV

M
T.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

49
T
44

Pr
ov
id
e
Sh
ut
tle

s(
Ga

so
rE

le
ct
ric
)

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
lo
ca
ls
hu

tt
le
se
rv
ice

th
ro
ug
h
co
or
di
na
tio

n
w
ith

th
e
lo
ca
lt
ra
ns
it

op
er
at
or

or
pr
iv
at
e
co
nt
ra
ct
or
.T
he

sh
ut
tle

sw
ill
pr
ov
id
e
se
rv
ice

to
an
d
fro

m
co
m
m
er
cia

l
ce
nt
er
st
o
ne

ar
by

tr
an
sit

ce
nt
er
st
o
he

lp
w
ith

fir
st
an
d
la
st
m
ile

co
nn

ec
tiv

ity
,t
he

re
by

in
ce
nt
iv
izi
ng

a
sh
ift

fro
m

pr
iv
at
e
ve
hi
cle

st
o
tr
an
sit
,r
ed

uc
in
g
as
so
cia

te
d
GH

G
em

iss
io
ns
.

El
ec
tr
ic
sh
ut
tle

ve
hi
cle

sp
ro
vi
de

a
m
ar
gi
na
lly

m
or
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
re
du

ct
io
n
to

GH
G
em

iss
io
ns

co
m
pa
re
d
to

ga
s
or

di
es
el

fu
el
ed

sh
ut
tle

sd
ue

to
th
ei
ru

se
of

le
ss
em

iss
io
ns

in
te
ns
iv
e
el
ec
tr
ic

po
w
er
.S
hu

tt
le
st
ha
ts
er
ve

on
ly
th
e
pr
oj
ec
tr
es
id
en

ts
an
d/
or

em
pl
oy
ee
sm

ay
be

se
en

as
in
cr
ea
sin

g
ge
nt
rif
ica

tio
n
an
d
ex
clu

sio
na
ry
.C

on
sid

er
al
lo
w
in
g
al
lp
eo

pl
e
to

us
e
th
e
sh
ut
tle

,
re
ga
rd
le
ss
of

st
at
us
.N

ot
e
th
at

th
is
m
ea
su
re

ca
n
al
so

be
im

pl
em

en
te
d
at

th
e
Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

sc
al
e

by
a
la
rg
e
em

pl
oy
er

as
pa
rt
of

a
Tr
ip
Re

du
ct
io
n
Pr
og
ra
m
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

50
T
45

Pr
ov
id
e
O
n
De

m
an
d
M
icr
ot
ra
ns
it

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
sm

al
ls
ca
le
,o

n
de

m
an
d
pu

bl
ic
tr
an
sit

se
rv
ice

st
ha
tc
an

of
fe
rf
ix
ed

ro
ut
es

an
d
sc
he

du
le
so

rf
le
xi
bl
e
ro
ut
es

an
d
on

de
m
an
d
sc
he

du
lin
g
(e
.g
.,
M
et
ro

M
icr
o)

th
ro
ug
h

co
or
di
na
tio

n
w
ith

th
e
lo
ca
lt
ra
ns
it
op

er
at
or

or
pr
iv
at
e
co
nt
ra
ct
or
.M

icr
ot
ra
ns
it
ai
m
st
o
of
fe
r

sh
or
te
rw

ai
tt
im

es
an
d
im

pr
ov
ed

re
lia
bi
lit
y
co
m
pa
re
d
to

th
e
bu

sa
nd

ra
il
sy
st
em

to
fu
rt
he

r
in
ce
nt
iv
ize

al
te
rn
at
iv
e
tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
m
od

es
th
at

ar
e
le
ss
em

iss
io
ns

in
te
ns
iv
e
th
an

pr
iv
at
e

ve
hi
cle

tr
ip
s.
O
n
de

m
an
d
rid

es
ca
n
be

bo
ok
ed

us
in
g
sm

ar
tp
ho

ne
ap
pl
ica

tio
ns

or
ca
ll
ce
nt
er
s.

No
te

th
at

th
is
m
ea
su
re

m
ay

al
so

be
ap
pl
ica

bl
e
at

th
e
Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

sc
al
e
fo
ra

la
rg
e
em

pl
oy
er

(e
.g
.,
Go

og
le
’s
Vi
a2
G
pi
lo
t)
as

pa
rt
of

a
Tr
ip
Re

du
ct
io
n
Pr
og
ra
m
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

or
Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

51
T
46

Im
pr
ov
e
Tr
an
sit

Ac
ce
ss
,S
af
et
y,

an
d
Co

m
fo
rt

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
si
m
pr
ov
e
tr
an
sit

ac
ce
ss
an
d
sa
fe
ty

th
ro
ug
h
sid

ew
al
k/
cr
os
sw

al
k

sa
fe
ty

en
ha
nc
em

en
ts
,b
us

sh
el
te
ri
m
pr
ov
em

en
ts
,i
m
pr
ov
ed

lig
ht
in
g,
an
d
ot
he

rf
ea
tu
re
s.
W
or
k

w
ith

th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
to

de
te
rm

in
e
ba
rr
ie
rs
to

us
e,
m
os
td

es
ire

d
im

pr
ov
em

en
ts
,a
nd

ot
he

r
ac
ce
ss
ch
al
le
ng
es
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
, r
ur
al
(o
nl
y
if
th
e

pr
oj
ec
ti
sa

dj
ac
en

tt
o
a
co
m
m
ut
er

ra
il
st
at
io
n
w
ith

co
nv
en

ie
nt

ra
il

se
rv
ice

to
a
m
aj
or

em
pl
oy
m
en

t
ce
nt
er
,o
ri
ft
he

re
is
av
ai
la
bl
e

tr
an
sit

an
d
th
e
pr
oj
ec
ti
sc

lo
se

to
jo
bs
/s
er
vi
ce
s)

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

52
T
47

Pr
ov
id
e
Bi
ke

Pa
rk
in
g
Ne

ar
Tr
an
sit

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
st
he

pr
oj
ec
tt
o
pr
ov
id
e
sh
or
tt
er
m

an
d
lo
ng

te
rm

bi
cy
cle

pa
rk
in
g
ne

ar
ra
il

st
at
io
ns
,t
ra
ns
it
st
op

s,
an
d
fre

ew
ay

ac
ce
ss
po

in
ts
w
he

re
th
er
e
ar
e
co
m
m
ut
er

or
ra
pi
d
bu

sl
in
es
.

In
clu

de
lo
ca
tio

ns
fo
rs
ha
re
d
m
icr
om

ob
ili
ty

de
vi
ce
sa

sw
el
la
sh

ig
he

r
se
cu
rit
y
pa
rk
in
g
fo
r

pe
rs
on

al
bi
cy
cle

s.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

53
T
48

Im
pl
em

en
tA

re
a
or

Co
rd
on

Pr
ici
ng

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
si
m
pl
em

en
ta

co
rd
on

pr
ici
ng

sc
he

m
e.
Th
e
pr
ici
ng

sc
he

m
e
w
ill

se
ta

co
rd
on

(b
ou

nd
ar
y)
ar
ou

nd
a
sp
ec
ifi
ed

ar
ea

to
ch
ar
ge

a
to
ll
to

en
te
rt
he

ar
ea

by
ve
hi
cle

.
Th
e
co
rd
on

lo
ca
tio

n
is
us
ua
lly

th
e
bo

un
da
ry

of
a
ce
nt
ra
lb
us
in
es
sd

ist
ric
to

ru
rb
an

ce
nt
er

bu
t

co
ul
d
al
so

ap
pl
y
to

su
bs
ta
nt
ia
ld
ev
el
op

m
en

tp
ro
je
ct
sw

ith
lim

ite
d
po

in
ts
of

ac
ce
ss
.T
he

to
ll

pr
ice

ca
n
be

ba
se
d
on

a
fix
ed

sc
he

du
le
or

be
dy
na
m
ic,

re
sp
on

di
ng

to
re
al

tim
e
co
ng
es
tio

n
le
ve
ls.

It
is
cr
iti
ca
lt
o
ha
ve

an
ex
ist
in
g,
hi
gh

qu
al
ity

tr
an
sit

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
fo
rt
he

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

th
is
st
ra
te
gy

to
re
ac
h
a
sig

ni
fic
an
tl
ev
el
of

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s.
Th
e
pr
ici
ng

sig
na
ls

w
ill
on

ly
ca
us
e
m
od

e
sh
ift
si
fa

lte
rn
at
iv
e
m
od

es
of

tr
av
el
ar
e
av
ai
la
bl
e
an
d
re
lia
bl
e.
Th
is

m
ea
su
re

sh
ou

ld
pr
ov
id
e
an

ex
ce
pt
io
n
fo
rl
ow

in
co
m
e
re
sid

en
ts
or

w
or
ke
rs
w
ith

in
th
e
pr
ici
ng

zo
ne

.

Ur
ba
n

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

54
T
49

Re
pl
ac
e
Tr
af
fic

Co
nt
ro
ls
w
ith

Ro
un

da
bo

ut

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
si
ns
ta
ll
a
ro
un

da
bo

ut
as

a
tr
af
fic

co
nt
ro
ld
ev
ice

to
sm

oo
th

tr
af
fic

flo
w
,r
ed

uc
e
id
lin
g,
el
im

in
at
e
bo

tt
le
ne

ck
s,
an
d
m
an
ag
e
sp
ee
d.
In
so
m
e
ca
se
s,
ro
un

da
bo

ut
sc

an
im

pr
ov
e
tr
af
fic

flo
w
an
d
re
du

ce
em

iss
io
ns
.T
he

em
iss
io
n
re
du

ct
io
n
de

pe
nd

sh
ea
vi
ly
on

w
ha
t

th
e
ro
un

da
bo

ut
is
co
m
pa
re
d
to

(e
.g
.,
un

co
nt
ro
lle
d
in
te
rs
ec
tio

n,
st
op

sig
n,
tr
af
fic

sig
na
l).

De
sig

n
ro
un

da
bo

ut
so

cy
cli
st
sh

av
e
th
e
op

tio
n
to

jo
in
tr
af
fic

or
by
pa
ss

th
e
ro
un

da
bo

ut
w
ith

an
ad
ja
ce
nt

pa
th
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

55
T
50

Re
qu

ire
d
Pr
oj
ec
tC

on
tr
ib
ut
io
ns

to
Tr
an
sp
or
ta
tio

n
In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
sc

on
tr
ib
ut
e
to

tr
af
fic

flo
w
im

pr
ov
em

en
ts
or

ot
he

rm
ul
ti
m
od

al
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
pr
oj
ec
ts
th
at

re
du

ce
em

iss
io
ns

an
d
ar
e
no

tc
on

sid
er
ed

as
su
bs
ta
nt
ia
lly

gr
ow

th
in
du

cin
g.
Th
e
lo
ca
lt
ra
ns
po

rt
at
io
n
ag
en

cy
sh
ou

ld
be

co
ns
ul
te
d
fo
rs
pe

cif
ic
ne

ed
s.
La
rg
er

pr
oj
ec
ts
m
ay

be
re
qu

ire
d
to

co
nt
rib

ut
e
a
pr
op

or
tio

na
te

sh
ar
e
to

th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
ta

nd
/o
r

co
nt
in
ua
tio

n
of

a
re
gi
on

al
tr
an
sit

sy
st
em

.C
on

tr
ib
ut
io
ns

m
ay

co
ns
ist

of
de

di
ca
te
d
rig

ht
of

w
ay
,

ca
pi
ta
li
m
pr
ov
em

en
ts
,o

re
as
em

en
ts
.E
ns
ur
e
th
e
ju
ris
di
ct
io
na
lf
ee

sy
st
em

do
es

no
t

di
sa
dv
an
ta
ge

in
fil
lp
ro
je
ct
so

ve
rg

re
en

fie
ld
pr
oj
ec
ts
.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



No
.

CA
PC

O
A

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

No
.

M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re

M
ea
su
re

De
sc
rip

tio
n

Lo
ca
tio

na
lC
on

te
xt

Sc
al
e
of

Ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

Im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
Ex
pa

nd
ed

M
iti
ga
tio

n
O
pt
io
ns

Fo
rm

ul
a

VM
T
Re

du
ct
io
n

Ta
bl
e
F

Ve
hi
cl
e
M
ile
sT

ra
ve
le
d
M
iti
ga
tio

n
M
ea
su
re
sf
or

La
nd

De
ve
lo
pm

en
tP

ro
je
ct
s

56
T
51

In
st
al
lP
ar
k
an
d
Ri
de

Lo
ts

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
si
ns
ta
ll
pa
rk

an
d
rid

e
lo
ts
ne

ar
tr
an
sit

st
op

sa
nd

hi
gh

oc
cu
pa
nc
y

ve
hi
cle

la
ne

s.
Pa
rk

an
d
rid

e
lo
ts
al
so

fa
cil
ita

te
ca
r
an
d
va
np

oo
lin
g.
Pa
rk
in
g
lo
ts
ca
n
al
so

in
co
rp
or
at
e
co
ol
pa
ve
m
en

ts
,t
re
e
ca
no

py
,o
rs
ol
ar

ph
ot
ov
ol
ta
ic
sh
ad
e
ca
no

pi
es

to
re
du

ce
th
e

ur
ba
n
he

at
isl
an
d
ef
fe
ct
as

w
el
la
se

va
po

ra
tiv

e
em

iss
io
ns

fro
m

pa
rk
ed

ve
hi
cle

sa
nd

de
di
ca
te
d

el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

pa
rk
in
g
sp
ot
sa

nd
/o
rc
ha
rg
in
g
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e.

Su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

57
T
52

De
sig

na
te

Ze
ro

Em
iss
io
ns

De
liv
er
y

Zo
ne

s

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
st
he

m
un

ici
pa
lit
y
to

de
sig

na
te

ce
rt
ai
n
cu
rb
sid

e
lo
ca
tio

ns
as

co
m
m
er
cia

l
lo
ad
in
g
zo
ne

se
xc
lu
siv

el
y
av
ai
la
bl
e
fo
rz
er
o
em

iss
io
n
co
m
m
er
cia

ld
el
iv
er
y
ve
hi
cle

s.
Do

in
g
so

re
pl
ac
es

ta
ilp
ip
e
di
es
el
em

iss
io
ns

fro
m

la
st

m
ile

de
liv
er
y
ve
hi
cle

sa
sw

el
la
sh

ea
vy

du
ty

dr
ay
ag
e

tr
uc
ks

m
ov
in
g
go
od

sw
ith

le
ss
em

iss
io
ns

in
te
ns
iv
e
el
ec
tr
ic
ve
hi
cle

sa
nd

po
te
nt
ia
lly

m
icr
om

ob
ili
ty

fo
rf
oo

d
an
d
pa
rc
el
de

liv
er
y.
Lo
ca
tio

ns
sh
ou

ld
be

pr
io
rit
ize

d
ba
se
d
on

la
nd

us
e

de
ns
ity

an
d
ex
ist
in
g
ex
po

su
re

fro
m

ai
rp

ol
lu
tio

n.

Ur
ba
n

Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

58
T
53

El
ec
tr
ify

Lo
ad
in
g
Do

ck
s

Th
is
m
ea
su
re

w
ill
re
qu

ire
th
at

Tr
an
sp
or
tR

ef
rig

er
at
io
n
Un

its
an
d
au
xi
lia
ry

po
w
er

un
its

(A
PU

s)
be

pl
ug
ge
d
in
to

th
e
el
ec
tr
ic
gr
id
at

th
e
lo
ad
in
g
do

ck
in
st
ea
d
of

ru
nn

in
g
on

di
es
el
.T
he

in
di
re
ct

GH
G
em

iss
io
n
fro

m
el
ec
tr
ici
ty
ge
ne

ra
tio

n
ca
n
pa
rt
ia
lly

of
fs
et

th
e
em

iss
io
ns

re
du

ct
io
n
fro

m
fu
el

re
du

ct
io
ns
.E
le
ct
rif
yi
ng

lo
ad
in
g
do

ck
sc

an
re
du

ce
ex
po

su
re

to
ai
rp

ol
lu
ta
nt
sf
or

w
or
ke
rs
an
d

dr
iv
er
s.

Ur
ba
n,
su
bu

rb
an
,r
ur
al

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

59
T
54

In
st
al
lH

yd
ro
ge
n
Fu
el
in
g

In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

Th
e
m
ea
su
re

re
qu

ire
sp

ro
je
ct
st
o
im

pl
em

en
ta

cc
es
sib

le
hy
dr
og
en

fu
el
ce
ll
fu
el
in
g

in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e.
Dr
iv
er
so

ff
ue

lc
el
le
le
ct
ric

ve
hi
cle

s(
FC
EV

),
fro

m
in
di
vi
du

al
pa
ss
en

ge
rv

eh
icl
es

to
ha
ul
tr
uc
k
fle

et
s,
w
ill
be

ab
le
to

re
fu
el
us
in
g
th
is
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e.
Th
e
ex
pa
ns
io
n
of

hy
dr
og
en

fu
el
in
g
lo
ca
tio

ns
in
di
re
ct
ly
su
pp

or
ts
th
e
up

ta
ke

of
FC
EV

in
pl
ac
e
of

th
e
ty
pi
ca
li
nt
er
na
l

co
m
bu

st
io
n
en

gi
ne

ve
hi
cle

fu
el
ed

by
ca
rb
on

em
itt
in
g
ga
so
lin
e
an
d
di
es
el
.

Pr
oj
ec
t/
Si
te

or
Pl
an
/C
om

m
un

ity

So
ur
ce
:H

an
db

oo
k
fo
rA

na
ly
zin

g
Gr
ee
nh

ou
se

Ga
sE

m
iss
io
n
Re

du
ct
io
ns
,A

ss
es
sin

g
Cl
im

at
e
Vu

ln
er
ab

ili
tie

s,
an

d
Ad

va
nc
in
g
He

al
th

an
d
Eq
ui
ty
,
Fi
na
lD

ra
ft,

by
th
e
Ca
lif
or
ni
a
Ai
rP

ol
lu
tio

n
Co

nt
ro
lO

ffi
ce
rs
As
so
cia

tio
n,
De

ce
m
be

r2
02
1.

P:
\L
M
R2

20
1
Le
m
oo

re
VM

T
Gu

id
el
in
es
\R
ep

or
t\
Ta
bl
e
F
VM

T
M
iti
ga
tio

ns
_C

ity
of

Le
m
oo

re
.x
lsx

\L
an
d
De

v
Pr
oj

(3
/1
5/
20

23
)



      
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 W Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

To: Lemoore Planning Commission Item No. 6 
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: April 21, 2023 Meeting Date: April 24, 2023 
Subject: Discussion of Potential Ordinance Changes to Encourage Housing 

Development

Proposed Motion:

No motion needed. This is an informational item for discussion. All proposed changes to the 
General Plan and to the text and map of the Zoning Ordinance will be formally proposed at 
a noticed public hearing later this year.

Summary:

The City received a grant from the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development (HCD) to update or modify City ordinances and procedures in a way that would 
encourage more housing development in Lemoore. Staff intends to bring these updates to 
the Planning Commission in the coming months, first as review sessions, and then as a public 
hearing to make a recommendation to the City Council. The first review session was held on 
March 13, 2023.

Proposed Changes:

The following list describes our main scope of changes Staff is planning to recommend. At 
this time, Staff requests a discussion to see if the Planning Commission has any questions, 
comments, or suggestions for Staff. If there are other topics or items in the Zoning Ordinance 
not listed here that you would like to open for discussion, there is still time to add them into 
these amendments.

General Plan and Zoning Map changes – The Mixed Use General Plan designation and 
related MU zone has not worked out as was intended by the General Plan when it was 
adopted in 2008. Developers have shied away from the sites zoned MU and there has been 
no development on them. Staff is going to propose elimination of the Mixed Use designation



(except in the downtown) and the MU zoning from the General Plan Map and the Zoning 
Map. After further discussion internally, we are recommending not to remove the chapter on 
Mixed Use just in case there is ever a desire to bring it back  The Chapter in the Zoning 
Ordinance would also be removed. The sites will be proposed for rezone to either High 
Density Residential, Medium Density Residential, Neighborhood Commercial, Professional 
Office, or Regional Commercial. Since the goal of the grant is to encourage more housing, 
preference will be given to change to residential zones except where commercial zoning is 
more appropriate due to existing or surrounding uses. City staff has met with one property 
owner with multiple vacant parcels zoned MU that has been trying to develop for several 
years. The property owner was fully supportive of this effort to change the zoning.  
 
The existing and proposed General Plan and Zoning for the Mixed Use areas is shown in the 
attached maps. There are basically four areas, which the maps call Bush and D Streets, 
North of College, Lemoore Avenue & Cinnamon Drive, and Hanford-Armona Road east of 
Lemoore Avenue. For each area there is a general plan amendment map and a zoning 
amendment map. The map on the top-right of each page shows which parcels are affected. 
The map on the bottom-left shows the existing map while the map on the bottom-right shows 
the proposed changes. 

One of the purposes of changing the designations and zoning is to plan for more housing. 
The tables below show the vacant acres in each of the four areas, and how the change will 
affect the number of housing units that could be constructed after the change.  The density 
of each zone is based on the realistic density assumed in the Housing Element. The tables 
only show the acreages of vacant land being proposed to be changed. 

Zone Zone Name 
Vacant 
Acres 

Housing 
Element 
Realistic 
Density 

HE 
Lower 

HE 
Mod 

HE 
Above 
Mod 

Total 
Housing 

 Hanford-Armona Road east of Lemoore Ave.      
MU Mixed Use -0.27 9.00 -1 -1 0 -2   

NC Neighborhood Commercial 0.07 0.00 0 0 0 0   

RMD Medium Density Residential 0.20 14.00 3 0 0 3   

 TOTALS 0.00  2 -1 0 1   

        
  

        
  

Zone Zone Name 
Vacant 
Acres 

Housing 
Element 
Realistic 
Density 

HE 
Lower 

HE 
Mod 

HE 
Above 
Mod 

Total 
Housing 

  

 Lemoore Avenue and Cinnamon Drive       
  

MU Mixed Use -27.43 9.00 -123 -124 0 -247   

NC Neighborhood Commercial 5.87 0.00 0 0 0 0   

RHD High Density Residential 21.57 18.00 388 0 0 388   

 TOTALS 0.00  265 -124 0 141   

        
  



        
  

Zone Zone Name 
Vacant 
Acres 

Housing 
Element 
Realistic 
Density 

HE 
Lower 

HE 
Mod 

HE 
Above 
Mod 

Total 
Housing 

  

 North of College       
  

MU Mixed Use -6.56 9.00 -29 -30 0 -59   

RLD Low Density Residential 6.19 4.50 0 14 15 28   

PR Greenway -0.70 0.00 0 0 0 0   

CF Community Facilities District -3.57 0.00 0 0 0 0   

RMD Medium Density Residential 4.64 18.00 34 0 0 84   

 TOTALS 0.00  5 -16 15 53   

        
  

        
  

Zone Zone Name 
Vacant 
Acres 

Housing 
Element 
Realistic 
Density 

HE 
Lower 

HE 
Mod 

HE 
Above 
Mod 

Total 
Housing 

  

  Bush and D Streets       
  

MU Mixed Use -11.96 9.00 -56 -57 0 -108   

RHD High Density Residential 6.34 18.00 114 0 0 114   

RMD Medium Density Residential -2.12 14.00 -30 0 0 -30   

RMD Medium Density Residential 4.37 14.00 61 0 0 61   

NC Neighborhood Commercial 3.37 0.00 0 0 0 0   

 TOTALS 0.00  89 -57 0 37   

        
  

 OVERALL TOTAL   361 -198 15 232   

 

The tables show that overall, the changes being considered could increase the capacity to 
approve housing units by a total of 232 units, with almost all of that being in the lower income 
range.  The State considers lower income to be 50% or less than the median income of a 
community. 

 

Residential development standards – Using comments heard at the Council study session 
about lot size that was held on February 7, Staff will propose a smaller by-right minimum lot 
size than the current 7,000 sq.ft. This should streamline the approval process because 
subdivision proposals that meet the new minimum lot size will not be required to obtain 
approval of a Planned Unit Development (PUD). Other cities in the Valley have changed their 
minimum lots sizes to 4,000 4500, 5000, or 6,000 sq.ft.  Staff will also review the current 
building setbacks for residential uses and propose changes if we believe them appropriate 
and if it would encourage more housing growth. 



Roughly half of the city is zoned Low Density Residential, which is where most single-family 
residential homes are located. One of the most important design standards for this zone is 
the minimum lot size. The standard minimum lot size is the smallest size, measured by 
square feet, into which land can be subdivided for sale by a developer, with each lot usually 
having one residence. Since 2012, the standard minimum lot size has been 7,000 square 
feet. However, the Zoning Ordinance allows developers to apply for a Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) when they submit a subdivision map, with which they can request 
approval for lots smaller than 7,000 square feet. In the last 10 years, only one subdivision 
map with a minimum lot size of 7,000-square-foot lots has been submitted. All others were 
submitted with smaller lots, so every subdivider has been required to also obtain a PUD. 
Using the PUD, a developer can propose their own minimum lot size for approval by the 
Planning Commission and City Council. Most have chosen 5,000 square feet or 6,000 square 
feet. Other cities in the region have minimum lot sizes below 7,000 square feet. The following 
table summarizes their Zoning Ordinances regarding minimum single-family lot size. 

 

 

Minimum Lot Sizes in Other Cities 

City Minimum Lot Size 
Allowed by Right Notes 

Visalia 5,000 Lots can be approved as small as 3,600 sf. if 12 identified standards 
are met. Otherwise, a PUD can be requested. 

Hanford 5,000 Lots can be approved as small as 3,600 sf. if 11 identified standards 
are met. Otherwise, a PUD can be requested. 

Tulare* 5,000 
There is a special zone that can be requested that allows lots as small 
as 3,200 sf. if 9 identified standards are met. Otherwise, a PUD can be 
requested. There are standard requirements for smaller lots. 

Fresno 4,000 
Lots can be approved as small at 2,500 sf. if at least 5 “enhanced 
streetscape” amenities from a specific list of 15 amenities are 
incorporated into the design of the project. 

Clovis 4,500 A PUD can be requested for lot sizes smaller than 4,500 sf. 

Selma* 7,000 A conditional use permit can be obtained for lots less than 7,000 sf., 
but only for up to 30% of the lots in the subdivision. 

*Tulare and Selma are currently undergoing a comprehensive Zoning Ordinance update. 

 

The proposed changes are shown in Table 9-5A-4A on Text Amendment Pages 18 and 19. 
The proposed changes show a minimum single-family lot size of 5,000 square feet. 
Developers that desire to have lots less than 5,000 square feet in size would be required to 
obtain a PUD. Lot size maximums would be removed as a requirement. The minimum front 
yard setback would be reduced to 15 feet and no longer require a 2-foot stagger in the front. 
Side yards would be a minimum of 5 feet and no longer require an additional 5 feet for the 
second story. There would be no change to the rear yard setback. 

 



Site Plan and Architectural Review – Staff will be working on text changes that would make 
Site Plan Review a ministerial process that is always approved by the City staff. This would 
mean that projects that only need Site Plan Review approval would no longer go to the 
Planning Commission for review. Staff will also be proposing a new preliminary site plan 
process that is consistent with SB330, a 2019 law that limits what Cities can ask of 
developers that want to utilize a preliminary site plan review process. The process would also 
be completely managed by Staff. 

The proposed text changes would be applied to Section 9-2B-12 as well as Table 9-2A-7-1. 
See Text Amendment Pages 3 and 4 for the text changes and Text Amendment Pages 1 
and 2 for the table changes. Since there would no longer be two types of site plan review 
(minor and major) Section 9-2B-15 would be removed completely (see Text Amendment 
Pages 5 and 6.) 

 

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Ordinance – Staff is updating the ADU Ordinance to 
ensure compliance with State law, which was changed in 2019 and again in 2020. The goal 
will be to make the process more understandable so as to encourage more ADUs. The 
changes are on Text Amendment Pages 13 through 17 and affect Section 9-4D-12. As per 
State law, a site could have both an accessory dwelling unit and a junior accessory dwelling 
unit (JADU). The new code is consistent with the standards allowed to be implemented by 
State law. 

Cottage home ordinance – Staff is looking at adding a cottage home ordinance to the 
Zoning Ordinance. In the new ordinance text, a cottage would be considered a special type 
of accessory dwelling unit where the City provides the homeowner with preapproved building 
plans so that the homeowner does not have the expense of having an architect draw up 
building plans. It would have to meet both the ADU and the cottage home standards. The 
specific text can be found on Text Amendment Page 16. 

Tiny house ordinance – Staff is looking at adding a tiny house ordinance to the Zoning 
Ordinance. In the new ordinance text, a tiny house would be considered a special type of 
accessory dwelling unit. It would have to meet both the ADU and the tiny house standards. 
The specific text can be found on Text Amendment Page 16 and 17. 

 

SB9 Compliance – SB9 was a new 2021 State law that allows existing property owners (not 
developers) to add a second main home on their lot or to split their lot to accommodate a 
second home even if the lot split does not meet the minimum zoning requirements. At the 
time of adoption, this law was described in the press as “the end of single-family zoning in 
California.”  While that may not be exactly true, the law does contain certain overrides of local 
zoning that Cities must allow. No one in Lemoore has tried to take advantage of this law yet.  

This new law is being acknowledged with new text in the Allowed Uses Table 9-4B-2, which 
is found on Text Amendment Page 8.  It is listed as “Dwelling, additional, meeting provisions 
of Government Code Section 66852.21.” 

 



Other Definition Changes – On Text Amendment Page 7, there are revised definitions for 
large and small family day care. This is to bring the City’s definition more in line with the 
State’s definition. There is also a new definition for Short-term Rental Unit, more commonly 
known as an Airbnb or Vrbo rental. This use is being added to the zoning ordinance to 
distinguish it from a bed and breakfast or a hotel.  

 
Other topics planned to be covered at a later date: 
 
The following changes to policy or procedures are part of the grant funded work to encourage 
more housing. Only the Subdivision Ordinance Update will need a recommendation from the 
Planning Commission. The other items are related to Staff policies and do not need to be 
formally adopted. 

Subdivision Ordinance Update – the Subdivision Ordinance was last updated in  2012. 
Antonio Westerlund, the City surveyor, and his surveyor team are reviewing the Ordinance 
with the intent on recommending updates to the text of the Ordinance. The Subdivision 
Ordinance describes the specific requirements for subdivision and parcel maps. The review 
team will be looking for ways to streamline the preparation and review process. This is the 
same team of surveyors that have been reviewing maps that have been submitted in the last 
few years and are using that understanding to recommend modifications to make processing 
of maps more streamlined for the land developer’s surveyor and the City’s reviewing 
surveyor. 

Subdivision Improvement Agreement Update – Jeff Cowart, the City Engineer, and his 
team will be reviewing the standard wording of Lemoore’s Subdivision Improvement 
Agreement. The intent is to locate ways to improve the agreement as a way of streamlining 
or shortening the approval process. 

Residential plot plans – Staff has prepared an example standard plot plan that can be given 
to developers so that the first submittal of their plot plans are more likely to meet the City’s 
standards for plot plans, which would shorten the time it takes to obtain a building permit for 
a new home. 

Landscape Plan review – Staff is preparing an example landscape plan that can be given 
to developers so that the first submittal of their landscape plans is more likely to meet the 
MWELO and City standards. 

 
Environmental Assessment: 
 
No CEQA required at this time. This item is only for discussion. 
 
Attachments: 
 

 
Existing and Proposed General Plan Amendments and Zoning Map Amendments 
Proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments 



 

General Plan Amendment – Bush and D Streets 

From:  Mixed Use 
Medium Density Residential 
Greenway 

To:  High Density Residential 
Neighborhood Commercial 
Low-Medium Density Residential 
Low Density Residential 



 

Zoning Map Amendment – Bush and D Streets 

From:  Mixed Use (MU) 
Medium Density Residential (RMD) 
Parks and Recreation/Ponding Basin (PR) 

To:  High Density Residential (RHD) 
Neighborhood Commercial (NC) 
Low-Medium Density Residential (RLMD) 
Low Density Residential (RLD) 



General Plan Amendment – North of College 

From:  Mixed Use 
Medium Density Residential 
Community Facilities 
Greenway 

To:  Medium Density Residential 
Community Facilities 
Low Density Residential 



Zoning Map Amendment – North of College 

From:  Mixed Use (MU) 
Medium Density Residential (RMD) 
Community Facilities (CF) 
Parks and Recreation/Ponding Basin (PR) 

To:  Medium Density Residential (RMD) 
Community Facilities (CF) 
Low Density Residential (RLD) 



General Plan Amendment – Lemoore Avenue & 
Cinnamon Drive 

From:  Mixed Use 
 
To:  High Density Residential 

Neighborhood Commercial 

 



Zoning Map Amendment – Lemoore Avenue & 
Cinnamon Drive 

From:  Mixed Use (MU) 
 
To:  High Density Residential (RHD) 

Neighborhood Commercial (NC) 

 



General Plan Amendment – Hanford-Armona 
Road east of Lemoore Avenue 

From:  Mixed Use 
 
To:  Medium Density Residential 

Neighborhood Commercial 

 



 

Zoning Map Amendment – Hanford-Armona 
Road east of Lemoore Avenue 

From:  Mixed Use (MU) 
 
To:  Medium Density Residential (RMD) 

Neighborhood Commercial (NC) 

 



 

General Plan Amendment – Maverik/King 

From:  Mixed Use 
 
To:  Light Industrial 

Neighborhood Commercial 

 



 

Zoning Map Amendment – Maverik/King 

From:  Mixed Use (MU) 
 
To:  Light Industrial (ML) 

Neighborhood Commercial (NC) 

 



Text Amendments Page 1

April 24 Planning Commission Version 
 

PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS 
 

New text is underlined.  Text to be removed is in strikeout format. 
 
 

 

TABLE 9-2A-7-1 
PLANNING PERMIT AND ENTITLEMENTS AND REVIEW AND APPEAL AUTHORITY1 

Planning Permit Or 
Entitlement 

Notice/Hearing 
Requirement 

Authority 
Planning 
Director 

Planning 
Commission 

City 
Council 

Administrative permits: 
 

      
Zoning clearance (e.g., 
building permit, signs, 
business license) 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Temporary use permit None Final Appeal- Appeal 
Tree permit for trees on 
private property 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Reasonable 
accommodation 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Similar use 
determination 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Official zoning 
interpretation 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Minor home occupation 
permit 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Highway oriented sign 
permit 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Administrative use 
permit 

None Final Appeal- Appeal 

Minor deviation None Final Appeal- Appeal 
Minor site plan and 
architectural review 

None Final - Appeal 

Sign program None Final Appeal- Appeal 



Text Amendments Page 2

Site plan and 
architectural review 

None Final Appeal Appeal 

Quasi-judicial permits 
and entitlements: 

        

Conditional use permit Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 
Major home occupation 
permit 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 

Major site plan and 
architectural review 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 

Planned unit 
development 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 

Variance Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 
Public convenience or 
necessity 

Public hearing Recommending Final Appeal 2 

Legislative approvals:         
Specific plan Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
Development agreement Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
Planned Unit 
Development 

Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 

Zoning amendment Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
Prezoning Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 
General plan amendment Public hearing 3 Recommending Recommending Final 

 

  



Text Amendments Page 3

9-2B-12: MINOR SITE PLAN AND ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW: 

   A.   Purpose: The purpose of minor site plan and architectural review is for the review of the 
design and layout of new development in the City to ensure that it is consistent with the 
regulations of this title, other relevant titles in the Lemoore Municipal Code, and all relevant City 
policies, requirements, and development standards that would apply to the project prior to the 
issuance of subsequent permits, such as discretionary actions required by the City Zoning 
Ordinance or City Subdivision Ordinance, improvement plans, and building permits. It is the 
intent that site plan and architectural review be a ministerial action limited to review of the 
project development project for conformance with City of Lemoore ordinances, policies, 
requirements, and development standards. (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

   B.   Applicability: Minor siteSite plan and architectural review shall be required prior to the 
issuance of any ministerial building permits or site improvement plans and prior to or in 
conjunction withany discretionary action of corresponding development applications (e.g., 
conditional use permit, variance). Site plan and architectural review may serve as the 
preliminary application for housing development projects seeking vesting rights pursuant to SB 
330, the Housing Crisis Act of 2019. 

      1.   Review Required: Minor siteSite plan and architectural review is required for all of the 
following activities: 

         a.   New nonresidential or mixed-use developments of less than twenty thousand (20,000) 
gross square feet; 

         b.   Additions Nonresidential building additions greater than 1,000 square feet; of less than 
twenty thousand (20,000) square feet to existing commercial, office, and industrial buildings; 

         c.   Conceptual plan for a mixed-use center as required by chapter 7, "Mixed Use 
Development Standards", of this title. 

         d.   New multi-family residential developments of more than two units (e.g., apartments, 
condominiums, townhomes) of less than thirty (30) units on a single site. (Ord. 2018-03, 5-15-
2018) 

         e.   The design and layout of new residential subdivisions as part of the tentative 
subdivision map process as provided in title 8, chapter 7, "Land Division", of the Municipal 
Code; 

         f.   Demolition or exterior alterations and additions to nonresidential buildings that are 
more than seventy five (75) years old. 

      2.   Exemptions: The following activities are specifically exempt from minor site plan and 
architectural review: 

         a.   Single-family residential custom homes and duplexes on an existing lot; 

         b.   Additions to or the exterior remodels of single-family residential homes within normal 
setbacks; 

         c.   Accessory structures consistent with the provisions of section 9-4D-18, "Residential 
Accessory Structures", of this title; 



Text Amendments Page 4

         d.   Changes to the exterior facade of existing buildings; 

         e.   Painting existing buildings in the DMX zoning districts with historic color palettes as 
described in subsection 9-6-4C, "Colors And Painting", of this title; 

         f.   Repairs and maintenance to the site or structure that do not add to, enlarge, or expand 
the area occupied by the land use, or the floor area of the structure and that employ the same 
materials and design as the original construction; 

         g.   Interior alterations that do not increase the gross floor area within the structure, or 
change/expand the permitted use of the structure (including solar collectors); and 

         h.   Construction, alteration, or maintenance by a public utility or public agency of 
underground or overhead utilities intended to service existing or nearby approved 
developments. 

i. Nonresidential building additions of 1,000 square feet of gross floor area or less; 

   C.   Approval Authority: The designated approval authority for minor site plan and architectural 
design review shall be the Planning Community Development Director. 

   D.   Process: The applicant shall provide a completed application on a form preparedovided 
by the City, a site plan and, if new non-residential buildings or multi-family dwellings are 
proposed, an elevation plan. No public hearing or notice is required for a minor site plan and 
architectural review. Site plan and architectural review is a ministerial process conducted by City 
staff to determine compliance with existing City of Lemoore ordinances, policies, requirements, 
and development standards and is therefore exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per State CEQA Guidelines Section 15268.  

   E.   Approval Findings: A minor site plan and architectural review permit, or any modification 
thereto, shall be granted only when the designated approving authority makes a findingfinds that 
the proposed project is consistent with the objectives of the general plan and complies with 
applicable zoning regulations, specific plan provisions, and policies and improvement standards 
adopted by the City, or that a general plan amendment or zoning amendment is going to be 
subsequently applied for by the developer. If the site plan submitted requires major changes 
before this finding can be made, the developer may be required to make changes and submit 
the site plan again. 

   F.   Post approval Implementation: A minor site plan and architectural design review permit is 
ministerial in nature. As such, the Planning Director may not impose discretionary conditions on 
the issuance of the permit. If the proposed development project requires approval of a 
discretionary action after completion of the site and architectural design review process, 
conditions of approval can be placed on the discretionary approval (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

   G.   Appeals. If the applicant disagrees with the interpretation or application of a City 
ordinance, policy, requirement, or development standard, they may appeal the interpretation per 
procedures in Section 9-2A-7 and 9-2A-8. 

   H.   Expiration. A site plan and architectural design review permit shall expire one (1) year 
after issuance unless an application for a related discretionary approval or a building permit is 
submitted. Upon written request by the applicant prior to expiration, the Community 
Development Director may extend the expiration  for an additional six (6) months. 



Text Amendments Page 5

9-2B-15: MAJOR SITE PLAN AND ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW: 

   A.   Purpose: The purpose of major site plan and architectural review is for the review of the 
design and layout of new development in the City to ensure that it is consistent with the 
regulations of this title and will not result in a detriment to the City or the environment. The City 
desires to maintain and enhance Lemoore's sense of place; design commercial and mixed use 
centers to be of pedestrian scale so people can feel comfortable and congregate in these areas; 
promote visually appealing architecture and high quality developments that promote a small 
town atmosphere; and protect and accentuate Lemoore's environmental assets, its surrounding 
natural landscape, agricultural farmland, open canals, and wetlands. (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

   B.   Applicability: Major site plan and architectural review shall be required prior to the 
issuance of any ministerial building permits or site improvement plans and prior to or in 
conjunction with discretionary action of corresponding development applications (e.g., 
conditional use permit, variance). 

      1.   Review Required: A major site plan and architectural review is required for the following 
items: 

         a.   New nonresidential or mixed-use developments of twenty thousand (20,000) gross 
square feet or more; 

         b.   Additions of twenty thousand (20,000) square feet or more to existing commercial, 
office, and industrial buildings; 

         c.   New multi-family residential developments (e.g., apartments, condominiums, 
townhomes) except where there are less than thirty (30) units on a single site; 

         d.   The design and layout of new residential subdivisions as part of the tentative 
subdivision map process as provided in title 8, chapter 7, "Land Division", of the Municipal 
Code; 

         e.   Demolition or exterior alterations and additions to nonresidential buildings that are 
more than seventy five (75) years old. (Ord. 2018-03, 5-15-2018) 

      2.   Exemptions: Those activities exempt from minor site plan and architectural design 
review as provided in subsection 9-2B-12 B2 of this article shall also be exempt from major site 
plan and architectural design review. 

   C.   Approval Authority: The designated approval authority for major site plan and architectural 
design review shall be the Planning Commission. 

   D.   Public Hearing And Notice: Public hearing and notice are required for a major site plan 
and architectural review pursuant to section 9-2A-6, "Public Notice, Hearings, And Decisions", 
of this chapter. 

   E.   Approval Findings: A major site plan and architectural review permit, or any modification 
thereto, shall be granted only when the designated approving authority makes all of the 
following findings: 

      1.   The proposed project is consistent with the objectives of the general plan and complies 
with applicable zoning regulations, specific plan provisions, and improvement standards 
adopted by the City; 

      2.   The proposed architecture, site design, and landscape are suitable for the purposes of 
the building and the site and will enhance the character of the neighborhood and community; 



Text Amendments Page 6

      3.   The architecture, character, and scale of the building and the site are compatible with 
the character of buildings on adjoining and nearby properties; 

      4.   The proposed project will not create conflicts with vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian 
transportation modes of circulation; and 

      5.   In the case of proposed alterations, additions, or demolitions to nonresidential buildings 
that are more than seventy five (75) years old: 

         a.   Alterations And Additions: The alteration or addition is compatible with the downtown 
revitalization plan. 

         b.   Demolitions: The applicant has demonstrated that the existing use cannot generate a 
reasonable rate of return; the existing building constitutes a hazard to public safety and is 
economically infeasible to rehabilitate, the design quality of the replacement building will be 
superior to the existing building and will be compatible with adjacent buildings and the character 
of downtown Lemoore, or the proposed demolition or removal is necessary to allow a project 
that will have public benefits outweighing the public benefits of retaining the existing building. 

   F.   Conditions Of Approval: The designated approving authority may impose conditions 
and/or require guarantees in order to ensure compliance with this title and to prevent adverse or 
detrimental impact to the surrounding neighborhood. (Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014) 

  



Text Amendments Page 7

9-4A-5: DESCRIPTION OF LAND USES: 

CHILD DAYCARE FACILITY: Facility that provides nonmedical care and supervision of minor 
children for periods of less than twenty four (24) hours for an individual child. These facilities 
include the following, all of which are required to be licensed by the State: 

      1.   Child Daycare Center: Commercial or nonprofit child daycare facility operated outside of 
a home, typically able to accommodate fifteen (15) or more children, including infant centers, 
preschools, sick child centers, daycare centers, and school age daycare facilities. These may 
be operated in conjunction with a school or church facility, apartment complex, or as an 
independent land use. Also includes employer sponsored childcare centers. 

      2.   Family Daycare Home, Large: A single-family residencehome that regularly provides 
daycare care, protection, and supervision while the parents or guardians are away for seven (7) 
to fourteen (14) children, inclusive, including children under the age of ten (10) years who reside 
at the home. This description is consistent with section 1596.78 of the Health and Safety Code. 

      3.   Family Daycare Home, Small: A single-family residencehome that regularly provides 
daycare care, protection, and supervision while the parents or guardians are away for six (6) 
eight (8) or fewer children, including children under the age of ten (10) years who reside at the 
home, or up to eight (8) children if the conditions of section 1597.44 of the Health and Safety 
Code are met. Per State law, these small family daycare uses may not be regulated differently 
than single-family dwellings. This description is consistent with section 1596.78 of the Health 
and Safety Code. 

DWELLING, ACCESSORY UNIT: An attached or detached dwelling unit which provides 
complete independent living facilities for one or more persons, with permanent provisions for 
living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation sited on the same parcel as the primary dwelling 
unit. This definition includes granny flats. 

DWELLING, ACCESSORY UNIT (ADU): An attached or a detached residential dwelling unit 
that provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons with permanent 
provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation. An accessory dwelling unit may 
be an efficiency unit, as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 17958.1, and a 
manufactured home, as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 18007. 

DWELLING, JUNIOR ACCESSORY UNIT (JADU): A dwelling unit that is no more than five 
hundred (500) square feet in size and contained entirely within a single-family residence that 
includes a separate entrance from the main entrance to the single-family residence, separate 
sanitation facilities, and an efficiency kitchen consisting of a cooking facility with appliances, a 
food preparation counter, and storage cabinets of reasonable size in relation to the size of the 
unit. 

SHORT-TERM RENTAL UNIT: Residential structure where all or a portion of the structure is 
rented for overnight lodging for a period of less than 30 days.  A short-term rental unit or site 
that provides a meal as part of its service is considered a bed and breakfast inn and is included 
under the definition of “bed and breakfast inn”.  



Te
xt
Am

en
dm

en
ts
Pa
ge

8

 TA
B

LE
 9

-4
B

-2
 

A
LL

O
W

ED
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 R

EQ
U

IR
ED

 E
N

TI
TL

EM
EN

TS
 F

O
R

 B
A

SE
 Z

O
N

IN
G

 D
IS

TR
IC

TS
 

  P 
= 

Pe
rm

itt
ed

 b
y 

rig
h t

 
  

N
 

= 
N

ot
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 
A

 
= 

A
dm

in
is

tra
tiv

e 
us

e 
pe

rm
it 

re
qu

ire
d 

  
C

 
= 

C
on

di
tio

na
l u

se
 p

er
m

it 
re

qu
ire

d 
  

La
nd

 U
se

/Z
on

in
g 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
R

es
id

en
tia

l Z
on

in
g 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
 

Sp
ec

ia
l P

ur
po

se
 Z

on
in

g 
D

is
tr

ic
ts

 
M

ix
ed

 U
se

 Z
on

in
g 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
 

O
ffi

ce
, C

om
m

er
ci

al
, A

nd
 In

du
st

ria
l 

Zo
ni

ng
 D

is
tr

ic
ts

 
A

R
 

R
VL

D
 

R
LD

 
R

N
 

R
LM

D
 

R
M

D
 

R
H

D
 

W
 

A
G

 
PR

 
C

F 
D

M
X- 1 

D
M

X- 2 
D

M
X- 3 

M
U

 
N

C
 

R
C

 
PO

 
M

L 
M

H
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l u

se
s:

 

C
ar

et
ak

er
 h

ou
si

ng
 

C
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

C
 

N
 

C
 

C
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

C
 

C
 

P 
P 

P 

C
hi

ld
 d

ay
ca

re
 fa

ci
lit

y 
- f

am
ily

 d
ay

ca
re

 h
om

e,
 

la
rg

e 
1  

N
 

A 
A 

A 
A 

A 
A 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

A 
A 

A 
A 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

C
hi

ld
 d

ay
ca

re
 fa

ci
lit

y 
- f

am
ily

 d
ay

ca
re

 h
om

e,
 

sm
al

l 
N

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

D
w

el
lin

g,
 m

ul
ti-

fa
m

ily
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

2  
P 

P 
P 

P 
27

 
N

 
C

 
N

 
N

 

D
w

el
lin

g,
 s

ec
on

d 
un

ita
cc

es
so

ry
 u

ni
t 3  

A 
A 

A 
A 

A 
A 

A 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
A 

A 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

D
w

el
lin

g,
 s

in
gl

e-
fa

m
ily

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
A 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

D
w

el
lin

g,
 tw

o-
fa

m
ily

 
N

 
N

 
A 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

D
w

el
lin

g,
 a

dd
iti

on
al

, m
ee

tin
g 

pr
ov

is
io

ns
 o

f 
G

ov
er

nm
en

t C
od

e 
Se

ct
io

n 
66

85
2.

21
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

Em
er

ge
nc

y 
sh

el
te

r 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

C
 

N
 

Em
pl

oy
ee

 h
ou

si
ng

, l
ar

ge
 

P 
C

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

Em
pl

oy
ee

 h
ou

si
ng

, s
m

al
l 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

G
at

ed
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
om

m
un

ity
 

C
 

C
 

C
 

C
 

C
 

C
 

C
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

G
ro

up
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
C

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

G
ue

st
ho

us
e 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

Li
ve

-w
or

k 
fa

ci
lit

y 
5  

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

A 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
A 

A 
A 

A 
A 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 



Te
xt
Am

en
dm

en
ts
Pa
ge

9

M
ar

iju
an

a 
pe

rs
on

al
 c

ul
tiv

at
io

n 
- p

er
so

na
l 

re
cr

ea
tio

na
l a

nd
 m

ed
ic

in
al

 u
se

 28
 

P 
28

 
P 

28
 

P 
28

 
P 

28
 

P 
28

 
P 

28
 

P 
28

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

M
ob

ile
ho

m
e 

pa
rk

 6  
N

 
C

 
C

 
C

 
C

 
A 

A 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

R
ec

re
at

io
na

l v
eh

ic
le

 p
ar

k 
24

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
C

 
N

 
C

 
N

 

R
es

id
en

tia
l c

ar
e 

fa
ci

lit
y 

25
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
A 

P 
C

 
C

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

R
es

id
en

tia
l c

ar
e 

ho
m

e 
N

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
C

 
P 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

Si
ng

le
 ro

om
 o

cc
up

an
cy

 (S
R

O
) f

ac
ilit

y 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

C
 

C
 

C
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

Su
pp

or
tiv

e 
ho

us
in

g 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

Tr
an

si
tio

na
l h

ou
si

ng
 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
P 

P 
P 

P 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 
N

 

R
et

ai
l, 

se
rv

ic
e,

 a
nd

 o
ffi

ce
 u

se
s:

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Sh
or

t-t
er

m
 re

nt
al

 u
ni

t 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

P 
P 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
 

N
ot

es
: 

   
1

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r l
ar

ge
 fa

m
ily

 d
ay

ca
re

 h
om

es
 in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-7
 o

f t
hi

s 
ch

ap
te

r. 

   
2.

   
O

nl
y 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

fir
st

 fl
oo

r w
he

n 
lo

ca
te

d 
al

on
g 

an
 a

lle
y 

or
 s

id
e 

st
re

et
; o

th
er

w
is

e 
m

us
t b

e 
on

 a
n 

up
pe

r f
lo

or
. 

   
3.

   
Se

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l r

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 fo

r s
ec

on
d 

ac
ce

ss
or

y 
dw

el
lin

g 
un

its
 in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-1
2 

of
 th

is
 c

ha
pt

er
. 

   
4.

   
R

es
er

ve
d.

 

   
5.

   
Se

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l r

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 fo

r l
iv

e-
w

or
k 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-8
 o

f t
hi

s 
ch

ap
te

r. 

   
6.

   
Se

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l r

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 fo

r m
ob

ile
ho

m
e 

pa
rk

s 
in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-1
0 

of
 th

is
 c

ha
pt

er
. 

   
7.

   
M

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
20

,0
00

 s
qu

ar
e 

fe
et

. 

   
8.

   
Al

l a
ct

iv
iti

es
 a

nd
 s

to
ra

ge
 s

ha
ll 

be
 lo

ca
te

d 
w

ith
in

 a
n 

en
cl

os
ed

 s
tru

ct
ur

e(
s)

. 

   
9.

   
Se

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l r

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 fo

r c
om

m
un

ity
 g

ar
de

ns
 in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-3
 o

f t
hi

s 
ch

ap
te

r. 

   
10

.  
 S

ee
 s

pe
ci

al
 p

er
m

it 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 in

 ti
tle

 3
, c

ha
pt

er
 4

, a
rti

cl
e 

C
 o

f t
he

 M
un

ic
ip

al
 C

od
e.

 

   
11

.  
 M

ax
im

um
 te

na
nt

 s
pa

ce
 s

ha
ll 

be
 1

0,
00

0 
sq

ua
re

 fe
et

. 

   
12

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r w
ire

le
ss

 te
le

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-1
5 

of
 th

is
 c

ha
pt

er
. 

   
13

.  
 F

ac
ilit

ie
s 

le
ss

 th
an

 7
5 

fe
et

 ta
ll 

ar
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 b
y 

rig
ht

, e
xc

ep
t t

ha
t m

aj
or

 s
ite

 p
la

n 
an

d 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

al
 re

vi
ew

 is
 s

til
l r

eq
ui

re
d.

 O
th

er
w

is
e,

 a
 

co
nd

iti
on

al
 u

se
 p

er
m

it 
is

 re
qu

ire
d 

in
 a

dd
iti

on
 to

 m
aj

or
 s

ite
 p

la
n 

an
d 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
al

 re
vi

ew
. 

   
14

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r a
lc

oh
ol

ic
 b

ev
er

ag
e 

sa
le

s 
in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-2
 o

f t
hi

s 
ch

ap
te

r. 

   
15

.  
 U

se
 is

 p
er

m
itt

ed
 b

y 
rig

ht
 w

he
n 

lo
ca

te
d 

on
 th

e 
gr

ou
nd

 fl
oo

r. 
O

th
er

w
is

e,
 a

 c
on

di
tio

na
l u

se
 p

er
m

it 
is

 re
qu

ire
d.

 

   
16

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r d
riv

e-
in

 a
nd

 d
riv

e-
th

ro
ug

h 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

in
 s

ec
tio

n 
9-

4D
-4

 o
f t

hi
s 

ch
ap

te
r. 

   
17

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r m
as

sa
ge

 th
er

ap
y 

in
 s

ec
tio

n 
9-

4D
-9

 o
f t

hi
s 

ch
ap

te
r. 

Ad
di

tio
na

lly
, s

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 p
er

m
it 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 in
 ti

tle
 4

, 
ch

ap
te

r 7
 o

f t
he

 M
un

ic
ip

al
 C

od
e.

 

   
18

.  
 M

ax
im

um
 te

na
nt

 s
pa

ce
 s

ha
ll 

be
 3

0,
00

0 
sq

ua
re

 fe
et

; h
ow

ev
er

, s
to

re
 s

iz
e 

m
ay

 b
e 

la
rg

er
 u

po
n 

ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f a

n 
ad

m
in

is
tra

tiv
e 

us
e 

pe
rm

it.
 

   
19

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r s
em

ip
er

m
an

en
t m

ob
ile

 fo
od

 v
en

do
rs

 in
 s

ec
tio

n 
9-

4D
-1

3 
of

 th
is

 c
ha

pt
er

. 

   
20

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r s
ex

ua
lly

 o
rie

nt
ed

 b
us

in
es

se
s 

in
 s

ec
tio

n 
9-

4D
-1

4 
of

 th
is

 c
ha

pt
er

. 

   
21

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r t
hr

ift
 s

to
re

s 
in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-1
6 

of
 th

is
 c

ha
pt

er
. 

   
22

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r f
ue

lin
g 

st
at

io
ns

 in
 s

ec
tio

n 
9-

4D
-6

 o
f t

hi
s 

ch
ap

te
r. 

   
23

.  
 U

se
 is

 p
er

m
itt

ed
 b

y 
rig

ht
 w

he
n 

lo
ca

te
d 

m
or

e 
th

an
 5

00
 fe

et
 fr

om
 a

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

se
 o

r d
is

tri
ct

. 

   
24

.  
 S

ee
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 fo

r r
ec

re
at

io
na

l v
eh

ic
le

 p
ar

ks
 in

 s
ec

tio
n 

9-
4D

-1
1 

of
 th

is
 c

ha
pt

er
. 

   
25

.  
 T

hi
s 

"s
en

si
tiv

e 
re

ce
pt

or
" u

se
 s

ha
ll 

no
t b

e 
lo

ca
te

d 
w

ith
in

: 

   
   

a.
   

50
0 

fe
et

 o
f a

 fr
ee

w
ay

, u
rb

an
 ro

ad
s 

ca
rry

in
g 

10
0,

00
0 

ve
hi

cl
es

 p
er

 d
ay

, o
r r

ur
al

 ro
ad

s 
ca

rry
in

g 
50

,0
00

 v
eh

ic
le

s 
pe

r d
ay

. 

   
   

b.
   

1,
00

0 
fe

et
 o

f a
 d

is
tri

bu
tio

n 
ce

nt
er

 (t
ha

t a
cc

om
m

od
at

es
 m

or
e 

th
an

 1
00

 tr
uc

ks
 a

 d
ay

, m
or

e 
th

an
 4

0 
tru

ck
s 

w
ith

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
tra

ns
po

rt 
re

fri
ge

ra
tio

n 
un

its
 [T

R
U

s]
 a

 d
ay

, o
r w

he
re

 T
R

U
 o

pe
ra

tio
n 

ex
ce

ed
s 

30
0 

ho
ur

s 
pe

r w
ee

k)
. 

   
   

c.
   

30
0 

fe
et

 o
f a

ny
 d

ry
 c

le
an

in
g 

op
er

at
io

n 
th

at
 u

se
s 

to
xi

c 
ch

em
ic

al
s.

 F
or

 o
pe

ra
tio

ns
 w

ith
 2

 o
r m

or
e 

m
ac

hi
ne

s,
 a

 m
in

im
um

 5
00

 fe
et

 s
ha

ll 
be

 
pr

ov
id

ed
. F

or
 o

pe
ra

tio
ns

 w
ith

 3
 o

r m
or

e 
m

ac
hi

ne
s,

 a
 la

rg
er

 d
is

ta
nc

e 
m

ay
 b

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
ba

se
d 

up
on

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n 

w
ith

 th
e 

Ki
ng

s 
C

ou
nt

y 
Ai

r D
is

tri
ct

. 

   
   

d.
   

30
0 

fe
et

 o
f a

 "l
ar

ge
 g

as
 s

ta
tio

n"
, d

ef
in

ed
 a

s 
a 

fa
ci

lit
y 

w
ith

 a
 th

ro
ug

hp
ut

 o
f 3

.6
 m

illi
on

 g
al

lo
ns

 o
r m

or
e 

pe
r y

ea
r. 

   
26

.  
 If

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 in

ci
de

nt
al

 to
 a

n 
ex

is
tin

g 
ch

ar
ita

bl
e 

op
er

at
io

n,
 th

is
 u

se
 is

 a
llo

w
ed

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 a

pp
ro

va
l o

f a
n 

ad
m

in
is

tra
tiv

e 
us

e 
pe

rm
it.

 

   
27

.  
 P

er
m

itt
ed

 o
n 

se
co

nd
 fl

oo
rs

 a
bo

ve
 re

ta
il 

an
d 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

 s
er

vi
ng

 o
ffi

ce
 w

he
n 

an
ci

lla
ry

 in
 s

iz
e 

an
d 

do
es

 n
ot

 in
te

rfe
re

 w
ith

 p
rim

ar
y 

re
ta

il 
us

e.
 

   
28

.  
 U

se
 is

 p
er

m
itt

ed
 a

s 
al

lo
w

ed
 b

y 
St

at
e 

la
w

 a
nd

 a
s 

au
th

or
iz

ed
 in

 ti
tle

 4
, c

ha
pt

er
 8

 o
f t

he
 M

un
ic

ip
al

 C
od

e.



Text Amendments Page 10

 

9-4D-12: ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS AND JUNIOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS: 

   A.   Purpose And Applicability: This section applies to accessory dwelling units within the City. 
Accessory dwelling units are permitted upon issuance of an administrative use permit in the 
agricultural and residential zoning districts subject to the standards of this section. The purpose 
of this section is to regulate accessory dwelling units in residential zoning districts and on 
residential property consistent with State law. Implementation of this section is intended to 
expand housing opportunities for low income and moderate income or elderly households by 
increasing the number of rental units available within existing neighborhoods while maintaining 
the primarily single-family residential character of the area. 

   B.   Development Standards: Pursuant to Government Code section 65852.2, accessory 
dwelling units shall be permitted on agricultural and residential parcels when the following 
conditions are met: 

      1.   The parcel contains an existing single-family dwelling. 

      2.   No more than one (1) accessory dwelling unit shall be allowed per parcel. 

      3.   The property owner shall occupy either the primary unit or accessory dwelling unit. The 
property owner shall record a declaration acknowledging owner occupancy, recorded with the 
property as a condition of the administrative permit. 

      4.   An accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed: 

         a.   Fifty percent (50%) of the existing living area of the primary dwelling when attached to 
the primary dwelling. For purpose of this standard, "living area" shall mean the interior habitable 
area of a dwelling unit, including basements, attics, bedrooms, kitchens, living room, etc. It does 
not include a garage or any accessory structure; or 

         b.   One thousand two hundred (1,200) square feet when detached from the primary 
dwelling. 

      5.   Building setbacks for attached accessory dwelling units shall comply with all required 
building setbacks for the primary dwelling unit. 

      6.   The maximum height of a detached accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed the height 
of the primary dwelling unit. 

      7.   No accessory dwelling unit may be sold separately from the primary dwelling unit. (Ord. 
2017-06, 5-16-2017) 

A.    Purpose and intent. This section is intended to meet the requirements of State law in 
providing for accessory dwelling units (“ADUs”) and junior accessory dwelling units (“JADUs”) 
as required by and in compliance with Government Code Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22, as 
either may be amended from time to time. The standards established by this section shall be 
interpreted and applied consistent with the standards set forth in Government Code 
Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22. To the extent there is a conflict between the provisions of this 
section and the provisions of either Government Code Section 65852.2 or 65852.22, including 
as either may be amended, the applicable provision(s) of Government Code 
Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22 shall apply. The requirements and exceptions specified in 



Text Amendments Page 11

Government Code Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22 shall apply to the construction of ADUs and 
JADUs pursuant to this section. 

This section is not intended to regulate multigenerational dwelling units, which are dwelling units 
that do not include a kitchen, contained entirely within the walls of a proposed or existing single-
family residence where access is not restricted between areas of the residence. 

B.    Determinations. ADUs and JADUs are residential uses. ADUs and JADUs that comply with 
this section are considered accessory uses and accessory buildings and therefore do not 
exceed the allowable density for the lots upon which ADUs and JADUs are located. ADUs and 
JADUs that comply with this section are considered to be consistent with the general plan and 
zoning designations for the lot. ADUs and JADUs, and the availability to construct ADUs and 
JADUs, will be counted for purposes of identifying adequate sites for housing in the City’s 
housing element, as provided in Government Code Section 65583.1(a), and to reduce the City’s 
share of the regional housing need, as provided in Government Code Section 65583.1(d). 

C.    Designated areas. ADUs and JADUs are allowed in all residential zoning districts, including 
mixed-use zones where residential uses are permitted. ADUs and JADUs are not permitted in 
nonresidential zoning districts where residential uses are not allowed. 

D.    Development standards. ADUs may be constructed on single-family and multifamily lots 
with a proposed or existing dwelling. ADUs may be attached, detached, or located within 
existing primary residences, or accessory structures. JADUs shall only be allowed on lots zoned 
for single-family residential use, and which are contained within a proposed or existing single-
family dwelling. 

E.     ADUs and JADUs are subject to the normal requirements of the zoning district where the 
ADU and/or JADU will be constructed. Unless otherwise stated in this section, the requirements 
and standards of this Title that apply to the lot and the primary dwelling shall apply to any ADU 
and/or JADU, including parking, height, setback, floor area ratio, open space, and landscaping. 
All Fire and Building Code requirements that apply to detached dwellings and accessory 
structures generally shall apply to ADUs and JADUs. 

1.    Number of units. One ADU and one JADU are allowed per single-family residential lot. 
Lots with existing multifamily dwellings may construct up to two (2) detached ADUs, or 
ADUs up to twenty-five (25) percent of the number of existing multifamily dwelling units in 
nonlivable space (e.g., storage rooms, boiler rooms, passageways, attics, basements, or 
garages). 

2.    Unit size. Detached ADUs may have a total floor area of 1,200 square feet or less. 
ADUs attached to an existing primary dwelling may have a total floor area of fifty (50) 
percent or less of the area of the existing primary dwelling or 1,200 square feet, whichever 
is greater. ADUs and JADUs shall be at least 220 square feet. JADUs may not be more 
than 500 square feet in size. 

3.    Setbacks. A setback of four (4) feet from the side and rear lot lines is required for an 
ADU, unless the ADU is constructed within an existing primary dwelling or permitted 
accessory structure, or in the same location and to the same dimensions as an existing 
permitted accessory structure. 

4.    Building standards. 



Text Amendments Page 12

a.    ADUs and JADUs shall not exceed a single story and 16 feet in height, unless 
constructed above an attached or detached garage, in which case the ADU/JADU 
shall not exceed the height limit of the applicable zoning district. 

b.    ADUs and JADUs must be architecturally compatible with the primary dwelling, 
having similar materials, colors, and style of construction. The design and size of 
ADUs and JADUs shall conform to all applicable standards of the building, health, 
and other codes adopted by the City. 

c.    Attached ADUs and JADUs shall be compatible with and made structurally a part 
of the primary dwelling (e.g., share a common wall with the primary dwelling, rely 
partially on the primary dwelling for structural support, or be attached to the primary 
dwelling). 

d.    Adequate provisions shall be made for the water and sewer service and drainage 
generated by the occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit as determined by the City 
Engineer. The ADU/JADU can either have shared or separate services for electric, 
gas, sewer, and water. 

e.    There shall be at least one (1) parking space per ADU, except as allowed by 
Government Code Section 65852.2. Additional parking is not required for JADUs. 

f.    Fire sprinklers are required for ADUs/JADUs if fire sprinklers are required for the 
primary residence. 

5.    Exception. All of the standards provided in this section may be relaxed or waived in 
order to allow construction of an attached or detached ADU that is at least 800 square feet 
and 16 feet in height with four-foot side and rear yard setbacks; provided, that the ADU is 
constructed in compliance with all Fire and Building Code requirements and applicable 
standards of the Development Code necessary to protect the public health and safety. 

F.    Connection, impact, and other fees. 

1.    Except as provided in Government Code Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22, ADUs and 
JADUs are subject to all fees and assessments required by the Lemoore Municipal Code 
for new residential construction, including connection fees, capacity charges, and impact 
fees. 

2.    An inspection fee shall be assessed for any inspection to determine if an ADU or 
JADU complies with applicable building standards. 

G.    Occupancy and ownership. 

1.    A certificate of occupancy shall be issued for the primary dwelling unit before a 
certificate of occupancy is issued for an ADU or JADU on the lot. 

2.    An ADU or JADU may be rented separate from the primary residence but may not be 
sold or otherwise conveyed separate from the primary residence. Rentals of ADUs and/or 
JADUs for less than thirty (30) days must comply with the requirements for short-term 
rentals units. 

3.    Owner-occupancy is not required for ADUs. Owner-occupancy is required for a single-
family residence with a JADU. The owner may reside in either the single-family residence 
or the newly created JADU. Owner-occupancy is not required if the owner is a 
governmental agency, land trust, or housing organization. 



Text Amendments Page 13

4.    A JADU may not be sold separate from the sale of the single-family residence. A deed 
restriction prohibiting the sale and restricting the size and attributes of the JADU, as 
provided by Government Code Section 65852.22, is also required. 

H.    Permit approval. A permit must be obtained for the construction or installation of an ADU or 
JADU. An application, together with the required fee in compliance with the City’s fee schedule, 
shall be filed with the Department and accompanied by detailed and fully dimensioned plans, 
architectural drawings/sketches, elevations, floor plans, landscape plans, and/or any other 
data/materials identified in the Department handout for ADU/JADU applications. Following 
receipt of a completed application, the Director shall make an investigation of the facts bearing 
on the case to determine compliance with this section and ministerially approve a compliant 
application in accordance with (Gov. Code, 35852.2 subd. (a)(3) and (b).. 

If the permit application to create an ADU or a JADU is submitted with a permit application to 
create a new single-family dwelling on the lot, the City may delay acting on the permit 
application for the ADU or the JADU until the City acts on the permit application to create the 
new single-family dwelling. The applicant may request a delay in the time available for the City 
to act on the application, as provided by State law. 

I.    Cottage home program standards. This section provides locational and general standards 
for the cottage home program which is allowed in the applicable residential areas, subject to the 
following criteria and standards. This subsection does not supplant the remainder of this section 
for ADU and JADU construction. 

1.    Cottage home. A cottage home is a type of ADU made available by the City and 
constructed in compliance with this subsection. A cottage home shall count towards the 
limit on the number of ADUs permitted on a single lot. 

2.    Zone districts. A cottage home is allowed in zones that allow an ADU. 

3.    Application procedures. Applications for the cottage home program shall be filed with 
the Community Development Department. 

4.    Developmental standards. A cottage home shall be constructed in compliance with 
the following developmental standards: 

a.    Only one cottage home unit shall be created on a single-family parcel. 

b.    The cottage home shall be built using plans provided by the City. 

c.    Adequate provisions shall be made for the water and sewer service and drainage 
generated by the occupancy of the cottage home unit as determined by the City 
Engineer. The cottage home can have either shared or separate services for electric, 
gas, sewer, and water. 

J. Tiny house standards. A tiny house may be approved for use as an accessory dwelling 
unit if the following requirements are met: 

1. The tiny house meets all the requirements for an accessory dwelling unit. 

2. The tiny house has at least 100 square feet of first floor interior living space and 
includes basic functional areas that support normal daily routines such as cooking, 
sleeping, and toiletry. 

3. The tiny house is designed and built to look like a conventional building structure. 



Text Amendments Page 14

4. The tiny house is licensed and registered with the California Department of Motor 
Vehicles and meets ANSI 119.2 or 119.5 requirements. 

5. The tiny house Is towable by a bumper hitch, frame-towing hitch, or fifth-wheel 
connection and cannot (nor is it designed to) move under its own power. 

6. The tiny house is no larger than allowed by California State Law for movement on 
public highways. 

7. No mechanical equipment is located on the roof of the movable tiny house. 

8. When sited on a lot for more than 72 hours at a location visible from the public 
street, the tiny house shall have skirting that covers the wheels and undercarriage and 
that extends to ground level. 

9. When sited on a lot for more than 72 hours, water and sewer connections shall be 
made permanent prior to occupancy. Shut-off valves, meters, and regulators shall not be 
located beneath the tiny house. 

  



Text Amendments Page 15

 

TABLE 9-5A-4A 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

Measurement/Zoning 
District 

Residential Zoning Districts 
AR RVLD RLD RN RLMD RMD RHD 

Site area per dwelling 
unit, minimum (square 
feet) 

No 
minimum 

15,000 6,000 
5,000 

3,000 3,000 2,500 1,700 

Lot dimensions:               
Lot size, minimum 
(square feet) 

40,000 15,000 
10,000 

7,000 
5,000 

3,000 3,000 2,000 2,000 

Lot size, maximum 
(square feet) 

No 
maximum 

40,000 15,00
0 

7,000 7,000 5,000 1 No 
maximum 

Lot width, minimum 10 150' 150'10
0’ 

60'50’ 50' 60' 60' 60' 

Lot depth, minimum 200' 150' 100' 90' 90' 80' 80' 
Setbacks, minimum:               
Front yard:               

Generally 2,12 60' 40' 25’ 18' 15’ 15' 20'15’ 20'15’ 20'15’ 
To garage, front 
facing 

- - 20' 20' 20' 20' 20' 

To garage, side load - - 15' - - - - 
To porch - - 12' 12' 12' 12' - 

Side yard:               
Interior side 15' 10' 5' 4 5' 4 5' 10' 10' 
Street side 12 25' 15' 15'10’ 15'10’ 15'10’ 15' 15' 
Combined both sides - - 10' 10' 10' - - 

Rear yard:               
Generally 10' 4 10' 4 10' 4 10' 4 10' 10' 10' 
To detached alley 
loaded garage 

5' 5' 5' 0' 0' 0' 0' 

Abutting a street 11 20' 20' 20' 20' 20' - - 
Separation between 
buildings, minimum 7 

10' 10' 10' 10' 10' 10' 10' 

Height, maximum 40' 40' 35' 35' 35' 45' 60' 
Notes: 

   1.   Reserved. Larger lot sizes may be permitted through site plan and architectural review for condominiums, 
townhomes, and similar attached developments. 

   2.   Reserved. For single-family residential subdivisions, the front yard setback of adjacent homes shall have a 
minimum 2 foot stagger between adjacent lots. Reduced setbacks may be approved as part of a planned unit 
development overlay zoning district or master home plan approval as a way to provide varied setbacks. 



Text Amendments Page 16

   3.   For every 1 foot in additional height, an additional 1 foot in setback is required. 

   4.   Additional 5 feet is required for each additional story. 

   5.   Required setback is 10 feet when adjacent to any residential zoning district. 

   6.   Required setback is 15 feet when adjacent to any residential or mixed use zoning district. 

   7.   Separation requirements apply to buildings on the same site as well as separation between buildings on 
adjacent parcels. 

   8.   Also see subsection 9-5D1-2E, "Special Landscape Requirements", of this chapter for corresponding minimum 
landscaping and pervious surface requirements. 

   9.   Additional building height may be allowed through site plan and architectural review when additional height is 
necessary for mechanical equipment as part of an industrial operation. 

   10.   For flag lots, the minimum width for the access corridor shall be 10 feet. The lot width shall be measured from 
the front property line as described in section 9-5A-3, "Setback Determination And Requirements", of this article. 

   11.   See section 9-5B-7, "Urban-Rural Edge", of this chapter. 

   12.   15 foot landscape buffer required along arterial and collector streets in addition to minimum setback. These 2 
standards are not cumulative and may overlap. See subsection 9-5D1-2E2, "Landscape Buffers Required Along 
Arterial And Collector Streets", of this chapter. 

(Ord. 2013-05, 2-6-2014; amd. Ord. 2015-08, 1-5-2016) 

  

9-5C-3: DESIGN STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL PROJECTS: 
The standards contained in this section shall apply to new residential development, including 
single-family residential subdivisions, master home plans, and multi-family residential 
developments. These standards are intended to implement the design concepts described 
above. 

      2.   Building Placement And Orientation: Create diverse residential streetscapes that 
facilitate interaction between residents and include homes and residential structures that orient 
to the street. 

         a.   For single-family residential subdivisions, the front yard setback of adjacent homes 
shall have a minimum two foot (2') stagger between adjacent lots. 

         ba.   Multi-unit residential buildings (e.g., townhomes, condominiums, apartments) shall be 
designed with different building setbacks and facade variations when multiple buildings are 
provided. 

         cb.   Orient home and building sites to take advantage of solar heating and opportunities 
for solar energy generation. 

         dc.   Residential development adjacent to open space/parks and other public spaces shall 
maintain visual access from residential units and common buildings to provide "eyes on the 
street" surveillance opportunities. 

         ed.   Buildings shall be designed with structural and spatial variety along the front facades 
to avoid monotonous appearance.


